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12. Counsel was not ineffective for allegedly failing to investigate as a whole.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective because he failed to adequately
investigate certain issues that Defendant allegedly raised with counsel prior to trial. Petition at
37-42. First, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and solely
relied on the State’s version of events. Id. Second, Defendant reﬁsserts his earlier claim that
counsel was ineffective for failing to acquire phone bills that proved that the cellphones located
in his home belonged to his girlfriend and other family members. Id. Third, Defendant claims
he was prejudiced when counsel failed to get a copy of an alleged email that was sent to
detectives describing the gray Dodge Charger. Id. Fourth, Defendant claims counsel was
ineffective for not talking to a witness who allegedly saw Detective Abell “snooping around”
Defendant’s apartment prior to Defendant’s arrest. Id. Fifth, Defendant, for a third time, claims
counsel as ineffective for not retesting the State’s DNA evidence. Id. Sixth counsel was
ineffective for failing to pre-trial any of the alleged victims. Id. Seventh, counsel was
ineffective for not hiring a foot impression expert to rebut the State’s expert. Id. Eighth,
counsel was ineffective for not “putting on a proper defense.” Id. All of Defendant’s claims
are meritless as he fails to demonstrate his counsel’s performance was deficient and resulted
in prejudice.

A defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately

‘investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable

outcome probable. Molina, 120 Nev. at 192, 87 P.3d at 538. Here, Defendant’s first and eighth
claims are dismissed under Hargrove because they are belied by the record. Defendant
overlooks the fact that counsel delivered a thorough opening statement where he methodically
attacked the State’s theory of the case and evidence. See Trial Transcript, Day 4, at 25-31.
Indeed, during his opening counsel emphasized that there were no eyewitnesses that could
identify Defendant as the perpetrator. Id. at 26. Moreover, the record reveals that during
closing argument counsel attempted to stir reasonable doubt in the minds of the jury and
continued to reject the State’s theory of the case. Trial Transcript, Day 12, at 108-128. As

demonstrated by the record, to argue that counsel simply accepted the State’s theory of the
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case or that he failed to present a “proper defense” is disingenuous. Therefore, Defendant’s
claims are denied.

With respect to his second claim, under Molina Defendant bears the burden of showing
how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable outcome. As discussed supra,
it is unclear what further investigation regarding the cellphones would have revealed. Again,
Defendant assumes that if counsel had contacted the cellphone companies they would have
provided counsel with ownership information regarding the various cellphones. Defendant
does not even provide this Court with documentation that counsel could have deduced
ownership over the cellphones by simply subpoenaing “phone bills.” Therefore, he fails to
show that a more favorable outcome would have been probable and his argument is a bare and

naked assertion that is denied under Hargrove and Molina.

Regarding the third claim, Defendant fails to satisfy his burden as he has not provided
this Court with a copy of what Defendant describes in his Petition as an “alleged email.”
Petition at 37. Defendant does not show that this “alleged email” would have been admissible

as evidence nor does he demonstrate that had the email been admitted it would have assisted

in rendering a more favorable outcome for Defendant at trial. Molina, 120 Nev. at 192, 87 P.3d
at 538, Therefore, his claim is denied.

Defendant’s fourth claim also fails. Defendant asserts, without presenting any evidence,
that Detective Abell was “snooping around” his apartment and that had counsel investigated
there would have been a witness to testify as such. Petition at 40. Defendant further avers that
such witness would have discredited the detective’s testimony and shown to the jury that the
detectives were “fabricating evidence.” Id. Again, Defendant bears the burden of showing how
this witness would have led to a more favorable outcome at trial. However, this is a bare and
naked assertion. For example, Defendant does not provide a sworn affidavit from such witness
or any supporting evidence to prove that the detectives fabricated evidence. As such, this claim

denied under Hargrove and Molina.

Defendant’s fifth and seventh claims also lack merit. This is particularly true because,

as addressed supra, counsel filed a motion to retest the DNA and it was retested. Due to

23

- 888



O oo ~1 & R W e

[ T N T NG TR N T N TR N TR % TR N B N T e S e e N T e e e e e
[o T L o N U L N T S =T - Y - - B Y « N, B S . =)

counsel’s efforts the DNA results came back as inconclusive rather than a “positive partial”
match. Therefore, it is unclear that retesting the DNA for a third time could have yielded a
more favorable result for Defendant. Similarly, Defendant argues that counsel should have
hired a foot impression expert, however, Defendant provides no analysis as to what exactly a
private expert would have testified to.* Therefore, Defendant’s claims are denied as he fails to
satisfy his burden under Molina.

Regarding, Defendant’s sixth claim, Defendant provides no evidence to support his
claim that counsel never pre-trialed any witnesses. Defendant appears to argue that counsel
simply “sat down” during Jamie Schoebel’s (“Jaime™) testimony and did not cross-examine
her in an effort to impeach her credibility, Petition at 41-42. However, this is belied by the
record. The record demonstrates that counsel did cross-examine her about her prior grand jury
testimony. Contrary to Defendant’s bare and naked assertion counsel was able to get Jaime to
admit that she had inconsistently testified between the grand jury and trial. Trial Transcript,
Day 4, at 85-86. Therefore, because Defendant’s claim is predicated on bare and naked
assertions that are repelled by the record, his claim fails under Hargrove. Overall, Defendant
fails to demonstrate his counsel’s performance was deficient or resulting prejudice. Moreover,
Defendant fails to satisfy burden under Molina. Accordingly, this Court denies all of
Defendant’s claims in their entirety.

13. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to impeach the DNA expert with an email
she sent to Detective Abell.

Next, Defendant argues counsel was ineffective because he should have impeached the

- DNA expert with an email in which she stated that she could not find “anything linking the

car to a Robbery or the items recovered from the car to the robbery.” Petition at 69-70; Petition

41t is likely that counsel made a strategic decision not to hire a foot impression expert. This is
supported by the fact that the record demonstrates that counsel spent a considerable amount of
time cross-examining the State’s forensic examiner of footwear and tire evidence, Mr.
Gilkerson. Trial Transcript, Day 8, at 136-156; See Doyle, 116 Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473
(reasoning that “[clounsel’s strategy decisions are not subject to challenge absent
extraordinary circumstances.”).
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Exhibit 8. Defendant concludes by arguing that if the jury had seen this email they would have
concluded that Detective Abell influenced the DNA expert’s report. Id.

Here, Defendant reasserts the issue regarding DNA and their corresponding reports. As
discussed supra, counsel was not ineffective regarding the DNA reports. Counsel’s strategy
was a reasonably objective one as he filed a motion to retest the DNA. The retested DNA
rendered a favorable result for Defendant as it came back inconclusive, Therefore, counsel
strategically decided that admitting the two conflicting DNA reports would have value because
the jury could determine if the State’s DNA evidence was reliable. As such, absent an
extraordinary circumstance, counsel’s strategic decisions are not subject to challenge. Doyle,
116 Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473. Assuming, arguendo, that counsel was deficient because he
failed to impeach the detective with this email, Defendant fails to show that “but for” counsel’s
error there is a reasonable probability that the result of trial would have been different.
McNelton, 15 Nev. at 403, 990 P.2d at 1268. Defendant cannot bear his burden of
demonstrating prejudice under Strickland. Riley, 110 Nev. at 646, 878 P.2d at 278 (reasoning

that defendants carry the “affirmative burden of establishing prejudice.”). Defendant provides
no evidence that had the jury considered this email the outcome at trial would have been
different. This is particularly true considering that there was a significant amount of evidence
tying Defendant to the robberies. In fact, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed all, but three, of
Defendant’s convictions on a sufficiency of the evidence claim on direct appeal. See Hobson
v. State, Docket No. 71419 (Order of Affirmance, June 1, 2018). Therefore, Defendant’s claim
is denied.

14. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object jury instruction 43.

Lastly, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to jury
instruction 43 which addressed the corroboration of accomplice testimony. Petition at 71-73.
Defendant’s argument lacks merit.

Here, Defendant fails to present a cogent argument as to how counsel should have
challenged the jury instruction. Additionally, jury instruction 43 is a standard instruction.

Therefore, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to lodge a futile objection to such
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instruction. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. As such, Defendant’s claim is denied.

III. THE COURT FINDS THAT DEFENDANT’S REMAINING CLAIMS ARE
IMPROPERLY RAISED IN A POST-CONVICTION PETITION FOR WRIT
OF HABEAS CORPUS AND/OR BARRED BY THE LAW OF THE CASE

In addition to the ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised above, Defendant
improperly raises the following claims in his Petition: (1) the district court abused its discretion
by allowing hearsay; (2) the district court abused its discretion when it allowed trial to
commence without Detective Flynn and Detective Turner available to testify; (3) that the
district court erred in denying Defendant’s pre-trial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus; (5)
that the district couﬁ abused its discretion in denying Defendant’s proposed jury instructions;
(6) that the district court abused its discretion in denying Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss
during trial; (7) that there was prosecutorial misconduct; (8) that there was a Brady violation
with respect to cash seized from Defendant’s home; (9) that there was prosecutorial
misconduct in not giving the Grand Jury a kidnappiﬁg instruction; and (10) that the State used
all of the DNA evidence during testing and fabricated a DNA report.

The Court finds that Defendant’s remaining claims, one-ten, are waived because

Defendant failed to raise them on direct appeal. NRS 34.810(1) reads:

The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that:

(a) The petitioner’s conviction was upon a plea of guilty or guilty
but mentally ill and the petition is not based upon an allegation
that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly or that the plea was
entered without effective assistance of counsel.

(b) The petitioner’s conviction was the result of a trial and the
grounds for the petition could have been:

(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas
corpus or postconviction relief,

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that “challenges to the validity of a guilty piea and claims
of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must first be pursued in post-conviction
proceedings.... [A]ll other claims that are appropriate for a direct appeal must be pursued on
direct appeal, or they will be considered waived in subsequent proceedings.” Franklin v. State,

110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (emphasis added) (disapproved on other
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grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). “A court must dismiss a

habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier
proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for
raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner.” Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-
47,29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001). Defendant cannot establish good cause because the facts and law
were available for his direct appeal. Additionally, he cannot establish prejudice to ignore his
procedural default because the underlying claims are meritless. Defendant’s claims are nothing
more than naked assertions under Hargrove. He has done nothing to demonstrate that he could
not pursue any particular claim on direct appeal because of a deficient record.

IV. DEFENDANT REQUEST FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING IS

DENIED

NRS 34.770 determines when a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. It reads:

1. The judge or justice, upon review of the return, answer and all
supporting documents which are filed, shall determine whether an
evidentiary hearing is required. A petitioner must not be
discharged or committed to the custody of a person other than the
respondent unless an evidentiary hearing is held.

2. If the judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not
entitled to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required, he shall
dismiss the petition without a hearing. »

3. Ifthe judge or justice determines that an evidentiary hearing is
required, he shall grant the writ and shall set a date for the hearing.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that if a petition can be resolved without
expanding the record, then no evidentiary hearing is necessary. Marshall v, State, 110 Nev.
1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994); Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 1231 (2002). A

defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his petition is supported by specific factual

allegations, which, if true, would entitle him to relief unless the factual allegations are repelled

by the record. Marshall, 110 Nev. at 1331, 885 P.2d at 605; see also Hargrove, 100 Nev. at

503, 686 P.2d at 225 (holding that “[a] defendant seeking post-conviction relief is not entitled
to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or repelled by the record™). “A claim is

‘belied’ when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it existed at the time the
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claim was made.” Mann, 118 Nev. at 354, 46 P.3d at 1230 (2002). It is improper to hold an
cvidentiary hearing simply to make a complete record. See State v. Eighth Judicial Dist.

Court, 121 Nev. 2235, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005) (“The district court considered itself

the ‘equivalent of . . . the trial judge’ and consequently wanted ‘to make as complete a record
as possible.’ This. is an incorrect basis for an evidentiary hearing.”).

Further, the United States Supreme Court has held that an evidentiary hearing is not
required simply because counsel’s actions are challenged as being unreasonable strategic

decisions. Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788 (2011). Although courts may not indulge

post hoc rationalization for counsel’s decision making that contradicts the available evidence
of counsel’s actions, neither may they insist counsel confirm every aspect of the strategic basis
for his or her actions. Id. There is a “strong presumption” that counsel’s attention to certain
issues to the exclusion of others reflects trial tactics rather than “sheer

neglect.” Id. (citing Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 124 S. Ct. 1 (2003)). Strickland calls

for an inquiry in the objective reasonableness of counsel’s performance, not counsel’s

subjective state of mind. 466 U.S. at 688, 104 5. Ct. at 2065.

Here, trial counsel was not ineffective. Moreover, Defendant’s ineffective assistance of
counsel claimé are not complex. Regarding Defendant’s other claims, most of them are
improperly raised in his Petition because such claims were either previously considered on
direct appeal or were waived. Therefore, there is no need to expand the record and Defendant’s
request for an evidentiary is hereby denied.
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ORDER
THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant’s Petition for Post-

Convcition Relief shall be, and it is, hereby denied.

DATED this day of March, 2019.
e
DISTRICT JUDGE ¢
STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney 7
Nevada Bar #001565
BY L ‘

CAL THOMAN _.J

Chief Deputr-Disirict Attorney

Nevada Bar #12649

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this ez "%ay of
Z) }M , 2019, by depositing a copy in the U.S. Mail, postage pre-paid, addressed to:

TONY HOBSON, 1165963
S.D.C.C,

PO BOX 208

INDIAN SPRINGS, NV 89070

BY é&diﬂ&/ﬂﬂ—*

E. DEL PADRE
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office

ed/GCU
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A-18-784448-W

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Writ of Habeas Corpus COURT MINUTES February 25, 2019
A-18-784448-W Tony Hobson, Plaintiff(s)
VS.

State of Nevada, Defendant(s)

February 25, 2019 8:30 AM Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus

HEARD BY: Kephart, William D. COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 16B

COURT CLERK: Tia Everett
Shannon Emmons

RECORDER: Christine Erickson
REPORTER:

PARTIES
PRESENT:

JOURNAL ENTRIES
- Court noted, Defendant is not present and in the custody of the Nevada Department of Corrections.

Court noted Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to object or
ask for mistrial during trial on issue about receipts. COURT FINDS, the claim is suitable for summary
denial as Defendant has failed to provide any facts and/or support the claim.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to raise
NRS175.2910 in a pre trial petition regarding Codefendant testimony. COURT FINDS, the claim is
belied by the record and claim is insufficient to warrant any relief.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to raise
perjury of Detective Abell during his testimony. COURT FINDS, Defendant provides no evidence to
support his assertion; therefore this is a bear naked claim.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to object to
the DNA report. COURT FINDS, this was a strategic move by defense counsel as Defense counsel

PRINT DATE:  04/25/2019 Page1 of 3 Minutes Date:  February 25, 2019
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A-18-784448-W

requested the results be retested.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to object to
the admission of photographs. COURT FINDS, defendant fails to state how any better investigation
would have resulted in a more favorable outcome in this matter therefore Defendant fails to state a
basis for objection and the likelihood of its success.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to
independently test DNA evidence. COURT FINDS, Defense counsel was successful on a pre trial
motion to have the DNA re-tested which did show conflicting information with the previous test to
Defendant s benefit; however, counsel made a strategic decision not to have the DNA re-tested which
was a reasonable decision.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to
subpoena all alleged victims. COURT FINDS, Defendant has failed to provide any information was to
what he would anticipate to get for the alleged victims, how they would support his defense and/or
his allegations; there fore this is a bare naked claim.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to
subpoena the JAG officer. COURT FINDS, Mr. Johns was subject to cross examination and the issue
was sufficiently covered.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to raise the
confrontational clause. COURT FINDS, fails to provide any information to support the claim and is
summarily denied.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed, to
subpoena Detective Flynn. COURT FINDS, defendant has failed to provide any information to
support the claim.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to call
Officer Mohler. COURT FINDS, this claim is meritless and belied by the record; Defense counsel
made a strategic decision as the blue bag in question was found by a different officer.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to
investigate. COURT FINDS, this claim is meritless as Defendant fails to demonstrate how counsel s
performance was deficient and would result in any prejudice to Defendant.

Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to impeach
State s DNA expert sent to Detective Abell. COURT FINDS, Defendant fails to show but for counsel s
error there was a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been difference.
Further Defendant was unable to overcome any claims of indufficency of evidence brought on direct
appeal.
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Court noted, Defendant is claiming ineffective counsel on the grounds that counsel failed to object to
Jury Instruction number 43. COURT FINDS, Defendant fails put forth any argument on how counsel
should have challenged the jury instruction; jury instruction was a proper instruction and any
objection would have been futile.

COURT FINDS, Defendants remaining claims are denied as they are improperly raised and barred by
law of the case.

COURT ORDERED, Defendant s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus shall be DENIED; state to
prepare the order.
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Certification of Copy and
Transmittal of Record

State of Nevada SS
County of Clark } .

Pursuant to the Supreme Court order dated April 17, 2019, I, Steven D. Grierson, the Clerk of the Court
of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, State of Nevada, do hereby certify that the foregoing
is a true, full and correct copy of the complete trial court record for the case referenced below. The record
comprises four volumes with pages numbered 1 through 902.

TONY HOBSON,
Plaintiff(s), Case No: A-18-784448-W
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Vvs.

STATE OF NEVADA; WARDEN JERRY
HOWELL,
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now on file and of record in this office.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto
Set my hand and Affixed the seal of the
Court at my office, Las Vegas, Nevada

This 25 day of April 2019.

Steven D. Grierson, Clerk of the Court

%Mk

Heather Ungermann, Deputy Clerk
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HEARING (CONTINUATION)

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT
CERTIFICATION OF COPY AND TRANSMITTAL OF RECORD
DISTRICT COURT MINUTES

EX PARTE PLEADING (TO BE FILED UNDER SEAL) MOTION
REQUESTING FUNDING FOR APPOINTMENT OF
INVESTIGATOR (CONFIDENTIAL)

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER

MOTION AND ORDER FOR TRANSPORTATION OF INMATE
FOR COURT APPEARANCE OR. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR
APPEARANCE BY TELEPHONE OR VIDEO CONFERENCE

MOTION FOR JUDICIAL ACTION ON PETITION
MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS
OF LAW AND ORDER

OPPOSITION TO STATES RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT /
PETITIONER'S POST CONVICTION PETITION FOR WRIT OF
HABEAS CORPUS

ORDER FOR PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-

1

PAGE
NUMBER :

895 - 897

508 - 720

721 - 835

898 - 899

900 - 902

311 - 316

836 - 864

340 - 347

377 - 382
307 - 310

865 - 894

383 -423

334 -334

295 - 306



A-18-784448-W

VOL

DATE

11/13/2018

11/13/2018

01/25/2019

12/11/72018

02/21/2019

02/21/2019

11/13/2018

Tony Hobson, Plaintiff(s)
vs.
State of Nevada, Defendant(s)

I NDEJX

PLEADING

CONVICTION); EX PARTE PLEADING (TO FILED
UNDERSEAL) (CONFIDENTIAL)

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-
CONVICTION); PETITIONER REQUEST EVIDENTIARY
HEARING (CONTINUED)

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-
CONVICTION); PETITIONER REQUEST EVIDENTIARY
HEARING (CONTINUATION)

STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S POST-CONVICTION
PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

STATUS CHECK FOR PENDING MOTIONS (MOTION TO STAY,

MOTION FOR FUNDING FOR INVESTIGATOR, SUBPOENA'S)
EX PARTE MOTIONS

UNFILED DOCUMENT(S) - INMATE CORRESPONDENCE
W/COPIES OF UNFILED SUBPOENAS - CIVIL (UNABLE TO
PROCESS: RETURN LETTER, MISSING SIGNATURE)
(CONTINUED)

UNFILED DOCUMENT(S) - INMATE CORRESPONDENCE
W/COPIES OF UNFILED SUBPOENAS - CIVIL (UNABLE TO
PROCESS: RETURN LETTER, MISSING SIGNATURE)
(CONTINUATION)

UNFILED DOCUMENT(S) - UNISSUED SUBPOENA - CIVIL
DUCES TECUM (CONFIDENTIAL)

PAGE
NUMBER :

1-240

241 - 294

348 - 376

335-339

424 - 480

481 - 507

317-333



Emplayet/School
Hair Length
Comglexion
Appearance
Speech manner
DLN

Resident

Habituat Offender Status
Primary Means of AtlackMWezpon
Employer/School

Scars, Marks and Tattcos
Addrosses

Phones

Domastic Violence Information
TPQ in Effect

Injury Severily

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: #2, Unknown Suspect

Dccupation/Grada

Hair Style Eyes
Facial hair Geatas Teeth
mjury/Candition
Speech Characternslics
DL State DL Country
Tourist Deparure Place of Bith
Suspect Armed
MO Factors Suspsct Wore Gloves
Wore Mask
Firearm - Automatic Bluo Stee!
(Type Not Stated) Wespon Feslures 5 iomatic

Occupation/Grada

Drugi/Aicohol Invetvemens
Medical Attention
Suspect Demeanor

Voluntary Stalemen:
DV Info provided

wiritlen Stmt. Alerts Non-English Language
Aliases
Montkor
Scope ID pos Age  20-26 SSN :
Race Black or African American Build Medium Handedness Right
Sex Male Height 6°1* Weight 185 Hair Color Black Eye Colar Brown
Employer/Scheot Occupation/Grade
Hair Lenglh Hair Style Eyes
Complexion Faciai hair Goatee Teeth
Appearance InjuryfCondition
Speech manner Speech Characteristics
OLN DL State DL Country
Resident Tourist Departure Place of Birth
Suspect Ammed
Habitual Offendar Status MO Factors Suspect Wors Gloves
Wore Mask
Primary Means ef Attack/\Weapon F:.';::"} ;t%'::dajﬂc Weapon Features 2:;:'?“;::

Employer/School

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Violence Information
TPO in Eflect

Oceupalion/Grade

DrugrAlcohol Invotvement Voluntary Statement

Injury Severity Medical Attention OV info provided
£hotos Taken Suspect Demeanor

Notes:

Arrestees

Witnesses

Witness Name: Darnel], Butter

Writlten Statement  Yes Can 1D Suspect No Testify

SSKN  §58-TH-4166 DOB  02M14/1984 Age 30 Race  Black or African Amarican
Sex Male Height & 10 Weighlt 185 Hair Color Black Eye Cotar  Hazel
Addresses

Resldence 141 Alpine Ct Henderson Nv., 88074 Clark USA

AFVIMMAAR 44.A% Fis

P led s mmae -
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Phones
Cellular

Notes:

Other Entities

{702) 273-5823

Properties

Type:  Gurrency, Colns, Securlties, Cesh

Status Stolen
Description  US CURRENCY
Manufaclurer us

Vehicle Year

Lic Plate #

Insurance Company

Owner V -« 7 Eloven
Notes.

Oetailed Propeny Information

Length
Harse Powaer
Caliber
Faslures.

Recovered Property informaticn

Recovered Date
Recovered Location
Recovered By
Owner Type
Ilnsurance Rep.

Solvability

Quanlity  100.00 Value 100,00  Color  Green
Modet Serizl No.\VIN
Body Type
Lic Plale State Li¢ Plate Exp

MIXED US CURRENCY STOLEN DURING THE COMMISSION OF THIS CRIME.

Width Meight
Propulsion Serial #
Barsel Length

Recovesed Value
Recovered Reason
Recovered Stock #
Reataased To

Tow Company

Criminalistics Work Was Parformed
Witness Present - Cther

Modus Operandi

MO General

Ocoupied? Yes

General Premise  Convenience Store
MO Against Property

Entry Point  Door

EntryiAttempt Methad
Safe Entry

Victim Localion
Maid

MO Against People
Victim-Suspect Relationship
Vigtim Condition

Suspecl Pretended to Be
Sexual Acts

Narrative

Surrounding Area  Comer
Specific Premise Parking Lot
Exit Point  Deor Entry Location  Door
North
Entry Tool Vehicle Eniry
Suspect Actions Covered Additional Factors Victim of Similar Crime
Hands(Gloves, etc) Similar Crimes in
Salect/ve in Loot Neighborhood
Electronic Locks Videa Survailtlence Yes
lnspactress

Pra-Incideni Conlact
Suspec! SolicitediOffered
Suspect Actions
Vehlcle involvemen!

At approximately 2301 hours on today's date the 7 Eleven convenlenca store located at 4581 E. Charleston was robbed. Two unknown black
male adults antared this business and held the store clerk at this time, 28 Damell Butler at Gun and knifo point. The firet suspect was wearing
gray footwear, black pants, black t-shlirt, grey hooded sweatshirt with an imitation "Burberry™ type pattern (Inlng, red banana wrapped around
his faceineck area, waaring red gloves, armed with a black semi-auto handpun with what eppeared to be o stalnless stee! barrel, standing
approximately §' 10" tall. The second subject was a black male adult wearing black faotwaar, pants t-shint, hooded sweatshirt, gray and red

s emima s s A . —
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gloves, red bandana around his face, armed with what appeared to be a knife according to Butier, Both subjects entared the buginess from
the front north facing store doore. the first subject entered the business with out the red bandana covering his face. this firet subject wearing
the grey hooded sweetshirt appeared to have a goatee with sharp facial features. This first suspect immediately instructed the clerk who was
present in the store that, "' This Is a stick-up give me all the money.” Then clerk was then directed to arcund the front of the register area to
behind the register area and told to open the registar drawer which Butter did,

The suspects then grabbed approximately $100,00 in mixed U.S. Currency from the roglater drawer of this 7 Eleven jocation, The suspects
then exited the business and headed sastbound towards an unknown location. Butier then pushed the store panic slarm and contacted
LVMPD Digpatch to advised them of this Incldent and to have officers respond. Patrof officers and Robbery respanded to this location. Store
owner notiflad and reviewed the store survelllance cameras of captured evidance of this robbery. Criminalistics techniclan W. Speas P#5228
responded and photographed the scone of this crime. Rebbery will be gathering video avidence the following business day.

Patrol Follow-Up

Officer J. Vance P#8004, was attempling to Jocate any potantial suspect “Jay-off* vehicles in the Immediate vicinity of tha victim business to
this event. Officer Vance contacted a suspleious black malo adult at Wisconsin and Lucky Street, just south of the 7 Elaven. This black mate
adult was later identified as Westey, Juan Ma Gala (DOB:08/17/74, NV DL- 1402389367} Wesley attompted to aveld officer contact by parking
his cold plated vehicle in the driveway of 4841 Wisconsin. Wes!ey stated that he knew the famlly of the address where he parked his vehicle.
However, contacted was mado with the residonce of this address and the residence stated that thay did not know Westay. Wesloy later
admitted that he was parked at this address te avold police contact dus to his vehicle being "cald plated.” Consent ta search Weslay's vehicle
was obtained and no articles related to the robbary where located with in Westey's 16568 Cadillac Doville.



Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Case Report No.: 1LV141101004101

Department
400 S. Martin Luther King Bivd. ]
Las Vegas, NV 89108 Arrest / Detective Report

Administrative

Logslion 8130 W Lake Mead Bivd Las Vegas, NV 9108 Sector Beat V6
Occurred On (Dale/ Time)  Saturday 110472014 14:02:00 PM Or Beiween (Date / Time)

Reporting Officer 14082 - Forson, . Reponed On 1101/2014

Entered By 14082 - Forson, C. Entered On 1170112014 11:27:43 PM

Supervisor 08580 - Houchen, J. Fallow Up Pro Squad NW 12 Follow Up
Jurisdiction  Las Vegas, City of Report Type  Officer Created - Sgt Approval Disposition  Active
Rouie To: Related Cases

Connacling Reporls  Voluntary Statement

Assisting Officers:

08880 - Houchen, Joshua M SGT
14072 - Pearson, Kyla § Officer
08744 - Abell, Joffory C Detective
14402 - Tucker, Kristan 1D Specialist
06015 - Turner, Linda A Detactive
Offenses
Robbery, E -NRS 200.380
Compieted Yes Hate/Bias  None (Neo Blas) ' [Domestic Violence  No
Entry Premises Entared Type Security Taols
Weapons Handgun Location Type Restaurant
Knife/Cutting Instrument (Icapick, Ax, Etc.)
Criminal Activities NonefUnknown
Vietims

Name: Poole, Shannon

Victim Type  Individual Writlen Slatement  Yes Can ID Suspect  No
Viglim of  5013B - Robbery, E'lDW(F)-NRS 200.380 Domestic Battery No
SSN DOR  Dd4H4MOT1 Age 43 Sex Femate Race White
Height 56" Weight 185 Hair Color  Blond Eye Coir  Brown
Empioyer/School Plrza Hut
Occupation/Grage Work Schedule
DLN DL Slate DL Counlry
Rasident Resident Tourist Departure Dale
Injury None Observed Injury Weapons Handgun '
Knife/Cutting tnstrument (lcepick, Ax, Etc.)
Addresses
Resfdence 2437 Charteroak St Las Vaegas, NV 89108 Clark USA
Business 6130 W. Lk Mead Las Vegas, NV 88108 Clark USA
Phones
Cellular {702) 288-312%
BusinossWork {702) 648-9011
Email

Offender Relationships

$ - Unknown None

S - Unknown None

S - Unknown None

Domastic Violencs Information

Relationship to Suspect Primary Aggressar Delermined
Intimate Relationship Drug/Alconol involvement
Voluntary Stetement OV Information Provided

tnjury Severity Medical Attention

Photos Taken

Natas:

17712015 11:04 PM LLV141101004401 Paga 1of 6
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Name: Heffner, Danls!

Victim Type  Sndividual Written Siatement  Yes CanID Suspect No
Victimol 50438 - Robbery, E/'DW(F)}-NRS 200.380 Domestic Battery No
SSN DOB  14/t511979 Age 34 Sex Male Race White
Height @'2* Weight 38 Hais Color Brown Fya Color  Brown
Emplayer/School Pizza Hut
Occupation/Grade Manager Work Schedule
DLN OL State DL Country
Resident Resldent Tourist Capanture Date
injury None Observed Injury Weapons  Handgun .
Knife/Cutting Instrument {Icepick, Ax, Etc.}

Addresses
Reasldence
Business
Phones
Cellular
Business/Work
Email

Offender Relationships
8 - Unknown

S - Unknown

S - Unknown

6048 Canyon Gap North Las Vegas, NV 83031 Clark USA
8130 W. Lk Mead LAs Vegas, NV 89108 clark USA

{702) 426-9932
(702) 848-9011

None
None

Nong

Domastic Violance Information

Relationship to Suspect
Iatimate Relstionship
Voiuntary Statement
Injury Sauverity

Photos Takan

Notes:

Primary Aggressor Delermined
Drugf/flcobol Involvement

DV Infarmation Provided
Medical Attention

Name: Thimakls, Georae

Victim Typa  Individual Written Staiement  Yes Can ID Suspect No
Viciim of 50138 - Robbary, E/DW{F)-NRS 200.380 Domestic Battery No
SSN  102-70-8880 DOB  04/2811984 Age 30 Sax  Mate Rece White
Height §'6" Weight 155 Hair Color  8rown Eye Cotor Brown

EmployariSchool Pixxa Hut

Qccupation/Grade Work Schedute

DLN DL State DL Country

Residen! Resident Tourst Departure Dale

Injury None Observod injury Weapons  Handgun

Addresses
Resldenco
Business
Phones
Cellular
Businesa/Work
Email

O#ender Relationships
$ - Unknown

8 - Unknown

§ - Unknown

Domesgtic Violence Information

Relationship 10 Suspec!
Inlimate Relationship
Voluniary Statement

AIARL T 2o, A1 POE

KnHe/Cutting Instrument {lcepick, Ax, Etc.)

§011 Vagas Dr Las Vegas, NV 89108 Clark USA
6130 W Lake Meed Blvd Las Veges, NV 89108 Clark USA

{702} 539-4564
(702) 648-8011

None
None
None

Primary Aggressor Determined
Drug/Aleshol invaivemen!
DV information Provided



Injury Severity
Pholos Taken

Notas:

Suspects

Medical Aftention

Name. Unknown

Wrilten Stmt. Alerts
Alisses
Moniker

Scope ID oce

Race Black or African American

Sex Male Height 6°3"-6'
p

Employer/Scheol

Hair Length

Complexion

Appearance

Speech manner

DLN

Resident

Habituat QRender Status

Primary Means of AttackVVeapon
Employer/School

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addressaes

Phones

Domastic Violence Information
TPO in Effect
Injury Severity
Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Unknown

Written Simt. Aleris
Aliases
Moniker

Scope ID DOB

Race Black or African American

Sex Male Height §'8% -5
10"

Employer/School

Hair Length

Complexion

Appearance

Speech manner

DN

Resident

Habitual Offender Status

Non-English Language

\
Handedness
Eye Color

§SN
Thin
Batd

Age 2030
Build
Weight 160-150 Hair Color
QceupatiorvGrade
Hair Style
Facial hair

Eyes
Teeth
tnjury/Condilion :
Speach Characterislics
DL State
Tourisi Departure

DL Country
Place of Birth
MO Factors
Weapon Fealures
Occupation/Grede

Drug/Alcohol Involvement
Medical Allention
Suspect Demeanor

Voluntary Statement
DV Info provided

Non-English Lenguage

Age 2030
Buiid
Hair Color

SSN
Thin Hangagness

Weight Eye Colar

150175
Occupation/Grade

Hair Style

Facial hair

Eyes

Teeth
Injury/Conditicn
Speech Characlerists
DL State DL Country
Tourist Departure Placa of Bith

MO Factors

Knife/Cutiing

Primary Means of Atlack/AVeapon

instrumant (teaplck, Ax, Weapon Features

Ete.)

Employer/School

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones
Domaestic Violence Information
TPQ in Effect

Injury Sevarity
Photos Taken

Occupation/Grade

Orug/Aicohol Invalvement
Medical Atlention
Suspect Demeanor

Voluntary Siatemeat
OV Infa provided
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Notes:

Name: Unknown
Written Simi. Alerts Non-English

Ajiases
Moniker

Scope 1D DoB Age  00-100 SSN
Race Black or African American Build Heavy

Sex Male Height Weigh! 200 - 250 Hair Color
Employed/Scheol ‘

Hair Lengih Hair Style
Complexion Facial hair
Appsarance

Speech manner

DLN DL Siate

Resident . Toutist Depanture
Habitual Offender Status

Primary Means of AltackWeapon

EmployerScheol

Injury/Condilion
Speech Charactenstics

MQ Faclors
‘Weapon Faatures
Occupation/Grade

S¢ars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Violence information
TPO in Effect
Injury Severity
Photos Taken

Drug/Alcchol Involvemant
Medical Atlention
Suspect Demeanor

Notes:

Arrestees

Occupation/Grade

DL Couniry

Language

Hangedness
Eye Calor

Eyes
Teeth

Place of Birlh

Voluntary Siatement
DV Info provided

Witnesses

QOther Entities

Properties

Type:  Currency, Coins, Sacurities, Cash

Status Stolen Quantity
Description  $160 In US currency/Various denominations

Manufacturer Modgel

Vehicla Year Body Type

Lic Plate # Lic Piate State

Insurance Company

Owner

Notes:

Datalled Property Information

Length Widlh
Horse Power Propulsion Seriat #
Caliber Barrel Length
Fealures

Racoverad Property Information

Racovered Date Recovered Vaiue
Recovered Location Racovered Reason
Racovared By Recovered Stock #
Ownor Type Released To

Insurance Rep. Tow Company

Type:  Computers and Offica Equipmant

Status Stolan Quantily

727

Value 160,00 Celor
Serial No.\VIN

Lic Plate Exp

Height

Value 1,000.00 Color



Descriplion  Rectangular mechanicz! cesh drawer

Manufactures
Vehicte Year

Lic Plate #
Insurance Company
Owner

Notas:

Detelied Property Information

Length
Horse Power
Caliber
Features

Recovered Property Information

Recovered Date
Recovared Lacation
Racovared By
Owner Type
tngurance Rep.

Sclvability

Model

Bedy Type

Lic Plate Stats

Width

Propulsion Serfal #
Barrel Length

Recovered Value
Recovered Reason
Racovered Stock 4
Releases Te

Tovs Company

Serial No.WVIN

Lic Plate Exp

Herghl

Criminatigtics Work Was Performed
SigniRcant MO is Presant

Stolan Property Is Traceable, (Idantifiabla)
Suspect Cen Be Described

Witness Present - Viclim

Modus Operandi

MO General

Occupied? Yes
General Premise  Fast Food Restaurant
MO Against Property
Entry Poin

Entry/Aliempt Method

Sale Entry

Victim Location

Maid

MO Against People
Victim-Suspect Relationship

Victim Condition
Suspect Prelended to Be

Sexual Acts

Narrative

Swirounding Area
Specific Premise

Exit Pomt
Entry Tool
Suspect Aclions
Electronic Locks
Inspectress

Pre-Incident Contact
Suspect Solicited/Offered
Suspect Actions

Vahicla Involvement

Middle of Block

Entry Localion
Venlcle Entry
Additional Factors
Video Surveillance

Had Victim Lie Down
Multiple Suspocts
PullediHeldiGradbad Victim
Sugpect's Face Concealed

On 1111414 al 2302 Hrs, |, Officar C. Forson, PR 14082, while cperating as marked patro? unit 1V12, was dispatched to a silent robbery alarm
from the Plzza Hut located at 8130 W, Lake Mead Bivd, Las Vegas Nv 89108. Upon racall to the buginess it was confirmed to be &n actual

robbery.

Upan making contact with the employees, Shannon Poole DOB 4/14/71, Dante! Heffner OB 11H5/76 and George Thimakis 1/28/84 stated that
thoy wore all present and victims of the rebbery. Shannen, Daniel and George ware In the rear of the business finishing ordors. No ona heard
anyona entor the business, and afl three were taken by surprise when 2 black mates began yalling and knocking things aver in the business.
Suspect #1 was described as in his 20's, 6'3- 6'4, thin build, wearing a black bandana gver his face, a black hat with a yellow P' on it and 2 rad
brim, and dark clothing on. Ho was also wesring white, possible motorcycle type gloves. Suspact i1 had a smell black revolver, and yelted a1
all three employses to gat down on the ground, advising that no ene would get hurt so long as no ona tried anything. Suspect #2 was
described as a black male, In his 20's, 5'8- 510, also thin build wearing a black hoodie, 2 dark bandana over his face, and black and red
Igather gloves. Suspect #2 was In possassion of a large knife, possibly a construction or dry wall typa of knife, not a kitchen knifa with a
approximataly &' blads.

A3 suspect #1 was ondering the employees to the floor, suspact #2 physicelly grabbed Shannon by the arm to lorce her to her knees.
Suspoct #1 then demanded access to that safe, however they were advisad that the manager wae not present and no ane there had access.
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Suspact #2 then moved around to the front of the store ta the register as suspect @ 1 demanded a key for the register, Again he was adviged
that the manager had the only key and the present employees did not.

They then heerd a loud crashing nolse coming from the ragister area as suspect #2 took the entire register from the counter, causing the rest
of the equipment to fall to the ground. Suspect # 2 then called for suspect #1 and they both loft the store. Daniel got up to see which way they
went, and did nct see them In the ares. The only thing of note Danlel cbsaerved was a gold or champagne Ford vehicla (posaibly a Taurus)
laaving tha paritng lot, travelling rorth bound on Jones. Danlel stated the vehicle did not stop at the adge of the parking lot and instead relled
out, but was not travelling 81 a high rete of speed.

Danlel advised that there was $160in the register, and the register itself is of unknown vatue, possible approximately $1000.

ID specialist K. Mackler P& 14402 respondad to process the scane. A shos foot print was found on the front counter where one of the
suspects jumped the counter to the raglster.

Robbery Detectives L. Turner P4 6015 and J. Abell PA 8744 responded to furthar the invastigation. Upon réview of the bosiness' video, a third
suspect was geon out front of tha business acting as a lookout. Suspect #3 wag described as 2 haavyset black male wearing o white bandana
over his face, and a gray zip up hoodie sweater, black pants and black shoes. He also had blue latex gloves on.

Patro! Follow-Up
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Case Report No.: 1LV141103003888
Department
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd,
Las Vegas, NV 89106

Administrative

Location 5105 E.sghara Ava LV, NV 85121
Occurred On (Date / Time)  Monday 11/03/2094 10:55:00 PM

Raporting Officer 13562 - Viray, L

Seetor Beal J2
Or Between (Dale / Time)

Enterad By 13582 - Virny, L. Entered On 11/03/2014 11:26:41 PM
Supervisor 07838 - Auten, L. Follow Up Pro Squas  SE 13 Foilow Up
Jurisdiction  Clark County Report Type  Officer Created - Sgt Approva! Disposilion  Active
Roule To: Related Cases UNK
Connecting Reports  Victim Information Gulde
voluntary Statemont
Assisting Officers:
07938 - Auten, Isasc E SGT
09003 - Moora, William M Officer
08427 - Felabom, Adam M D Speclalist
06845 - Long, Kriston Detective
07465 - Welrauch, Thecdore P Detective
Offenses

Raobbery, E/OW(F]-NRS 200,380
Compteted Yes Hate/Blas  Unknown {Offenders Motivalion Not Known} Domeslic Violenge ~ No
Entry Premises Entered Type Security Tools
Weapons  Mandgun Location Type  OtherfiUnknown

Knite/Cutting Instniment (Icepick, Ax, Etc.)
Criminal Activities

Battery W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.481,35
Completed Yus Hate/Bias  Unknown (Offendoers Motivation Not Known) Domeslic Vialeance  Ro
Entry Premises Entered Type Securily Tools

Weapons Handgun
Criminal Activities

Location Type  QtherfUnknown

Victims

Name: PIZZA HUT

Vietim Type  Business Wiritten Statement

Can ID Suspect
Victim of ~ 50%38 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380

Domestic Batjery

SSN DCB
Height Weight
Employer!Schoot

Occupation/Grade

DLN OL State
Resident

Injury

Addresses

Age Sex Race

Hair Color Eye Color

Work Schedule
OL Country
Tourisl Depanure Date
Injury Weapons

Business 6105 E.sohara Ave LV, NV 88421

Phones
Businesa/Work (702} 457-2634
Emall

QONender Relationships
Domestic Violence Information
Relationship to Suspect
Inlimate Ralationship
Voluntary Siatement

Injury Severity

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: EARAONE, TREVOR
1TI2015 11:03 PN

Primary Aggressor Deiermined
Drug/Alcohol tnvolvemen!

BV Information Provided
Medical Allenlion

LLV141103003838 Page 1ol §
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Viclim Type  Individual

Vidimol 50223 - Battery W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.481.2E

SSN DOB  0BR26/1879

Heipht &' 2" Weight 177 Hair Cotor
Employer/Schoc! PIZZA KUT

QccupalionvGrade MANAGER

OLN DL State

Resident Resident

Injury Apparent Miner Injury

Addresses
Businoss 5105 E.sahara Ave LV, NV 89921
Phones
BusinassWaork (702) 457-2634
Emall

OHonder Relationships
Domestic Violence Information
Rejatianship 10 Suspect
Intimale Relationship
Votuntary Statemenl

Injury Severity

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: CARMICHAEL, ASHLEY

Written Siatement  No

CanlID Suspeci No
Domestic Batlery No

35 Sex  Male Race
Eye Color  Blue

Whits

Work Schedule
D1 Country
Fourist Dapanure Date
Injury Weapons  Handgun

Primary Aggiessor Determined
Drug/Alcohol Involvemnent

DV Infarmation Provided
Medical Altention

viclim Type  Individuaf Wiilen Slatement  Yes Can 1D Suspect  No
Victimof  50%38 - Robbery, E/OW{F)}-NRS 200.380 Domestic Battery No
SSN DOB 1212211993 Age 20 Sax  Female Race Whhe
Height & 6" Weight 120 Hair Color  Brown Eye Color Blue

Employer/Schoal PIZZA HUT

Occupation/Grade CLERK Work Schedule

DLN OL Stale DL Country

Resitent Resident Tourist Departure Cate

Injury  None Observed injury Weapons  Handgun

Addrasses

Busliness 5105 E.sahara Ave LV, NV 08121

Phones
Bugingss/Work (702) 457-2634
Email

Offender Refationships
Domestic Violance Information
Relationship 1o Suspect
Intimate Reiationship
Valuntary Statement

Injury Severity

Fhotos Taken

Notes:

Name: BROWN, GUY

Primary Aggresscr Oelermined
DrugrAleahat tnvelvement

DV Infermalion Provided
Medica! Attention

Viclim Type  tndividual Wiritten Statement  No CenliD Suspect No
victimof 50138 - Robbery, EIDW(F)-NRS 200.380 Domestic Battery No
SSN DOB  08/0211862 Age 52 Sex Male Race White
Height &' 91" Weight 186 Hair Color  Brown Eye Color Green

Employer/Schoal PIZZA HUT

Ocgcupalion/Grade DELIVERY Woark Schedule

oLN OL State DL Country

Resideni Residont Tourist Dapanure Date

Injury None Obsarved

Addresses

Amiaasw ra mw -

Injury Weapens  Kalfe/Culting Instrument (lcepick, Ax, Etc.)
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Business §105 £.anhara AvelV, NV 89121
Phonos

BusinessMark {702) 457-2824

Emall

Offendar Relatlonships
Domestic Violenca (nformation
Relatignship to Suspect
Intimate Relationship
Voluntary Statemenl

Injury Severity

Photos Taken

Notes:

Suspects

Primary Aggresser Determined
Drug/Aicohol Invotvement

DV Information Pravided
Medical Atlention

Arrestees

Witnesses

Witness Name: BAGWELL, THOMAS

Written Stetement  Yes Can (D Suspect No Testify

SSN DOB  07/01/1892 Age 22 Race White

Sex Male Height & 11" Wwaeight 280 Hair Colat  Slond Eye Color  Blue
Addresses :

Business 5105 E.saharn Avo LV, NV 89121

Phones

BusinessWork (Y02) 457-1834

Notes: .

Other Entities

Properties

Type:  Gurrency. Going, Securities, Cash

Slalus Stolon

Description CASH

Manufactuter Mode!
Vehicle Year Body Type

Lic Plate # Lic Flate Slate
tnsurance Company

Owner V - PIZZA HUT

Noles:

Detailed Property information

Lengih Width
Horse Power Propulgion Serlal #
Caliber Barrel Length
Fesalures

Recovered Property Information

Recovered Date
Recovered Location
Recovered By
Owner Type
Insurance Rep.

Quantity  $260. Value 26000  Colior
Serial No.WIN

Lic Plate Exp

Height

Recovered Value
Recovered Reason
Recovered Slack #
Released To

Tow Company

Type: Misc. {Cell Phones, Ammo, Worthless Doc, items not listed)
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Status Statan Quanlity 1 value 140,00  Color Black
QOescrption CELLPHONE

Manufgcturet APPLE Mode! IPHONE 48 Serial No \WIN
Vehicte Yaar Body Type
Lic Plate # Lic Plate Slate Lic Piate Exp

Insurance Company
Qwner V - CARMICHAEL, ASHLEY
Notes:

Dotaile® Property Infarmation

Length Width Height
Horse Power Propulsion Serial #

Calipar Barrel Length

Features

Recovared Property Information

Recovered Date Recovered Value
Recovered Location Recovared Reason
Recovered By Recovered Stock 8
Owner Type Released Ta
Insurance Rep. Tow Company
Solvability
Criminallstics Work Was Performed
Physical Evidence s Present
Modus Operandi
MO General
Occupiad? Yas Surrounding Atea  Other
General Premise  Other Specific Premise Other
MO Agalnst Property
Entry Painl  Door Exil Point Door Entry Location  Door
North
Entry/Attempl Melhod  Opan for Business Entry Toal  Other Vehicle Entry
Sale Entry  Other Suspect Actions  Covered Addilional Factors Victim of Stmilar Crime
Hands(Gloves, stc)
Victim Lecation  On the Premises Elactronic Locks  No Videc Surveillance Yeas
Maid lnspeciress '
MO Against Feople
Viglim-Suspect Relationship Pra-Incigen! Conlact  None
Victim Condition ~ Othae Suspect Solicited/Offared
Suspect Pretended to Be Suspett Actions Had Victim Li¢ Down
HittAssaulted During Act
Muitiple Suspects
Sexual Acis Vehicle invoivement
Narrative

On 1110¥14 at approximately 2255 hours, PR Trevor Faraone ,whlle working as manager of Pizza Hut located at 5101 E, Sahara Ava. LV NV
89121 was in the back kltchen erea of the business with other two employees, Ashley Carmichael and Thomas Bagwell when he heard » mala
volce yellad * Get in the ground " at least thrae times. Faraone sald at this point he saw a male subjact with all btack clething and & rod
bandane over his face standing in the kitchen. Faraone said the suspect then yelled "Where's the safe?". Farzone then pointad to the suspect
whero the tocation of the snfe is. Farzone sajd tha suspect pointed a dark gray handgun, unknown type, to his head and told him to open the
safe. Feraone walked over to the safa and that's when he noticed a second male subject wearing all dark clothing, standing over where
Cammichael and Bagwe'l were laying down. Faraona tried to open the safe and told the first suspect that the safe {5 a time lock safe. Suspect
ona then hit Faraona twice in the back of his head with the handgun and told kim to open the cash drawer. Faraona opengd the cash drewer
then suspoct one flipped tho tragh can , took the plastic liner and ordered Faraona ta place the cash in tha plastic bag, the cash was
approximatoly $200.00 . Suepect one then yelled at suspsct two to empty tha pockets of all the victims, Suspect two took Carmichael's iphono
4's from her pents pocket. At this peint, another esmployee, Guy Brown just cama back from delivery, and was surprised to see the suspects
Inglde the store and the employees were on the ground. Brown said the sacond suspect pointad a small sliver pocket knife towards him and
demanded monsy. Second suspect then reached Inside Brown's pants pocket and took approximately $60.00 cash from his dellvery. Suspact
then laft towards the back door of the store.
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First suspect was described 3 tall, skinny, dark skin black mate aduit, black hoody, red bandana over his face, black jeans end black boots ,
wearing black plovas ,grmed with unknown type of dark gray handgun. Second suspect wes a black male adult, 6'0 , 200 1bs. wearing afl dark
clothing, wearing a black ski mask, wearing black gloves with red on the palm side, armed with a silver pocket knite,

Patrol Follow-Up
Robbory artived on scane and ID also processed the scene. Viduo will be avallable at a later time.
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd.

Las Vegas, NV 89106 Arrest / Detective Report

Case Report No.: LLV141104000062

Administrative

Lacalion 4258 E Chartesten Bivd LV, NV 88110 Sector /Beai  G1
Occurred On (Date / Time)  Tuesday 1170472014 12:00:00 AM Ot Between (Date / Time)

Reponting Officar 14731 - Dulatre, S. Reponed On 1110412014
Enleced By 14731 - Dulatre, S. Entared On 11104/2018 12:47:37 AM
Supervisor 08272 - Oliver, F. Follow Up Pro Squag  NE 14 Follow Up

Jurisdiction  Les Vegas, City of Report Type  Officer Created - Sgt Approval Dispositicn  Active
Route To: Relatad Cases
Connecting Reports  Body Camera Video
- Voluntary Statement
Victim information Guide

Assisting Officers:

43781 - Hezrrell, Chartes E Officer
07917 - Shrum, Shefley K 1D Speclalist
07485 - Wetrauch, Theodore P Dotoctive

Offenses

Robbary, E/IDW(F)-NRS 200 380 .

Completed Yas Hate/Bias  Unknown {Offenders Motivation Not Known) Domeslic Violence  No
Entry Premises Entered Type Security Tools
Weapons  Hendgun Location Type Restaurant

Criminal Activities

Kidnapping. 15t Degres(F}-NRS 200.310

Completed  Yes Hate/Bias Domestic Violence  No
Entry Premises Entered Type Security Tools
Weapons Location Type  Restaurant

Criminat Activitles

Victims

Name: Spehp, feania

Victim Type  Individuat Written Stalement  No Can ID Suspect  No
Victim of 60051 - Kidnapping, 18t Degroe(F}-NRS 200.310.1 Domaslic Baltery No
50438 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380

SS8N pDoB  05/16M982 Age 32 Sex Female Race White
Heighi  5'2" Weight 140 Hair Color  Brown EyeColor Brown
EmployeriSchool Littla Cassars

Qccupation/Grade Manager Wark Schedule

OLN DL State DL Country

Resident  Resldant Tourist Departuse Date

Injury None Observed Injury Weapans  Handgun

Addreases
Resldence 2272 S Nollls Bivd LV, NV 89122 Clark USA

Phones
Cellular (702) 379-1081
Business/Work (702) 438-7422

Email

Offender Relationships
S - Unknown Nonhe

S - Unknown None

Domestic Violence information

Relationship to Suspec! Prisnery Aggressor Determmed
intimate Relaticnship Drug/Atcohol Invoivement
Voluntary Statemant DV Infoamaiion Provided

Injury Severity Medical Aitention

Photos Teken

Notes:
17712015 11:08 PN LLV141104000062 Page1ofg
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Name: Dgrame, James

vigtim Type  Individusal

Victim of

SS5N  €01-92-8507 pog

Height 617
Employet/Schoo!
Occupation/Grade
DLN
Resident
Injury

Weight

Nonresident

Addresses
Resldence

Phones
Email

Offender Retationships
Domeastic Violence Information
Relatipnship to Suspect
Intimate Relationship
Voluniary Statement

Injuty Severily

Pheotos Taken

Notes:

Suspects

§0051 - Kidnapping, 15t Degree{F}-NRS 200.310.1

DL State

Written Statement  No Can IDSuspact  No

Domestiic Battery No

0R/2411072 Age 42
180 Hair Color  Blagk

Race White
Brown

Sex Male
Eye Colar

Work Schedule
DL Country
Tourist Departure Date
Injury Weapons

15620 N 25th Ave #5208 Phoenix, AZ 85023

Primary Aggressor Determined
Drug/Alcohol Involvement

DV Information Provided
Medical Attention

Name: Unkngiwn
Writlen Simt.  No

Aliases
Moniker

Scope D DOB

Race Black or African Amorican

Height €'0"-6' \Weight
-

Sex Male

Employer/School

Hair Length

Complexion
Appearance

Speech manner

DN

Resident

Habitugt Ofiender Status

Primary Means of AttackAVeapon
Employer/School

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domastic Violonce Information
TPQ in Effect
Injury Severily
Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Unkngwn
Written Stmt.  No
Allages

Moniker

Alens

Alans

Non-English Language

Age 00 SSN
Build Thin
Hair Color

Handedness
1680 - 170 Eye Color

Occupation/Grade
Hair Style

Eyes
Facial hair

Teeth
Injury/Condition
Speech Characteristics
DL State OL Country
Tourist Depanure Place of Bith

MO Factors
Weapon Fealures
QccupationiGrade

Large Frame

Handgun Revolver

Drug/Aicohol Involvement
Medical Altention
Suspect Demeanar

Voluntary Siatemeni
OV Info provided

Nen-English Language
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Scope ID DOB

Race Black or African American

Sex Male Height
1 -

Employer/School

Hair Length

Complaxion

Appearancd

Speech manner

OLN

Resident

Habitua! Offender Status

Primary Means of AttackAWeapon
Employer/S¢hool

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domesti¢ Vielence Information
TPO in Effect

injury Severity

Pholos Taken

Notes:

Arrestees

50" -6

Age 0D SSN

Build Thin
Weight 150 - 170 Hair Calor
CccupationiGrade
Hair Style
Facial hair
Injury/Conditicn
Speech Characteristics
OL State
Tourist Departure
MO Factors

Handgun Weapon Features

Occupation/Grade

Drug/Alcchol Involvement
Medics! Atlention
Suspecl Gemeanor

DL Counity

Handedness
Eye Cotor

Eyes
Teeth

Place of Birlh

Large Frame
Revolver

Yoluniary Statemen
DV Info provided

Witnesses

Other Entities

Properties

Type:

Siolan
Smartphone
Samsung

Status
Description
Manufaciurer
Vehicle Year
Lic Plate #
Insurance Company
Owner

Notes:

Detailed Property Informaticn

Length
Horse Power
Caliber
Features

Recovared Property Information

Recovered Dale
Recovered Lacalion
Recoverad By
Owner Typa
Insurance Rep.

Solvability

Misc. (Cell Phones, Ammo, Worthless Doe, items not listed)

Quentity

Model
Body Type
Lic Piate State

Galaxy S5

Wwidth
Propuylsion Serial #
Barrel Length

Racoverad Valus
Recovered Reason
Recovered Slock #
Released To

Tow Company

Value 750,00
Seriat No\WIN

Lic Plate Exp

Height

Coler

White

Criminalistics Work Was Performed
Significent MO is Present

Stolen Property is Tracoable, (Identifiabls)

Witness Present - Victim
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Modus Operandi

MO General
QOccupied? Yes Surrounding Area  Middle of Block
General Premise  Restaurant Specific Premise  Room
MO Against Proparty
Entry Point  Door Exit Point  Door Entry Location  Door
South
Entry/Attempi Method ~ Other Entry Tool Vehicla Entry
Safe Entry Suspect Actions  Covered Addilional Faclors
Hands{Gloves, etc)
Used
Lookout’Accomplice )
victim Location ~ Work/School Electronic Locks  No video Surveillance Yes
Maid Inspeciress
MO Against Paople
Victim-Suspect Relationship Pre-ncident Conlact
Victim Condition Suspect Solicted/Ofered
Suspect Pretendec to Be Suspect Actions Had Victim Lie Down
Moved Victim's Location
Suspect's Face Conceated
Sexual Acs Vehicle Involvement

Narrative

On 11/04714 at approximately 0000 hours ldania Sacba and Jesus Darame were inside of the Little Caesars located at 4253 E. Charleston LV,
NV 89110 conducting paperwork and receiving deliveries, whan twe unknown black male adults walked into the restaurant. The first subject
was described as a black male €'0 - 6'1 thin build approximataly 150-170 pounds wearing a black beanie, black sweatshin, black gloves,
unknown colored pants, and a black cloth covering his face. The second subject wes describad as a black male 6'0 -6'1 thing build
approximately 150-170 pounds wearing a multi colored long sleeve shirt, unknown pants, and cevering his face with a black cloth and black
gloves. .

Aftor entering the store through the front door which was propped open, the second mate pointed a large frame black revotver handgun to the
slde of Jesus and walked him around 1o the arem near the registered and told him to not look at him and got down on the ground. Jesus
stated ho complied with the demands.

The first subject then walked to the back cf tho store to the nrea that l[danlz was sitting compleling paperwork. Idania stated the the male
walked up ta her and pointed a large framed black revolver type handgun 2t her and told her, "Glve me the money, 2il | want Is the money.”
Idania told the male that she does not have any access to the safe at this time. The male thea noticed Idanla's white Samsung Galaxy §5 on
the table and grabbed It and told Idan'a to walk toward the safa. ldania compfied with the demands but was unable to open the safe.

Afer taking Idenia’s Samsung and realizing that the safe wes not going to cpen both males left the store In an unknown directicn or mode of
travel.

Patrol Follow-Up

Robbery detective responded and contuctad taped interview with ldanla.
1D responded and proceased the scene.

VIG glven to victim. .
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd,
Las Vegas, NV 88106

Arrest / Detective Report

Administrative

Case Report No.: LLV141115003869

Location 4505 E Bonanza Les Vegas, NV 839110
Occurmred On (D2ie / Time)  Saturday 11115/2014 10:42:00 PM

Reporling Officer 14721 - Van Dyke, J.
Entered By 14721 - Van Dyke, J.
Supervisor 08458 - Veldez, C.

Juiisdiction  Las Vegas, Clty of
Route To:
Connecling Repons

Reported On
Entered On
Faliow Up
Repart Type  Officer Craated - Sgt Approval
Related Cases
Body Camera Video
Victim Information Guide
Voluntary Statemeant

Assisting Officors:
13510 - Rocha, Bryan
14402 . Tucker, Kristan
08744 - Abell, Jeffery C

05297 - Da Palma, Philip H

Offenses

Officar

1D Specialiat
Detective
Detective

SectorBeat G2

Q¢ Between (Date | Tima)
1115722014

111872014 11:20:05 PM
Pro Squad NE 14

Foliow Up

Disposition  Active

Robbery, EDW(F)-NRS 200.380

Complated Yeos
Entry
‘Weapons Mandgun

Criminat Activities

Victims

Hale/Bias None (Na Blas)
Premises Entered Type Securily

Location Type

None/Unknown

Domeslic Violence  No

Tools

Restaurant

Name: Urbina, Jeranimo

Victlm Type
Vigtim of

SSN 530974504
Height 57"
EmployerfSchool
QOccupalion/Grade
DLN

Resident Reslident

Injury None Observed

Addresses
Residenca

Phones
Cellutar

Email

Otfendor Retationships
8 - Suspect, M1

S - Suspect, #2

Individual
50138 - Robbery, E/ODW(F)-NRS 200.380

Written Statement  Yes

DOB  10/19/1996
Weight 147
Popeyes
Shift Manager
DL Siate

Age 18
Hair Color ~ Black

Male
Eye Color

Sex

Work Schedule
DL Country
Tourist Departure Date
Injury Weapons  Handgun

578 Roxella Ln Apt 8 Las Vegas, NV 88110 Clark USA

(702) 408-5692

Vistim Was Stranger
Victim Was Stranger

Domestic Violance Information

Relaticnship to Suspect
Intimate Relationship
Veluntary Statement
injury Severity

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: il

Victim Type
Victim of

1712015 11:06 PM

Indtvidusl
50138 - Robbery, EFOW(F}-NRS 200,380

Can |D Suspect
Domestic Battery  No

Race White

Brown

Primary Aggressor Determined

Drug/Alcohol Inveivement
DV Information Provided
Medical Altlention

Wrilten Statement  Yes

LLV141115003869
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SSN  603-98-1928 008  Q4/26/M987 Age 17 Sex Female Race White
Height 52" Weighl 138 Haif Color  Brown Eye Color  Green
Employer/School Popeyes

Qccupation/Grade Employea Work Schedule

PLN DL State OL Country

Resigent Resident Tourist Departure Date

Injury  Apparent Minor injury

Addresses
Resldence

Phones
Emal|

OMender Relationships
8 - Suspect, 81

§ . Suspect, #2

Domestic Violance Information
Retationship to Suspect

tntimate Relationship

Volunlary Statement

Injury Severity

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Ponayes

viciim Type  Business

Victimof 50938 - Robbery, E/DW{F)-NRS 200.380

SSN

Height
Employer/Schoot
Occupation/Grade
DLN

Resident

Injury

0oB
Weight

Addresses
Business

Phones
BuglnassWork

Email

Oftender Relationships
Domeslic Violence tnformation
Retationship to Susperct
intimate Relationship
Voluntary Statement

Injury Severity

Phetos Taken

Notes:

Suspects

DL State

Injury Weapons  Handgun

Personal Weapons (Hands, Feel, Teath, etc.)

2751 E Bonanza Rd Apt 104h Las Vegas, NV 89101 Clark USA

Vigtm Was Stranger

Victim Was Stranger

Primary Aggressor Detormined
Drug/Alcohol tnvoivemnenl

DV Infermation Provided
Medicai Allention

Wrillen Statemeni Can 1D Suspett

Domestic Batiery

Age
Hair Calor

Sex Race

Eye Color

Waork Schedule
OL Country
Tourist Depanure Date
Injury Weapens

4505 E Bonanza Las Veges, NV 89110 Clark USA

(702) 631-8441

Primary Aggrassor Delermined
Dryg/Alcahol Invatvement

DV Information Provided
Medzcal Atiention

Name: Suspect, &1

Writlen Stmi.  No Alerts
Aliases

Moniker
Scope ID coe
Race Black ot African American

Sex Male Height

Employer/Schoot

60"-68  Weight
e

Non-English  No Language

SSN
Medium
Black

Handedness

170 - 180 Hair Color Eye Cotor

Occupaltion/Grage
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Hair Length
Camplexton  Medium
Appearance

Speech manner
DLN

Resident  Unknown

Habilual Oender Stalus

Primary Means of AtackWespon
EmptoyeriSchool

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Violence Informatlon
TPO in Effect
Injury Severity
Photos Taken

Nates:

Name: Sugnect, #2
wrilen Stmi,  No

Allases
Moniker

Scope 1D

Race Unknown
Sax  Unknown
EmployeriSchool
Hair Length
Complexion
Appearance
Speech manner
DLN

Residenl
Habitug! Offendar Siatlus

Primary Means of AltackAWeapaen
Employer/Schoo!

Height

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domegstic Violence Information
TPO in Effact

Injury Severity

Photos Taken

Notes:
No description on Suspect p2

Arrestees

Aleris

Qccupation/Geade

DrugtAlcohol Involvement

Medical Altention

Suspecl Demeanor
Non-English
Age O SSN
Build
Weight Hair Color
Occupation/Grade
Hair Style
Facial hais
InjuryiCondition
. Speech Characteristics
DL State DL Country
Tourist Departure
MO Factors
Wespon Features

Qccupation/Grade

OrugiAlcoho! Involvement

Medical Ayention
Suspect Demeanor

Hair Style Eyes
Facial hair Teeth
injuryiCondition
Speech Characteristics  Not Unususl
DL State ' Dt Country
Tourist Depariure Place of Birth
Enterad Bullding Known to Be Occupied
Forced Victim to Ground or Floor
Inflicted Injury
MO Faclors Suspect Armed
Suspect Wore Gloves
Veandalized Premisas
Wore Mask
Handgun Waeapen Feajures Ravoiver

Voluntary Statement
DV Info provided

Language

Handedness
Eye Color

Evyas
Teeth

Place of Birth

Voluntary Statement
DV info proviged

Witnesses

Witnoss Name: Yazquez, Johana
Wrilten Statement  Yes

SSN 6B80-05-5684
Sex Female

Addresses
Resldence

0271611997

Height 6 B"

Can ID Suspect No

Weight

Age
A150 Hatr Color

17 Rate
Brown

801 Hyattsviilo St Las Vegas, NV 89110 Clark USA
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Phones N
Collutar (702) 281.9164

Notes:

‘ Wiiness Name: Omelas, Angelica

Written Statement  Yes Cen IC Suspect No

SSN  621.76-B487 DOB  10/11/1984 Age 20 Rece
Sex Female Height &' 85" Weight 140 Hair Color  Brown

Addresses
Residonce 2252 Castlobarry Ln Las Vogas, NV 89156 Clark USA

FPhones
Cellular {702) 542-4672

Notes:

Witness Name: Talngo, Juan
Wrillen Statement No Can 1D Suspect No

SSN DOB  OT/ON1964 Age 50 Race
Sex Mele Height F o™ Weight 160 Hair Calor  Brown

Addresses
Buslness 4505 £ Bonanze Las Vegas, NV 88110 Clark USA

Phones
BusinessWork {702) 531-8441

Notes:

Other Entities

Testify

White
Eye Color Brown

Testify

White
Eye Coles  Brown

Properties

Type:  Misc, (Cell Phones, Ammeo, Warthless Coc, items not listed)

Status DestroyediDamagedVandalized Quanlity 1 Value §00.00 Color  Silveror
Atuminum

Description  Exterior building door {Glass)

Manufacturer Madesi Serial No.\WIN

Vehicle Year Bady Type

LicPlate # Lic Plate State Lic Plate Exp

Insurance Company
Qwner V -Pcpeyes
Noles:

Detailed Property Information

Length Width
Horse Pawer Propulsion Serial #
Caliber Barrel Length
Fealures

Recovered Property information

Recovered Date Recovared Value
Retovered Location Recovered Reason
Recovered By Reacovered Stock #
Owner Type Raleased To
Insurance Rep. Tow Company

Type: Currancy, Coins, Securities, Cash

Height

Status Stalen Quantity 1 vaive 2,000.00 Cator
Description  Cash stolen from safe

Manufacturer Model Serial No \WVIN

Vehicle Year Bedy Type
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Lic Plate # Lic Plate State . Lic Plate Exp
insurance Company

Qwner V -Popeyes

Notes: Unknown amaount of cash, possihly $1,000.2,000

Detailed Property Information

Length Widlh Height
Horsa Power Propulsion Sevial #

Caliber Barrel Length

Features

Recovared Property information

Recovered Dale Recovered Value
Recovered Localion Recavered Reascn
Recovered By Recavered Stock #
Owner Type Released To
Insurance Rep. Taw Company
Solvability

Criminalistics Work Was Performed
Physlical Evidence is Presant
Significant MO is Present

Suspect Can Be Dascribed

Witness Present - Victim

Witnoss Prasent - Other

Modus Operandi

MO General
Occupiad? Yes Surrounding Area  Middle of Block
Genergl Premise  Fast Food Restaurant Specific Premise Room
MO Against Property
Entry Point Exil Point Eniry Location
Entry/Attempt Method Entry Tool Vehicle Enlry
Safe Eniry Suspect Actions Additional Faclors
Victim Lacation Electronic Locks Vidso Surveiliance
Maid Inspeciress
MO Against People
Victim-Suspect Relalionship Pre-Incidenl Contact  OpaningiClosing-Business
viciim Conditior ~ Under 18 - Suspect SolicitediOtiered
Suspect Pretended to Be Suspect Actions Forced Entry
Had Victim Bag Property
Hit’/Agsaulted During Act
Moved Victim's Location
Multiple Suspects
Other
Suspect's Face Concealed
Sexual ACIS Vehicle involvement
Narrative

Body Camera Video Avaliable.
On 1115714 at approximately 2245 heurs, | Officer J. Van Dyke P# 14721 operating a3 marked patrol unit 1G3 responded to Popeyes 4505 E
Bonanza Rd Las Vegas. NV 85110 reference a Robbery With Deadly Weapon,

Upan my arrival | spoke with the employees, who describad the suspect black male adutt, late 20's, 6°0-6'2, medium build, wearing a gray
hoodle, red bandana over his face, black baseball cap, black jeans, and red gloves.

One of the employees, Karina Agullar DOB 4/26/97, stated hor 1ot ankle was sprained and requested medical. City of Las Vegas Fire Dept
Rescus 108 treated Injury on scene.

Agullar stated to me that at approximately 2240 hours, she was behind the counter clesing the restaurant when she heard Suspect #1 kick the
glass an the wast antry door to the business, causing the glass o shatter. The door was aiready locked, as the business was closed. Tha
mate ran around the counter towards Agullar, and Aguliar attempted to run away from him towards the rear of the business. The sugpsct
kicked and pushed her to the graund, pointed a gray-colorad handgun at her face {possibly a revolver) and shouted "whare's the fucking safe
open the fucking safe!™ He then forced her towards the back of the store towards tha safe. Agullar sprained her left ankie when she fotl and
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sustained minor Injuries. Aguilar states that she was afraid for her safety, and she was crying and still visibly shaken up while | was talking to
her.

Jeronimo Urbina DOB 10119788, the shift manager, states ha was in the rear of the business when he heard what sounded like dishes
breaking, and he startad to come towards the front to se¢ what happéned, when he saw Agultar and other employees running towards him
shouting "He's got e gun!™ Urbina states that he afso attempted to run away from the Suspect, but when the Suspect pointed the gun at him
and shouted “Where's the fucking safe cpen tha fucking safe,” he feit his life was In danger and was fearful for his safety. Out of fear, Urbina
went towards the safe and opened it for the Suspect. The Suspect demanded that Urbina put the money in a bag, pointing towards a plastic
grocory bag from Cardenas Grocery Store. Urbina placed the cash from the safa Into the plastic bag, approximately $1,000-2,000 and the
Suspect took tha bap and yelled for evaryone to gat on the ground. He then left the store through the rear (south) exit. Urbina stated that
while the Suspect was running out, he was shouting something like "Lel's go tel’s go let's get outta here” indicating he may have been
shouting towards an accomplice who was outside the store, perhaps a lockout or getaway driver.

Offtcers also spoke to the restaurant cook, Juan Talngo DOB 7/3/64, who stated he was attempting to run out the back door after ha heard the
other employees shouting about a Suspect with a gun. Ho attampted to exit through the reer (south) door, but felt there was somsbody
bracad up against the door preventing it from opening sc he could net get out Talngo did not see the second suspect outside.

Othsr amployeas Johana Vasquez DOE 2/16/87 and Angelica Ornelas DOB 10/11/94 were a'so present inside the store and witnessed the
Robbery.

Patrol Follow-Up
ID responded and processed the scene. Robbory Detectives Abell P# 8744 and De Paima P# 5297 also responded.

Video survaillance Is avallsble, just needs to be bumed to DVD by Store Manager. Video should be available tomorrow ({14/18/14), or Manday
{11117714). Video 15 only inside the store; no cameras outside the store.
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Las Vegas Metropatitan Police
Department
400 S, Martin Luther King Bivd.

Las Vegas, NV 89106 Arrest / Detective Report

Case Report No.: LLV141117000096

Administrative

Location 2599 § Nellis Bivd Las Veges, NV 89121 Sector fBeat M
Qccuried On (Dale 1 Time) Sunllay 1111612014 12:42:35 AM Or Betwpen (Da[e 1 Time)

Repoaing Officer 09828 - Walt, M. Reporad On 1111612014

Enered By 08828 - Walt, M. Entered On 11/16/2014 10:53:235 PM

Supervisor 07938 - Auten, 1. Foliow Up ProSquad SE13 Foltow Up
Jurisdiction  Clark County Reporl Type  Offlcer Created - Sgt Approval Disposilion  Actlive
Roule To: Retated Cases

Connecling Reporis  Voluntary Statoment

Agslsting Officars:

13672 - Chariton, Noreen B ID Spacialist
Offenses

B W E
Completed Yes. Hate/Bias Demestic Violence  No
Entry Premises Enterad Type Security Tools
Weapons Location Type Restaurant
Criminal Activities

Kid In: RS 200.310.1
Completed Yes Hate/Biss  Unknown (Offenders Motivaticn Not Known) Domeslic Violence  No
Entry Premises Entered Type Security Tools
Weapons  Handgun Localion Type  Restaurant

Criminal Activilies

Victims

Name: Burger King

Victim Type  Business Written Statement Can 1D Suspect
Victimeof  200.380B - ROBBERY WITH A DEADLY WEAPON Damestic Battery
SSN poe Age Sex Race
Height Weight Hair Color Eye Color

Employet/School !

Occupation/Grade Work Schedule

DLN DL State DL Country

Resident Tourist Departure Date

Injuty Injury Weapons

Addresses

Business 2599 S Nellls Bivd Las Vegas, NV 85121 Clark USA

Phones

Business/Work (702) 432-1168

Email

Offender Relationships

Domaeslic Viotence Information

Retationship to Suspect Primary Aggressor Deternined

intimate Relalionship Drug/Aicohol invalvement

Volunlary Statement DV Information Provided

Injury Seventy Medical Altention

Photas Taken

Notes:

Name: Soto Do Masen, Sonla

Victim Type  Individual Whntien Statement  Yes Can D Suspect No
Victimof  200.380B - ROBBERY WITH A DEADLY WEAPON Demeslic Battery  No
50088 - Att Kldrapping, 1st Degree, E'DW(F)-NRS 200.310.1
SSN  802-30-8915 DOB  OBMA&MEST Aga 57 Sex Fomale Race White
Heignt 53" Weight 180 Hair Calor  Black Eye Color  Brown
11712045 11:07 PM LLV1411170000598 Page 10f 8
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Employer!School Burgar King

Occupation/Grade Waork Schedule

DuN DL State Dt Country

Residenl Residont Tourist Departure Dale
Injury Nore Observed Injury Weapons  Handpun
Addresses

Residence 4801 E Sahara #83 Las Yegas, NV 89121 Clark USA

Phones

Callutar (702) T72-8768

Email '

OHender Relalionships
S - Unknown None

$ + Unknown None

S . Unknown None

Domastic Viotance Information

Retationship lo Suspect Primary Aggresser Determined
Intimate Relationship Drugialcshol Involvernent
Volunlary Statement OV Information Providad

Injury Severily Medical Attention

Photos Takan

Notos:

Name: comys, Comell

Victim Type  Individual Wiillen Siatement  Yas Can ID Suspeci  No

Vieim of  200.380B - ROBBERY WITH A DEADLY WEAPCON Domestic Battery  No
50088 - ARt Kidnapping, 13t Degroe, E/DW{F)-NRS 200.310.1

SSN  568-78-T65% 008 03/3¢/980 Apge M Sex  Male Race Black or African American

Height §'9" Waight 165 Hair Cotor  Black Eye Color  Brown

EmployeriScheoal Burger King

Qccupation'Grade Wark Schedule

DLN DL State OL Couniry

Resident Rasident Tourisi Departure Date

Injury  None Observed Injury Weapons ~ Handpun

Addresses ’

Reslidence 60YE Spyglass Dr#8 Las Vegas, NV 89142 Clark USA

Phones

Email

Offender Ralationships
8 . Unknown None

8 « Unknown None

S - Unknown None

Daomestic Vielence tnformation

Reiationship la Suspect Primary Aggressor Detarmined
Inimate Relationship DrugiAlcannt Invotvement
Voluntary Statament DV Information Provided

Injury Severity Medical Atlention

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Remgrp-Catano, Jose

vigim Type  Individual Written Siatemenit  Yes CaniD Suspect  No

Vicim ol 200.380B - ROBBERY WITH A DEADLY WEAPON Domestic Batery Mo
E0484 - Att Kidnapping, 1st Degree, E/DW(FR-NRS 200.210.1

SSN DOB  04M2/1886 Age 18 Sex Male Raca White

Height & 6" Welght 140 Hair Color  Black Eye Color  Brown
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Employer/Schaol
Occupation/Grade

DUN

Resident  Regident
Injury  None Qbserved

Addrosses
Residence

Phones
Email

Offender Relationships
S . Unknown

S - Unknown

§ - Unknown

Domaestic Viclence information
Relationship to Suspect

Intimate Relationship

Voluntary Statement

Injury Severity

Photos Teken

Notes:

Suspects

DL, State

Burger King

Work Schedule
DL Country
Touris| Departure Date
Injury Weapons  Handgun

4767 Sacks Les Vegas, NV 89122 Clark USA

None

None

None
Primary Aggressor Delemined
Drug/Alcohol Involvement

DV Information Provided
Medical Attention

Name: Unknawn

Writien Stmt.  Ne
Aliases
Maniker

Scops ID

Race Black or African American

Sex Male Height 6'4"

Employer/Schoal

Hair Length

Complaxion

Appenrance  Casual Clothes
Coat/Jacket
Bandana mask

Speech mannegs Not Unusual

DLN

Residen!  Unknown

Habitua! Offender Status

Primary Maans of AttackMWeapan
EmployerSehool

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domastic Violence Information
TPO in EHect

Alerls

DOB

Non-English  Ne Language

Age 20-30
Build Thin
Hair Color Black

Occupation/Grade

SSN
Hanoedness
Eye Color

Weight 220

Brown

Hair Style
Facial hair

Eyes
Teeth
Injury/Cendition

Speech Chargeleristics Not Unuguai

DL S1ate DL Country
Tourist Depariure Pla¢e of Binlh

Forced Victim to Ground or Floor
Suspect Armed

Suspect Wore Gloves

Vandalized Premises

MO Factors

Knlife/Cutting
Instrument (icepick, Ax, Weapoan Features
Etc)

Occupation/Grade

DrugfAlcohol Involvement Voluntary Siatement

Injury Severity Medical Atlenticn OV Info provided
Photos Taken Suspect Demeanor

Notes:

Name: Unkpown

Written Stmt.  No Alerls Non-English  Neo Language
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Aliases

Moniker

Scope ID [o]8] ]

Race Black ar African American

Sex Male Helgm 6" 0"

Employer/School

Hair Length

Complexion

Appearance Casual Clothes
CoatfJacket
Bandena mask

Speechmenner  Not Unusual

DLN

Resident  Unknown

Habitual Ofiender Status

Primary Means of Attlack/AWeapon
EmployerSchool

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Vielenco Information
TPQ in Effect

Injury Saverity

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Unknown

Weight 240

Hair Styla
Fecial hair

DL State
Tourist Deparure

Hendgun

Age  20-30 SSN
Build Thin Handedness
Hair Color Black Eye Caolor Brown
Occupation/Grade
Eyes
Teeth
Injury/Condition
Speech Characteristics  Not Unusual
DL Country
Place of Binh
Forcad Victim to Ground or Floor
Suspect Armed
MO Factars Suspect Wore Gloves

Wespon Fealures

Vandalized Premises

Occupation/Srade

DruglAlezhal Invelvement
Medical Attention
Suspect Demeanor

Weitten Stmt.  No Alerls
Aliases
Manikar
Scope (D [8]e)]
Race Black or African Ameritan
Sex Mals Height 56" Weight 150
Employer/Schoot
Hair Length Hair Style
Complaxion Facial hair
Appearance Casug! Clothes

Coat/Jatket

Bandana mask
Speech manner Not Unusual
DLN DL State
Resident  Unknown Tourist Depariure

Habitugl Offender Status

Prmary Means of Attack/Weapan
Employer’School

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Violence Information
TPO in Effect

Handgun

Volunlary Statement
OV info provided

Non-English ~ No Language
Age  20-20 SSK
Build Thin Handedness
Hair Color Black Eye Color Brown
Qccupation/Grade
Eyes
Teeth
tnjury/Condition
Speech Characleristics Not Unusual
DL Country
Place of Birth
Farced Victim to Ground or Floor
Suspect Armed
MO Factors Suspect Wore Gloves
Vandalized Premises

Weapon Features

Occupation/Grade

Drug/Alcohel Involvemant

Voluntary Statement

tnjury Severily Medical Attention DV Info provided
Photos Taken Suspect Demeanor

Notes:

Arrestees

Witnesses
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Other Entities

Properties

Type:  Misc. {Cell Phones, Ammo, Worthless Doc, items not listed)

Siatus Destroyed/Damagsd/Vandallzed Quantlly 1 Value 500.00
Description  Front plass door

Manufacturer Model Serial No.AVIN

Vehicle Year Body Type

Li¢ Plate # Lic Plale State Lic Plate Exp
Insurance Comparny ’

Qwmer V - Burger King

Notes:

Detailed Property Informaticn

Length Width Height
Horse Power Propulsion Serial 8 N
Caliber Barrel Length

Fealures

Recovared Property Information

Recovered Dale Recovered Vale
Revovered Location Recovered Reason
Recovered By Recovared Slock #
Owmner Type Released To
Insurance Rap. Tow Company

Solvability

Colot

Significant MO is Presant

Suspect Can Bo Dascribed
Criminaltstics Work Was Parformed
Witness Pragent - Victim

Modus Operandi

MO Ganoral

Qccupied? Yeas Surrounding Asea  Middle of Block

General Premise  Fasl Foed Restaurant Specific Premise  Room

MO Against Property

Entry Point  Door Exil Point Door Entry Location  Rear
Waost

Entry/Altempl Method Entry Too! Vehicle Entry

Sale Entry Suspect Actions  Covered Acditionat Factars Similar Cdmes In
Hands{Gloves, etc) Neighborhood

Baticlous Damapge
Victim Location  Work/School Electronic Lacks N9 Video Surveiitance Yes
Maid . Inspeciress

MO Against People

Victim-Suspact Retationship Pre-incident Contect  None

Victim Condition Suspec! Salicited/Offered

Suspect Pratended (o Be Suspect Aclions Forced Entry
Had Victim Lie Down
Hit/Assavited During Act
Maticious Damage
Multiple Suspects
Moved Victim's Location
Suspect's Face Concentad

Sexual Acls Vehicle involvement  Suspect A Padestrian
Vietim A Pedestrain

Narrative

749



On 0042 hrs Employees of Burger King at 2599 S Nalifs Bivd Las Vegas, NV 89121 haard the frent south door window gat smashed out.

Romero-Catano told his coworkers, Combs and Soto De Mason 1o go out the back empioyee exit doors. As Combs opened tha door he was
punched In the face and forced back Inslde by & suspect holding a rovaiver handgun.

As Combs went to the ground Romero-Gatano saw the male with the handgun and hit Combs so he turned around and ran outs|de to tha
front of the store and called B11.

While the first suspect had Combs st gunpoint two other suspects entar the back employae exit doors, The two suspects went to the front of
the starg to spa If there was anymors employees. Both of them return to the back and found Soto Do Mason higing In a back room. While
one of the suspoct was holding a large knife both subjects had Soto De Mason walk up to the front but Soto De Masan told them she was not

able to get Into any of the raglsters both suspacts wont to the back where the thied suspect was holding Combe at gunpolnt still and all three
suspects left the Burger King.

Robbery Deat Nelson P#5325 responded and advised was related to Windbreaker series. 1D responded and took digitals.
Patrol Follow-Up
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police

Case Report Ng.; LLV1431117000114

Department
400 S. Martin Luther King Bivad. >
Las Vegas, NV 89106 Arrest / Deteclive Report

Administrative
Lotation 990 N Nollls Las Vegas, NV 89110 Sector /Beat  G3
Occurred On (Date / Time)  Monday 11/17/2014 12:57:00 AM Or Between (Dale / Tine)
Reporting Officer 13658 - Robinson, J, Reporied On 111772044
Entered By 13658 - Robinson, J. Entered On 111772044 1:21:24 AM
Supervisor 08272 - Oliver!, F. Fallow Up Pro S5quad NE 14 Follow Up
Jurisdiction  Clark County Report Type  Officer Created - Sgt Approval Disposhion  Active
Route To: Related Cases
Connacting Repons  Yoluntary Statsment

Vigtim information Gulde
Assisting Officers.:
13819 - Franco, Michasel Officer
07917 - Shrum, Shefley K 1D Spaciatist
08708 - Matiock, Ronald S Detective
Offenses
Completed Yea Hate/Bias  Unknown {Offanders Motivation Not Known) Domestic Viotence  No
Entry Premises Entered Type Securily Tools
Weapons Handgun Location Type  Restaurant

' Blunt Object (Club, Hammar, ete.)
Criminal Activities
Wi D,
Compiateg Yes Hate/Sias  Unknown {Qffandars Motivation Not Known) Domaestic Violence No
Eatey Premises Entered Type Securily Tools
Weapong Handgun Location Type Restaurant
Criminal Aclivities
u Whil f Gunl +
Completed Yes Hate/Bias  Unknown {Offenders Motivation Not Kngwn) Domaeslic Violence  No
Eatry  Forcible Premisas Enlared Type Securily Dead Bolis Tools
Camera
Exterior Lights
Weapons Location Type  Restaurant
Criminal Activities
Kidnapping, 1at Doaree, EMWIFI-NRS 200.310.1
Completed Yes Hate/Bias  Unkneown {Offanders Mativation Not Known) Domaslic Violence  No
Entry Premises Entered Type Securty Tools
Weapons  Blunt Object (Clud, Hammaer, ete.) Location Type  Restaurant
Handgun
Crhming Activilies
Victims
Name: Wendv's
Victim Type  Bus!ness ’ Written Statement Can ID Suspect
victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 Domaslic Battery
80426 - Burglary While Pass Of Gun/Dwi{F)-NRS 205.060.4

SSN DoB Age Sex Race
Height Weight - Hair Color Eye Color
Employer/School
Occupalion/Grade Work Schedute
DLN DL State DL Country
Residenl Tourist Departure Date
Injury injury Weapons
Addresses
Business 680 N Nalis Las Vegas, NV 83110
Phones
Cellular (702) 452-9880
Emall
11772015 11:07 PM LLV141117000114 Pago 10f7
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Offender Relztionships
Domeslic Viotance information

Relationship to Suspect Primary Aggressor Determined
Intimata Re'ationship Drug/Alcohol involvement
Voluntary Statement DV information Provided

injury Severty Medicat Atlention

Pnotos Taken

Notes:

Name: mormguln, Noemy

Victim Type  Individual Wiitten Stalemeni  Yes Can ID Suspect  No
vidiim of 63138 - Robbery, EDW(F)-NRS 200.380 Dometstic Betiery No
600565 - Kidnapping, 1st Degree, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.310.1

SSN  623.88-3498 DOB 10191986 Age 19 Sax  Female Race  White

Height  4'11° Weight 130 Hair Color  Black Eye Color  Brown

Employar/Schoo!

Occupation/Grade Werk Sghedule

OLN DL State DL Counley

Resident Resident Tourist Depariure Date

injury None Observed Injury Weapens  Blunt Object (Club, Hammer, etc.)
Handgun

Addrosses
Residance 5900 W Tropicana # 143 Las Vegas, NV 89103

Phanes
Celluler (702) 622-8790

Email

Offendar Relationships
8. Unknown 1 Nono

S - Unkndwn 2 None

S - Unknown 3 None

Domestic Violence Information

Relationship to Suspect Primary Aggressot Determined
Intimate Retationship Drug/Alcohal Involvement
Voluntary Stalement DV Informetion Provided

Injury Severity Medical Attention

Photas Taken

Notes:

Name: Fannon, Janie

Victim Typa  Individua! Written Statemmenl  Yes Can ID Suspect  Ne

Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E'DW{F)-NRS 200.380 Domestic Bettery No
50056 - Kidnapping, 16t Degreo, E/DW{F)}-NRS 200.310.1

SSN  453-25-8013 DOB 08027972 Age 41 Sex Female Race  Whitp

Height 547 Waeight 120 Hair Color  Brown Eye Cofor Brown

Employer/School Wendys

Occupation/Grade Wark Schedule

DN DL State DL Country

Resident  Resldent Tourist Depariure Date

Injuty  None Qbserved Injury Weapons  Blunt Object (Club, Hammer, otc.)

Handgun

Addresses

Rosldence 5389 Floating Flower Ave Lat Vegas, NV 89139

Phones

Celtular {463) 203-3608

BugiressWork {702) 452-8880

Email

Offender Relationships
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§ - Unknrown 1 None
8 - Unknown 2 None
S - Unknown 2 None

Domaostic Violence Information

Relatianship to Suspect Primary Aggressor Determined
Inlimale Relatianship DrugiAlcohai involvement
Voluatary Statement DV Information Proviged

Injury Severlty Medical Attention

Phatos Taken

Notes:

Name: Lopgx, Jeun

Victim Type  Individual Wrillen Statemenl  Yes Can ID Suspect No
victim of 50138 - Robbery, E'OW(F)-NRS 200.380 Domestic Battery No
50855 - Kidnapping, 18t Degree, E/DW{F).NRS 200.310.1

SSN  E30-80-8513 DOB  10/17/1995 Age 19 Sex Male Race  White

Heigh & 6" Weight 138 Hair Cator  Black Eye Color  Brown

Emplgyer/Sehonl Wendys

OctapationGrade Work Schedule

DLN DL State DL Country

Resident Resfdent Tourisi Deparure Date )

Injury None Observed Injury Weapons  Blunt Object {Club, Hammar, etc.)
Handgun

Addresses
Residence 3213 El Morro Ave Las Vegas, NV 88101
Business 990 N Nellis Las Vegas, NV 88110

Phones
Cellutar {702) 504.5045
BusinesaWork {702} 452-5980

Email

Offender Ralationghips
S - Upknown 1 None

S - Unknown 2 None
§ -Unknown 3 None

Domestic Violence Information

Relationship 10 Suspect Primary Aggressor Deiermined
Inlimate Relationship OrugfAlcoho!l involvement
Valuntary Siatement OV Informaticn Pravided

Injury Severity Medica! Atention

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Maddaford, Aothony

Viclim Type  Individual Writlen Statement  Yos Can ID Suspact  No
victimof 50138 - Robbery, EJDW(F)-NRS 200.380 Domestic Battery No
B00E6 - Kidnapping, 1st Degree, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.310.1

SSN  485-88-9984 DOB 017031984 Age 30 Sex Male Race White

Helght  8'2" Welght 185 Hair Color  Brown Eye Color  Hazet

Employer/School Wendys

OccupalloniGrade Work Schedule

DLN DL State OL Country

Residen! Resldent Tourist Depanure Date

Injury None Observed Injury Wegpons  Blunt Object (Club, Hammaer, etc.)
Handgun

Addresses

Residence 802 Crazy Horse Way Las Vegas, NV 89110
Business 930 N Nellls Las Vegas, NV 5110
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Phones
Cellular (702) 531-5764
BusinessMWork (702) 452-9990

Email

Otfender Relationships
5 . Unknown 1 Nane

S - Unknown 2 None
& - Unknown 3 None

Domestic Violence Informat/on

Relationship o Suspect Primary Aggressor Determined
Intimate Relationship DrugiAlcahat Involverment
Voluntary Staiement O information Provided

Injury Severity Medical Atention

Fhotos Taken .

Notes:

Name: Mpndoza, Juan

Victim Type  Individual Written Slalement  Yes Can 1D Suspect  No
victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW{F)-NRS 200.380 Domeslic Baitery No
50223 - Battery W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.481.2E
£0055 - Kidnapping, 1st Degree, EOW(F}NRS 200.310.1

SS5N  815-58-0176 008  0BM2M982 Age 22 Sex Male Race White

Height &' 0“ weight 202 Hair Coior  Brown Eye Color  Brown

Employer/School Wendys

Occupation/Grade Work Schedule

DLN DL Stale DL Country

Resident Resldant Tourist Departure Date

Injury  Apparant Minor Injury Injury Weapons  Blunt Object {Club, Hammer, atc.)
Handgun

Addrasses

Resldence 3055 S Nellis #1109 Las Vegas, NV 89121

Phones

Callular {702) 234-8501

Busineas/Wark {702) 4528930

Email

Offender Relationships
S -Unknown 1 None

§ -Unknown 2 Nono

S -Unknown 3 None

Domestic Violance information

Relationship 1o Suspect Primary Aggressor Determinet!
intimate Refalionship Drug/Alcohel Involvement
Voluniary Statement DV Information Provided

injury Severlly Medical Attention

Pholos Taken

Nates:

Suspects

Name: Upknown 4
Writlen Stmi, Alerts Non-English Language

Aliases
Maniker

Scope ID DoB Age  20-30 55n
Builg

Race 8lack or Africen Ameancan Thin Handedness
Sex Male Height §' 7" Weight Hair Colot Eye Color
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Employer/School

Hair Length

Comptaxion
Appearance

Speech mannar

DLN

Residem

Habitual OHender Status

Primary Méans of Attack/\Waapon
Employer/School

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addressos

Phones

Domestic Viglenes Information
TPQO in Effect
Injury Severily
Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Unknown 2
Written Stmt.

Alisses
Maniker

Scope ID
Race Bilack or African Amarican
Sex Mals Height 6" 1"
Employet/Schoo!

Hair Length

Complexion

Appearance

Speech manner

DLN

Resident

Habitual Offender Slatus

Primary Means of AttackMWeapon
Employer/Schoal

Scers, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phonas

Domestic Violence Information
TPO in Effect

Injury Saverily

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Unknown 3
Wiittan Stmt.

Aljases
Maniker

Scope 1D 0oB
Race Black ar African American
Sex Female Height 56"
Employer,Schoot

Hair Length

Camplexion

Appearance

Speach manner

DLN

Resident

Habitual Cifender Status

ooB

Hair Style
Facial hair

Occupation/Grade
Eyes
Teeth

InjuryiCondition
Speech Characterigtics

OL Slate
Tourist Departure

Blunt Object (Club,
Hammar, otc.)

Crug/Atconol Involvemaent

Medicai Attention
Suspact Demeanor

Alens

Waight

Hair Siyte
Facial hair |

Age

DL Country
Piace of Birth
MO Factors

Weapon Features
Occupation/Grade

Voluntary Slatement
DV Info providad

Non-English Language

20-30
Build

Hair Colar

Occupatien/Grade

SSN
Thin Handedneas
Eve Color Brown
Eyes
Teeth

Injury/Condilion
Speech Characteristics

DL S1ate
Tourist Deparure

Biunt Cbject {Club,
Hammer, etc.)

Drug/Aicoho! Involvement

Medical Attention
Suspeci Demeaner

Alens

Weight

Hair Style
Facial hair

Age

DL Cauntry
Ptace of Birth
MO Factors

Weapon Fealures
Qccupation/Grade

Voluntary Slatemeni
DV tnio provided

Non-English Language

20-30
Build

Hair Color
QOccupation'Grade

SSN
Heavy Handedness
Eye Color Brown
Eyes

Teeth

InjuryiCondition
Speech Characterislics

DL State
Tourist Daparture

Ot. Country
Place of Bith
MO Facters.
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Primary Means aof AltackAVeapon Handgun Weapon Features Blua Steel
EmployerfSchoo! Cecupation/Grade

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Violente Information

TPO in Effect Drug/Alcohof Involvernent Volumary Statement
injury Severity Medical Altention OV Info providea
Photos Taken Suspect Demeanor

Notes:

Arrestees

Witnesses

Other Entities

Properties

Type:  Currency, Colns, Securitles, Cash

Status Stolen Quantily  unk Vawe 1,000.00 Cotor
Description  approx. $1,000 In US currency

Manufacturer Mode! Serial No \WIN

Vehicle Year Body Type

tic Plate # Lic Plale Siate Lic Plate Exp

Insurance Company

Owner V - Waendy's

Naotes:

Datailed Property Information

Lenpth Widih Haighi
Horse Power Propulsion Serial #

Caliber Barrel Length

Fealures

Recovered Property Information

Recovered Dale Recovered Value
Reccvered Lacatian Recovared Reason
Recoveres By Recovered Stock #
Qwner Type Released To
Insurance Rep. Tow Company
Solvability

Physlcal Evidance Is Present
Criminalistics Work Was Performed
Suspect Can Be Described

Witness Prasent - Other

Witness Present - Victim

Modus Oparandi

MO General
Occupied? Yas Sufrounding Area  Corner
General Premise  Fast Food Restaurant Specilic Premise Room
MO Against Property
Entry Point  Door Exit Point  Door Enlry Location  Door
East
South
Raar
Entry/Attempt Methad  Smesh and Grab Entry Tool  Other Vehicle Eniry
Safe Entry  Kay/Combination Susped] Actions  Covered Additiona! Factors Similar Crimes In
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Hands(Gloves, etc) Nelghborhood

Victim Location  On tha Promisas Electronic Locks No Video Surveillance Yes
Maid Inspectress
MO Agalnst People . .
victim-Suspect Relationship Pre-Incident Contact  None
Victim Condition Suspeci Solicited/Offered
Suspeci Pretended 10 Be Suspect Actions Forced Entry
Had Victim Lis Down

HIvAssaultad During Act
Moved Victim's Location

Multiple Suspects
PulledHeld/Grabbed Victim
Suspect's Faca Concealed
Sexual Acts Vehicle Involvement
Narrative

On 11-17-14 at 00:57 hours Mamoquin was sitting Inslde the Wendy's lobby on her phone awaiting her boyfriend (Lopez) Lo get off. The labby
was closed and socuro 8s the business was closing down. Whila Morroguin was on her phene Suspect #1 had a bfack matal object, pointed It
al her, and told her to get up. Morroquin was in disbellef at what was occurring and did not move. Suspect #1 then pulled her up out of her
chalr and shoved hor eacorting her to tho back of the business hshind the counter. Once bohind the doar thay encountared Fannon, Lopez,
and Maddaford who were working. Fannen, Lopez, and Maddaford noticed at this time that there were two additional suspects Unknown #2
and Unknown #3 ail weering gloves.

Suspects #1 and #2 the warked tegether to control Morroguin, Fannon, Lopez, and Maddaford by forcing them over near the stove and deap
fryer and crdering them to 13y down. Mendoxa Is the night manager and was coming out of the business as this was occunring. Mendoza was
then confrontad by Unknawn #2 and #3 at gun polnt and ordered to get back in the affice and apen tha szfe. Mendoza was shocked at what
was atcurring and unable 1o process the order initially. At this time Unknown 2 yealled, “You think this is a game?* and demand Mendoza to
open the safe. Unknown #3 than pistol whipped Mendoza (n the face causing e lacaration to his uppar right eyebrow. Oncoe struck, Mendoza
complied and went back into the office as Unknown 82 and &3 followed. Mendoza opened the safe and tried to put the money into & beg for
them. Unknown #2 pushed Mendoza out of the way reached in and grabbed the meney (approximately §1,000) and loaded it into a blue duftle

style hag,

All suspacts then exited the business through the rear Northeast corner exit near the menagers office. They then left the area in an unknown
direction with an unknown moda of travel, At this time Morroquin phoned police to report the ¢rime,

Offlcar Franco and | responded to the scans. Upon arrival the front common accass doors ware closed and locked. We walked around and
discovernd the Southeast side reer glass door emashed out (entry paint). We entered the business and began clearing il. Inside the business
wa located Morrogquin, Fannon, {_opez, Maddaford, and Mendoza hidden in the back of the business.

Patrol Fallow-Up

Related to robbery at 2599 S. Nellis (Burger King) under LVMPD event # LLV141117000050.
C17 respanded and pracessed the scene. R13 also advised and responded. Video was able to be viewed but is of very poor quality.

757



Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department
400 S. Martin Luther King Bivd.
Las Vegas, NV 89106

Administrative

Case Report No.: LLV141121000119

Arrest / Detective Report

Localion 7150 W. Lk Wead Las Vegas, NV 89128
Occurred On (Date / Time}  Friday 14/24/2014 12:55:00 AM

Reporting Officer 08716 - Hagor, D.
Entered By 08716 - Hager, D.
Supervisor 07071 - Hangen, J.

Jurisgiction  Las Vegas, Clty of
Route To:
Connecling Reports

Follow Up
Raporl Type

Voluntary Staterment
Assisting Officers:

07628 - Robertson, Jeremy P
13177 - Klosterman, Olivia J

Officer
ID Specialist

Offenses

Offlcer Created - Sgt Approval

Sector Beat V6
Or Belween (Date / Time)
Repgned Oon 1172912014
Entered On 1172172014 1:52:21 AM

Pro Squas NW 13 Fallow Up

Dispasition  Active

Related Cases

200,
Completad Yes
Entry
Weapons  Handgun

Ciiminal Activities

Hale/Bias  None (No Bias)
Premises Entered

2
Hate/Bias  Ncne {No Bias)
Premises Enlered

Complated Yes
Entry
Weapons Handgun

Crminal Activities

Hate/Bias
Premises Entered

Completed Yes
Entry
Weapons

Criminal Activities

Victims

Domeslic Violence  No
Type Securily Tools

Location Type  Restaurant

Domestic Viclence  No
Type Security Tools

Location Type Restaurant )

Damestic Vitence  No
Type Security - Tools
Location Type  Rostaurant

Name: Wondy's

Victim Type
Victim of

Business
50138 - Robbery, E'DW(F)-NRS 200.380

SSN

Heighl
Employet/Schocl
Occupation/Grade
DLN

Resident

Injury

pog
Weigh!

DL State

Addrasses
Residence

Phones

BusineassMWork {T02) 363-1888

Ematl

Qtender Relatlonships
Domeslic Violence Information
Relationship to Suspect
Intimete Retationship
Volunlary Statement

Injury Severily

Pholos Taken

Nates:

Name: Hubbard, Jessica
11712016 14:06 PM

Wiitten Statement

Age
Hair Color

LLV141121000118

Can ID Suspsct
Domesiic Battery
Sex Race
Eve Color

Wark Schedule
DL Country
Taurist Departure Date
Injury Weapons

T160 W. Lk Mead Las Vegas, NV 80128 Clark USA

Primary Aggressor Oetarmined
Drug/aicohol Involvement

DV Information Provided
Medical Altention

Page 10of5
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individual
50201 - Asseult, W/Dw{F)-NRS 200.471.28
50138 - Robbery, E'DW(F)-NRS 200.380

victim Type
Victim of

Written Statement

Yes Can ID Suspect  Yes

Domestic Battery No

! $00%1 - Kidnapping, 16t Degres({F)-NRS 200.310.1

SSN  470-17-8965
Height B4
Emptoyer/Schaol
Occupation/Grade
OLN

Resident  Resldent
tnjury  Nene Observed

ooB
Weight
Wendy's
Manager
OL State

0711811989
226

Addresses
Residence

Phones
Collular
Business/Work

{702) 7526047
{702) 383-188S

Emall

Qffender Relationships
S - Unknown ¢ None

5 - Unknown 2 None
Domesitic Violence information

Relationship ta Suspect

latimate Relationship

Volunlary Stetement

Injury Severity

Photos Taken

Notes:

Suspects

Age 26
Hair Color

Race Whits

Green

Fomale
Eye Color

Séx
Blond

Work Schedule
DL Country
Tourigl Departure Date
Injury Weapons  Handgun

2881 Rancho, Apt 1002 Las Vepgas, NV 89130 Clark USA

Primary Aggiessor Detemnined
DrugrAlcohol Invotvement

OV information Provided
Medical Allention

Name: Upknown 1

Written Stmi.  No Alerts
Aliasos

Monikor

Scope 1D DoB
Race Black or African Americen
Sex Male Height 60"
EmptoyeriSchool

Hair Length  Medium
Complexion  Dark

Appearance

Speech manner

DLN

Resident

RHabitual Offender Status

Primary Means of Altack/Meapon
Employar/Scnool

Weighl
Hair Style
Facial hair
DL State
Tourist Depariure
Handgun
Scars, Marks and Tattaos
Addresses
Phénes
Domestic Violence Information
TPO in Effect
Injury Sewverity
Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Upkpown 2

Wiitten Stmi. No Alerts

Drug/Alcohol Involvement
Medical Aliention
Suspect Demeanor

Mon-Englisk Language

Age  25-30
Build
Hair Color Black

Occupation'Grade

SEN
Handedness
Eye Coler

Right
Brown

Curly

Full Board
Injury/Condition
Speech Characteristics

Eyes
Teeth

DL Country
Place of Birth
MO Factors
‘Weapon Features
OccupationyGrade

Revolver

Voluniary Statemem
DV tnfo provided

Non-English Language

—
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Aliases
Moniker

Scope 1D DOB
Race Black or African American
Sex Male Helght §'8°
Empicyer/School

Hair Length

Comptexipn  Dark

Appearance

Speech manner

DLN

Resident

Habitua! Offender Status

Primary Means of AltackAWeapon
EmployeriSchoot

Age
Weight
Hair Styla
Facial hair

DL State
Tourist Departure

None
Scars, Marks and Tattoos

Addresses

Phanes

PDamestic Violeneo Information

TPO in Effect

Injury Severity
Phetos Taken

Drug/Alcohol invaivement
Medical Atlention
Suspact Demeanor

Notes:

Arrestees

Build
Hair Cator

25-30 SSN
Handednass
Black Eye Colo

Occupation/Grade

Brown

Eyes
Teeth

Injury/Condition
Speech Charocteristics

DL Country
Place of Binh
MO Faclols

Weapon Features
Occupation/Grade

Veluntary Statement

DV Inlo provided

Witnesses

Witness Name: Morples, Jorge

Written Statemenl  Yes Can 1D Suspect

SSN  618-50-4546
Sex Male

008
Height

05/2211996

51 Weighi 230

Addigsses
Resldence

Phones

Collular (702) 230-2867

Notes!

Other Entities

Age

No Testily

18
Hair Color

Race Unknown

Brown Eye Colot

4933 Integrity Las Veges, NV 89128 Clark USA

Brown

Properties

Type:  Currency, Coins, Sacurities, Cash

Stolen
US Curroncy

Status
Description
Manufacturer
Vehicle Ysar
Lic Plate #
insursnce Company
Qwner V -Wendy's
Notes:

Maodel
Body Typa
Lic Piale State

Detailed Property Information

Width
Propuision Serial #
Barral Length

Length
Horge Power
Caliber
Features

Recovered Property Information

Quantity 1 Value 200.00
Setial No.\WIN

Lic Piate Exp

Height

Colar



Recovered Date
Recovered Lacation
Recovered By
QOwner Typa
Insurance Rep.

Type:

Siatus
Description
Manufaclurer
Vehicle Year
Lic Plate #
tnsurance Cormpany
Owner Y -Wendy's
Noles:

Glass Panel Door

Datailed Proparty Information

Lenglh
Horse Power
Csliber
Features

Rocovered Property Information

Recovered Dale
Recovered Logelion
Recovered By
Owner Type
Insurance Rep.

Solvability

Destroyed/Damaged/Yandalized

Recovered Value
Recavered Reason
Recovered Stock #
Released To

Tow Company

Misc. {Cell Phones, Ammo, Weorthleas Doc, items not ligted)

Quaniity 1

Mode!

Body Type

Lic Plate State

Width

Propulsion Serial #
Barrel Length

Recovered Vaiue
Recovered Reason
Recovered Stock #
Reteased To

Tow Company

Vatue 400,00 Color
Seria! NoVIN

Lic Piate Exp

Heig

Suspect Can Be Describad
Physical Evidence s Present
Witness Present - Other

Modus Operandi

MO Ganeral

Occupied? Yeas

General Premise  Fast Food Restaurant
MO Against Property

Enlry Point  Door

Entry/Attempt Method

Safe Entry
Victim Location  On tho Pramises
Maid

MO Against Pecplo

Victim-Suspect Retalionship

Victim Condition

Suspect Protended to Be

Sexual Acls

Narrative

Surrounding Area
Specific Premise

Exit Point  Door
Entry Teol  Rock/Brick
Suspect Aclions  Maliclous Damage
Selective In Loot
Eteciranic Locks
Inspectrass

Pre-incident Contact
Suspect Solicited/Qlfered
Suspect Actions

Vehicle Involvement

Corner
Room

Entry Location
Vehicle Entry
Additional Factors

Video Surveillance Yes

Opening/Closing-Business

Forced Entry
Hit/Assauited During Act
Multiple Suspects
Suspect’s Face Concealed

On 11-21-14, at nﬁpruxlmahly 0065 hours, a ¢all was recolved at LVMPD dispateh in reference to two subjects were seen breaking the glass
door to the Wendy's locatad et T160 W, Leke Mead, Las Vegas, NV, 69128,

At approximately 0057 hours, Officer J. Robertson P#7628, working a3 marked unit WV, arrived at the T150 V. Lake Mead location. Upan
arrival Oficer Robertson made contact with the manager the Wendy's identified as, Jesslca Hubbard, 07-18-88. Hubbard stated that at
approximately 0055 hours, she was in the main office area and heard gless breakage. Shortly after she was approached by two black male
adufts. Ono of the sugpects was deacribed as: in his mid twontles, §°, medium build, wearing a black and yeliow surglcal mask, grey hooded
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department 3
400 S. Martin Luther King Bivd. o

Las Vegas, NV 89106 Arrest / Deteclive Report

Administrative

Case Report No.: LLV141123003576

Secipr iBeat X1

11723/2014 11:57:34 PM

Follow Up
Disposilion  Active

Location 7380 W Cheyene Las Veges, NV 80120
Occurred On (Date / Time)  Sunday 11232014 11:07:27 PM Or Belween (Date / Time)
Reporiing Officar 06062 - Cahoon, G. Reporied On 1122014
Enlered By 08062 - Cahcon, G. Entered On
Supervisor 08090 - Meyers, R. Follow Up Pra Squad  NW 11
Jurisdiction  Las Vegas, City of Repait Type  Officer Created - Sgt Approval
Route To: . Related Cases  LLV141123003630
Connecling Reports  Victim information Guide

Voluntary Statemant

Assisting Officers:

13451 - Grego-Smith, Melik O
14302 - Carter, Jason L
05746 - Lorson, Karl J

14402 - Tucker, Kristen

Officar
QOfficer
Detective

iD Specialist

Offenses

Robbery, E N ,.380
Gompleled Yas HatefBias  Unknown (Oflanderyg Motivation Not Known}
Entry Premises Entered Type Secutlty
Weopons  Handgun

Handgun - Automatic
Criminal Activilies

Victims

Location Typa  Restavrant

Domeslic Violenge  No

Togls

Name: El Pollo Logo

Victim Type  Business Wrilten Statement
victimof 50138 - Robbery, EIDW{F}-NRS 200.360

SSN DOB Age Sex
Height Weight Hair Color
Employer/School

Occupalion/Grade

DLN OL Stete OL Country

Resident Tourist Deparivie Dale
Ijury Injury Weapons

Eye Color

Work Scheduie

Addresses

Business 7380 W Cheyene Las Vegas, NV 88128 Clark USA

Phones
BusinessiWork {702) 658-6564
Email

Offender Relatignships
Domastic Violence Infarmalion

Retationship to Suspeci Primary Aggressor Determmined
Intimate Relationship DrugiAlcohal lnvelvement
Voluntary Statement . DV informeticn Provided

Injury Severty Medical Atlention

Phaotos Teken

Notas.

Namae: Lopez, Laura

Victim Type  Individual Writlen Statement  Yes

Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F}-NRS 200.380

SSN  §30-83-2623 DOB  0¥2211604 Age 20 Sex Female
Height Weight Hair Color Eye Color
EmployeriSchoal El Pollo Loco

Occupation/Grada Manager Work Schedule
11712015 11:08 PM LEV141123003576

763

Can ID Suspeci

Domeslic Battery

Race

Can iD Suspect No

Domastic Battery No

Race Unknown
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OLN CL Swate DL Counry
Residen{ Resldent Touris! Departure Date
Injury None Qbserved Injury Weapons  Handgun
Handgun - Automatic

Addrasses
Business 7380 W Cheyono Las Vegas, NV 88128 Clark USA
Reslidonce 1832 Double Detight NLV, NV 85030 Clark USA

Phones

BusinassWark (702) 658-5564
Cellular (702) 8155237
Email

Offender Relationships
Domestic Violgnce Information

Refationship to Suspect Primary Aggressor Determinad
inianate Relationship DrugiAlcahot Invelvement
Voluniary Statement DV Information Provided

Injury Severity Medical Atlention

Photes Taken

Notas:

Name: silve-Rios, Yanaia

Victim Type  Individual Writlen Siatement  Yes Can ID Suspect  Yes
Victimof 50138 - Robbery, E/DW{F)-NRS 200,380 Domestic Battery No
SSN DOB  12meM992 Age 21 Sex Female Race Unknown
Height Weight Hair Color Eye Color
Employer/Schoal €1 Pollo Loco
Occupation/Grade Work Schedule
DLN DL State OL Country
Resident Raesident Toaurisl Depariyre Date
Injury  None Observed injury Weapons  Handgun
Handgun . Automatic
Addresses
Buginoss 7380 W Choyene Las Vegas, NV 89128 Clark USA
Residence 4124 Maple Hi Las Vegas, NV 888128 Clark USA
Phones
BuginessWork {702) €58-6664
Cetlular {702) 403-7428
Email

Offender Relationships
Demestic Violence information

Relationship to Suspect Primary Aggrassar Delermined
Intimate Relaticnship Drug/Aleahio! tnvolvement
Voluniary Statemeni 0V information Proviaed
Injury Severity Madicat Altention
Pholos Taken
Notes:
Name: Lopez, tuls
Viclim Type  Individual Written Ststoment  Yes CanlID Suspect No
Viclimof 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 Domestic Banery Neo
SSN  530-87-8122 DOB  05/06/1995 Age 18 Sex Male Race Unknown
Height Weight Hair Color Eve Color
Employer/Schoot El Polto Loco
Qccupation/Grade Work Schedule
DN DL Siate DL Country
Residen! Resident Taurist Deparnyra Oale
Injury  Nonae Observad Injury Weapons  Handgun
Hendgun - Automatic
Addresses
Businoss 7380 W Cheyeno Las Vegas, NV 89120 Clark USA
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Residence

Phones
Businass/Work
Collular

(702) 658-6564
(702) 6890345

Emai}

Offander Relationships
Domeslic Violence Information
Relationship to Suspect
Intimate Relationship
Voluntary Siatement

injury Severily

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: Bautisis, Hernendez Serglo

1832 Double Delight NLV, NV 89030 Clark USA

Primary Aggressor Determined
DrugfAlcohal Involvement

DV Information Provided
Medical Attention

Victim Type  Individual Written Stalement  Yes Can 1D Suspect  Yes
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 Domeslic Battery No
SSN DCB  09r0p/1988 Age 26 Sex Male Rece  Unknown
Heighi Weight Hair Celor Eye Color
Empioyer/School El Pollo Logo
QOccupalion/Grade Work Schedule
DLM OL State DL Country
Resident Resident Teurist Depanure Date
Injury None Observed Injury Weapons  Handgun

Handgun - Automatic

Addresses
Business
Resldence

Phones
Business/Waork
Cellular

{T02) 858-8564
(702) 8124847

Email

Ofiender Relatlonships
Domestic Violence Information
Relationship to Suspect
Intimate Relationship
Voluntary Stalement

injury Severily

Photos Taken

Notes:

Suspects

7360 W Cheyene Las Vegas, NV 88128 Clark USA
1001 N Pecos. Apt 51 Les Vegas, NV 83101 Clark USA

Primary Aggressor Detemmined
Drug/Aicoha! involvement

DV Information Provided
Medieal Atlention

Name; Unkngwn

Written Simt.  No Alerts
Aliases

Moniker

Scope ID coB
Race Black or African American
Sex Male Height §'9"
Employer/Schoal
Hair Length
Complexion
Appearance
Speech manner
DLN

Resident
Habitual Offender Statys

Primary Means of Attack/Weapon
Employer/School

Weight

Hair Style
Faciat hair

Profane / Abusive

DL Stale
Tourist Geparture

»vimAS e S0 . mm e

Handgun - Autematic

Non-English Language
Age 20 SSN
Build Medium Handedness
Hair Cotar Eye Color
Qccupation’Grade
Eyes
Teeth
Injury/Condition
Speech Characteristics
DL Couniry
Place of Birth
MO Faclors

Weapon Feaatures
Occupalion/Grade

fHArs P amARRATE. -
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Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Violencs Information

TPO in Effect Crug/Alcohol tnvolvement Voluntary Statement
Injury Severity Madical Altention DV info provided
Photos Taken Suspect Demeanor

Notes:

Name: Unknawn
Written Simt.  No Alerts Nea-Erglish . Language

-Ajiaces .
Monikar

Scope ID DpoB Age 20 SSN

Race Black or African American Build Medium Handedness
Sex Male Height §'9" Weight Hair Color Eye Color
Employer’School Occupation/Grade

Hair Length Hair Style Eyes
Complexion Facial hair Teelh
Appearance tnjuryiConditian

Speech manner Speech Characlerislics

OLN DL State Dt Country

Rasident Tourist Departure Place of Birth
Hahitual Offender Status MO Faclors

Primary Means of Attack/Weapon Handgun Weapon Festures Revolver
Employer/School Qccupation/Crade

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Violence information

TPO in Eftect Drug/Alcohol Involvernent Voluntary Stalement
injury Severity Medical Attention DV Info provided
Phatos Taken Suspect Demeanors

Notes:

Arrestees

Witnesses

Other Entities

Properties

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash

Status Stolen Quantity % Value 1,750.00 Color
Oascriplion  Currency

Manufacturer Model Serial NoWVIN

Vehicle Year Body Type

Lic Plate # Lic Plate State Lic Plate Exp

Insurance Company

Cwner ¥ - El Polio Loco

Notes: Currency was both cash and change.

Datailed Property Information

Leagth Width Height
Horse Power Propulsion Serial #

Caliber Barre! Lenglh

Fealures

Recovered Propenty Information



Recovered Date
Recovered Locstion
Recovered By
Owner Type
tnsurance Rep.

Type:

Stolen
cell phone
Apple

Siatus.
Dascription
Manufacturer
Vahicle Yaar
Lic Plate #
Insurance Company

Owner V - Lopez, Laura
Netes:

Detailed Property Information

Lenglh
Horse Power
Caliber
Featuras

Recovered Property information

Recovered Dalg
Recovered Location
Recoverad By
Owner Type
Insuranca Rep.

Solvabitity

Recoverad Velue
Recovered Reason
Recovered Stack #
Reteated To

Tow Company

Misc. (Cell Phones, Ammo, Worthless Doc, ftems not listed)

Quantity
Modei IPhene

Body Type

Lic Ptate State

Cell phone taken from victim, the phone number ks 702-515-5237

Width
Propuision Serial #
Barrel Length

Recovered Value
Recovered Reason
Recovered Stock #
Released To

Tow Company

Valve 900.00
Serial No.\VIN

Lic Plate Exp

Height

Coigt

Criminalistics Work Was Performed
Significant MO is Present

Physica! Evidance is Present
Suspact Can Be Dascribed

Witnesa Present - Victim

Modus Operandi

MO General

Occupisd? Yes
General Premise  Restauranl
MO Against Property

Entey Peint Door

Entry/Atiempt Method  Bodily Force
Sale Eniry

Viclim Location  On the Premises

Maid
MO Against People
Victim-Suspec! Relalionship

Victim Condition
Suspeci Pretended lo 8o

Sexual Acts

Narrative

Surrounding Area
Specific Pramisa

Exit Point Daor

Entry Too!

Suspacl Actions  Covered

Hands(Gloves, etc)

Cut/Discon, Phong
Cord
Selective in Loot
Electronic Locks
Inspeciress

Pre-incident Contact
Suspect SolicitediOfferad
Suspect Actions

Vehicle involvement

767

Middie of Block
Room

Entry Locstien  Door
East

Vehicle Entry

Addltional Faclars

Video Surveillance Yeos

Opening/Closing-Business

Forced Entry

Had Victim Bag Proparty
Moved Victim's Location
Multiple Suspects

Picked Pocket

Suspect's Face Concealed



On 14-23-14 at about 2309 hours | Officer G. Cahoen P#6062 who was operating es marked patrof unit 1x31 responded to 7380 W. Cheyenne
Las Vegas, Nevada, 39128 (El Polo Loco) in reference to a robbary call. Officer Grego-Smith P# 13451 who was operating as marked patrol
unit 1x24, as well as Officer J. Cartar P#14302 who was operating as marked patrol unit 1v45 also responded.

Upon our arrival wa made contast with the 4 employee's who were at the business ¢leaning up aRer closing. | spoke to El Fello Loco
Manager Laura Lopez. Sha stated to me the business had been ¢losed about an hour. She stated that employee Siiva-Rios, Yanais hed
exited out a rear door to go to her vehicle. While Sliva-Rios stepped out, Lopex sald she heard a crash and thought it was the ice machine.
Lopaz looked arbund the counter towards the front door when she observed the glass door was shatiared and suspect 1 2 BMA in dark
clothing and a surgical mask and a sem|-auto pistol jumping over the counter yelling for everyone to get on tha flocr. This guspect also
smashed the telaphone that was in the office

At that same time e second BMA came in the back door with Silva-Rios, he was waaring a grey hoody and black pants ha was brandishing a
ravolvar, Both suspocts cursed at the 4 employees yalling at them to get on the ground. Employee Bautista-Hemandez, Serglo stated the
second BMA with the revolver pointed it at his head telling him to get on the ground. All employees then got on the ground. The first BMA
that had come over the counter took the manager Lopez to the officer and made her open the safs, to which she complled, Lopez stated she
wag geared for her life. Lopez stated that the suspect hed a biue bag {reusable from Walmart) in which she placed the money into, She
stated ha even scooped some of the money out. Ha then told stated to open the reglister but tho Lopaz told him thera was no money in IL
The BMA suspect then pattad down Lopez and removed her cell phone, Both suspects than ran out the back door in a unknown direction.
The four employees walted about one minute bofora calling police.

Upon our arrival | checked the Interlor of the business. ID was contactod and did respond. The El Pollo Loco does have video inside the
business but they won't be able to access it till tomorrow. Officer Grego-Smith ¢heck with the storage business behind the El Pollo Loco for
video they might have. Robbary Datective Lorgson responded to the call. While on this call at about 2327 8 second robbery came outto a
Taco Bell located at Lake Mead and Del Webb with the same suspect descriptions.

Pairot Follow-Up

Officer Grego-Smith watched video frem the Storage busineas. He obsarvad a light cotared vehicla pull onto the cul de sac adjecent to the El
Pollo Loco and park with the lights out at 2251 hours. Tha vehicle Is seen leaving the area and heading Westhound on Cheyane at about 2307
hours. Offlcer Grego. Smith stated that you can't ses what type of vehicle it is. You could not identlfy the suspects.

|D tech stated she was able to got 3 really good shoe prints from the counter where suspect one jJumped across.

Victim Lopez did not have a tracking device on her phone, se it was unable to be tracked.

- = ddw [ ———
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department

400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. S

Las Vegas, NV 89106 Arrest / Cetective Repont

Case Report No.: 11V141123003630

g

Administrative

Logation 9480 W Leke Mead Bivd LVN, B8134 Sector fBeat V2
Ocuurred On (Date / Time)  Sunday 11/2%/2014 11:27:00 AM Or Between {Date / Tima)

Reporting Officer 14302 - Carter, J, Repomeg On 1172372014

Entered By 14302 . Carter, J. Entered On 1112312044 11:58:03 PM

Supervisor 08090 - Meyers, R. Follow Up ProSquad NW 12 Foliow Up
Jutisdiction  Las Vepgas, City of Report Type  Officer Creatod - Sgt Approval Dispostion  Active
Route To: Related Cases

Connecting Reports

Assisting Officors;
080T3 - Landers, Jeremy A Officer

Offenses

ery{F)-NRS 200.380

Campleted Yas Hate/Bias  Unknown {Offendars Motivation Not Known} Domestic Violence  No
Entry Premises Enlered Type Securily Tools
Weapons  Handgun Location Type Restaurant
Crimina) Acthvilias
FINR
Completed Yes Hate/Bias Domesiic Vialence  No
Enlry Premises Entered Type Security Tools
Weapons Location Type Restaurant
Criminal Activilies
Buriia S 705.060.2
Completed Yes Hate/Bies  Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) Domestic Violence
Eniry  Forclble Premises Entared Type Securily Alarm System Toois  Other
Dead Bolts
Extorior Lights
Weapons Location Type  Restaurant
Criminal Activilies
Victims
Name: Taco Bell
Viclim Type  Business Writlen Statement Can 1D Suspec
Victim of 50424 - Burgtary, (15Y(F)-NRS 205.060.2 Domestic Battery
SSN ooB Age Sex Race
Haight Weight Hair Color Eye Cotor
Employar/School
Occupation/Grade Work Schedute
DL DL State DL Country
Resident Tourist Departure Date
Injusy Injury Weepons
Addresses
Business 8480 W Leke Mead Bivd LVN, 85134
Phones .
BusineasWork (702) 360-8085
Email

Offencer Relationships
Comestic Violence information

Relzlionship 10 Suspect Primary Aggresser Determingd

Intimate Relationship . DrugfAicohol involvement

Volunlary Statement DV information Provided

injury Severity Madical Attention

Photos Taken

Naotes:

11712016 11:08 PM LLV141523003630 Pagetof 6
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Name: GONZALEZ-APARICIO, VANESSA MARIE

Victim Type  Individual

vigtim of 50137 - Robbary(F}-NRS 200.380

Wiritten Stalement Can 1D Suspect
Domestic Batiery No

50051 - Kidnapping, 15t Degreo{F)-NRS 200.310.1

SSN 613224778 DOB  DB&/01/14882 Age 2B Sex Femate Race White
Heighl Weight Hair Color Eye Cotor

Employer/Scheol Tato Bell @ 5480 W Lake Maad Blvd

Occupation/Grade werk Schedule

DLN 4602343868 DL State
Resident Resldant
Injury None Dbserved

Addresses

Nevada OL Country
Tourist Depariure Date
Injury Weapons  Handpun

Resldence 4801 Amboy Dr 89108

Phones
Email

Offendsr Relatlonships
Domestic Violence Information
Relationship lo Suspect
Intimate Retationship
Voluntary Statemeni

Injury Severity

Photas Taken

Notes:

Name: Ll ONE

Victim Type  Individual

Vidimof 50137 - Robbary(F)-NRS 200,380

Primary Aggressor Detemmined
Drug/Alcoho! Involventent

DV Informalion Provided
Medical Attention

Wiilien Stalement Can 1D Suspedt
Oomeslic Battery No

SSN  530-82-3861 DOB  04/241878 Age 36 Sex Female Race  8lack or African American
Height Weight Hair Color Eye Colar

Employer/Schaal Taco Bell @ 9480 W LAKE MEAD BLVD

Occupation/Grade Work Schecule

DLN 26008406893 DL Slate  Novada DL Country

Residenl Resldsnt
Injury None Obsarved

Addresses

Tourist Depanure Date
Injury Weapons  Handgun

Residence 1566 Balzar Ave Apt 123 LVN, 891048

Phones
Email

Offender Relationships
Domestic Violence Information
Relationship 1o Suspect
Imimale Retationship
Volumary Statement

Injury Sevarily

Photos Takea

Notes:

Name: HADEED, HOLLY KATHERINE
Viclim Type  Individual

Viclim of 30137 - Robboery(F)-NRS 200.380

Primary Agoressor Delenmined
Orug/Alcohol Invalvemant

DV Information Provided
Medical Altention

Wrilten Stalement Can ID Suspect
Domestic Ballery No

50051 - Kidnapping, 15t Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1

SSN  530-83.2370 DOB  09/25/1994 Age 20 Sex Female Race White
Height Weight Hair Cotor Eye Color

Empleyer/School Taco Bell @ 8480 W LAKE MEAD BLVD

Qeeupation/Grade . ‘Work Scheduls

DLN 1404405739 DL State  Nevada DL Country

Resigent  Resident
Injury  Nons Obgarved

arminmem s am moy

Tourist Departure Date
Injury Weapons  Handgun

Wt asemnanenn - -
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Addresses
Resldence

Phones
Emaii

Offender Relatlonships
Domestic Viokence infarmation
Relationship (o Suspec!
Intimate Relationship
Valuntary Statement

injury Severity

Phaotos Teken

Notes:

Suspects

6209 Don Gaspar LVN, 89108

Primary Aggressor Delerminad
Drug/Alcoho! Involvement

DV Information Provided
Medical Attention

Name: P, Buapect
Writtan Stmi.

Aliases
Moniker

Scope iD

Race Black er African American
Sex Male Heighi 6°0"
Employer/Schoal

Hair Length

Complexion

Appearance

Speech manner

DLN

Resident

Habitua! Offender Siaius

Primary Means of Altack/Weapon
Employer/Schogl

Scars, Marks and Talloos
Addrasses

Phones

Domestic Viotence Information
TPO in Effect

injury Severlly

Photos Taken

Notes:

Name: 82, Suspect
Wrilten Stmt.

Aliases
Moniker

Scapa ID
Race Black or African American
Sex Male Height &5
Employer/School

Hair Length

Comptexion

Appearance

Speech manner

DLN

Resident

Habltual Offander Status

Primary Means of AtlackWeepon
Employed/School

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Alerts

DoBd

Alens

oo

Age 2030
Build

Weight Hair Color

Non-English

Language

SSN
Thin
Black

Handedness

Eye Color Brown

Occupation/Grade

Hair Style
Facial hair
tnjury/Condition

Speech Characteristics

DL Stale
Tourist Departure

Eyes
Teeth

CL Country
Ptace of Bitth

MO Faclors

Handgun

Weapon Featues

Blue Stosl

Occupalion/Grade

Drug/Aicohol invalvement
Medical Attention
Suspect Demeanor

Age  20-30
Build

Weight Hair Cotor

Non-English

Voluntary Staiement
DV info provided

Language

SSN
Thin
Black

Handedness

Eye Color Brown

OCccupationtGrade

Hair Style
Facisl hair
Injury/Condilion

Speech Charecteristics

DL State
Tourist Depariure

Eyes
Teelh

DL Country
Place of Birth

MO Factors

Handgun

Weapon Fealures

Blue Steel

Qctupation/Grade



Phones

Domestic Violence Information

TPQ in Effect Diug/Alcohol involvement Voluntary Siatement
injury Severily Medical Attention DV (nfo provided
Photes Takan Suspect Demeanor .

Nates:

Arresteas

Witnesses

Other Entities

Properties

Type: Misc. (Call Phones, Ammo, Worthless Doc, items not listed)

Status Stolen

Descriplion  Smart Phone

Manufacturer Apple Model iPhong
Vehicle Year Body Type

Lic Plaie # Lic Plate State

Insurance Company
Owner V - GONZALEZ-APARICIO, VANESSA MARIE
Notes:

Delailed Property Information

Length Widgth
Horse Powar Propulsion Serial #
Caftber Barre! Lengih
Features

Rocoverad Propenty Information

Recovered Dale Recovered Velue
Recovered Lacation Recovered Reason
Recovared By Recovered Stock #
Owner Type Reigased To
insurance Rep. Tow Company

Type:  Etsctronics {TV, Music, CD/DVD Players, etc...)

Stalus DestroyediDamagedVanttalized

Description  land line telephone

Manufacturer Model
Vehicle Year Bady Type

Lic Flale Lic Plate State

Insurance Company
Ownar V - Taco Ball
Notes:

Detailod Property information

Length Width
Horse Power Propulsion Sersial #
Caliber Bsirel Length
Featuras

Recovered Property Information

Recovered Date Recovered Value
Recovered Location Recoverad Reason
Recovered By Recovered Stock #
Owner Type Released To
Insurance Rep. Tow Company

772

Value 200.00
Serial No.\WIN

Lic Plate Exp

Height

Value
Serlal No.\ViN

Lic Plate Exp

Height

Celor

Color



Type:

Status
Dascription
Manufacturer
Vehicle Year
Lic Plate #
Insurance Company
Cwner V - Taco Be!l
Notes:

plate glass door

Datailed Property Information

Length
Horse Power
Caliber
Featunes

Recovered Property Information

Recovered Date
Recovered Locatlon
Recovered By
Ownet Typo
Insurance Rep.

Solvability

Destroyed/Damaged/Vandallized

Misc. {Cell Phones, Ammo, Worthlgss Dec, ltems not |isted)

Quantity 1

Mocel

Body Type

Lic Plate State

Width
Propultion Sarial #
Barrel Langth

Recovered Vatue
Recovered Reason
Recovered Siock #
Raleased To

Tow Company

Value Calor
Serial No.\VIN

Lic Plale Exp

Helght

Criminalistics Work Was Parformed
Physical Evidencoe [s Present
Significent MO Is Present

Suspsct Can Be Described
Witness Present - Victim

Modus Operandi

MO General

Occupied? Yes

General Premise  Fact Food Restaurant
MO Against Proparty

Emry Ponl  Door

Enlry/Atlempt Methaod
Sale Eniry
Vigtim Location  On the Premlises
Maid

MO Againgl Paople

Victim-Suspect Relationship

Vidim Condilion
Suspec! Pretended (o Be

Sexual Acts

Narrative

Smash and Grab
. Suspect Actions

Surrounding Area
Spacilic Premise
Extt Point  Door
Eniry Tool
Used
Lookout/Accomplice
Eleclronic Locks
Inspecirass

Pre-Incident Contagt
Suspect Soliciteq/Offered
Suspect Aclions

Vehicle Involvement

Middis of Block
Room

Door
East

Eniry Location

Vehicle Enlry
Additional Faclors

Video Surveiflance Yes

Forced Entry

Moved Victim's Location
Muitiple Suspects
PultedMeld/Grabbed Victim

On November 23rd, 2014 at approximately 2320 houts, three femala employses, Vanessa Gonzatez, Jammie Ward and Holly Hadesd, were
working the night shitt at the Taco Ball located at 8480 W Lake Mead BLVD, Las Vegas, NV 88135. The three were cleaning the restaurant after
clasing at 2300 hours. Tha business was locked and securad.

The three women ware located within tha kitchen and office area of the restaurant when they heard a loud crashing sound coming from the
restaurant’s lobby. Gonzalez went to investigate the source of the noise. Once she entered the lobbies register erea, she came faco to face
with suspect #1; a black male, epproximately §° tall, thin build, 208, wearing a grey hoodle and black work stylo pants. Howas wearing a8
whita cloth workahop or medical style respirator mask over his face, and was carrying a black and silver automatic handgun. He stated "Opan
tho gafe,” which slartad the two other women that they ware being robbed.



Immediately, the thres women ran to the rear exit door locetad at the back of the kitchen. When they opened the rear door to #scape, they
were stopped by a sacond black male; suspact #2, descrihed a3 approximately 5'5* tall, thin bulid, 208, wearing simllar clothing and mask and
carrying a similarly style handgun. He grabbed Gonzalez’ sweat shirt, ordered them back into the bustness, and pulled Gonzalaz back through
the door alang with Hadeed. While suspect #2 had a hold of Gonzalez, Ward was able to make an escape on foot where she hid in bushes
next to the Fresh & Eesy located east of the Taco Bell.

The two subjects forced Gonzalaz and Hadeed Inte the offica while painting thelr handguns at them. Suspect #1 stated "Open the fucking
sofo,” while pointing his handgun at her head. Gonzales end Hadeed told the suspects only the moming manager had access to the safe.
Suapect #1 otated "Step fucking playing with me™ sevaral times while suspect #2 stated 'l know she knows how to open it.”

Although Gonzales did not know the code for the safe, she attempted to buy time and tried severa) codes to no avail. Whils she attampted to
miracle the safe open, suspect #2 made statements they were running out of time. While suspeoct #1 heold the women et gunpoint, suspect #2
destroyed the business’ land fins phone, gnd tock Gonzelez’ cell phone from her. ARer It was cbvious the safe could not be ¢pened, the two
suspects fled the area in a while late model Dodge Charger, with black stripes and black ims.

It should be noted that the suspects descripticn, modus operand| and vehicle matched the rebbery suspects from a pravious robbery which
otcurred approximately 20 minutes earlier at the El Polo Loco located at 7380 W Cheyenne under event #141123003576.

Patrol Follow-Up
ID end Robbory Det.'s responded to and processed the scene.
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department
400 S. Martin Luther King Bivd.

Las Vegas, NV 89108 Arrest ! Detective Report

Case Report No.: LLV141124003628

Administrative

Location 6121 Vegas Dr LVN, 85108 Secior /Beat VS
Occurred On {Dale / Time)  Monday 11/24/2014 11:01:00 PM Or Between (Date / Time)

Reponing Officer 10065 - Bane, A. Reponed On 111242014

Entered By 10065 - Bons, A, Entered On 1172472014 11:40:81 PM

Superviser  0T071 - Hansen, J. Foliow Up Pro Squad NW 12 Follow Up
Jutisdiction  Las Vepas, Clty of Repart Type  Officar Craated - Sgt Approvat Disposilion  Active
Roule To: Related Cases

Connecling Reports ~ Phota Attached
vietim Information Gulde
Voltuntary Statement

Assisting Officers:

08167 - Re!ner, Jennifer C ID Speclalist
09884 - Marty-Pzgan, Jorga J Officer
04774 -Splotto, Lance L Detective

Offenses

Robb: F)-NRS 200.380

Completed Yes Hate/Bias  None {No Blas} Domeslic Violence  No
Entry Pramises Enlered Typa@ Security Touls
Weapons Handgun Location Type  Restaurant

Criminal Activities

Victims

Namu; Popeyes

Victim Type  Buslness Wiitten Statemenl Can ID Suspect
Victim of 50138 - Robbeary, E'DW{F)-NRS 200.380 Domeslic Baitery

SSN ooB Age Sex Race
Heighl Waight Hair Color Eye Cotor
Employet/School

Occupation/Grade Woik Schedule

OLN OL State DL Country

Resident Tourist Depanure Date

Injury Injury Weapons

Addresses
Businass 8121 Vegas Dr LVN, 89108 clork USA

Phones

Emall

Offender Relatlonships
Domestic Violence Information

Retationship 1o Suspect Primaty Aggressor Determined

Intimate Retationship DrugfAlcohol Involvement

Volumary Statement DV Informalian Provided

Injury Severity Madical Attantion

Photos Taken

Notes:

Suspacts

Name. Unknown

Writlen Stmi. No Aleris Non-English tangusge
Allases

Moniker

17712016 11:10 PM LLV441124003628 Page tol b
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Scope 1D 0oB Age 25 SSN

Race 8lack or African American Buik Handednass

Sex Mals Height Weight Hair Color Eye Color

Empiayer/Schoe! Occupelion/Grade

Hair Length Halr Style Eyes

Complaxion Facial hair Teeth

Appeafance Injury/Ceondition

Speech mannar Speech Characteristics

DLN DL State DL Country

Residenl  Unknown Tourist Oeparture Place of Binh
Attacked Cash Ragigter
Attacked Safg

Habitual Offender Status

Primary Means of Attack/WWeapon
EmployersSchool

Scars, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phonos

Domestic Viclence Information
TRPO in Effect

Injury Severity

Photos Takan

Notes:

Name: Unknown

Written Simi.  No
Aliases
Moniker

Scepa ID
Race Black or African American
Sex Male Height
Emplayer/School

Hair Langth

Complexion

Appearance

Speech manner

DLN

Resuient

Habitual Offender Status

Primary Means of AtlackAVeapaon
Employar/Schoal

Scare, Marks and Tattoos
Addresses

Phones

Domestic Violence Information
TPO in Effect

Irjury Sevarily

Photos Taken

Notes:

Arrestees

Alents

DoB

MQ Factors

Handgun Weapon Fegtures

Occupation/Grade

Drug/Alcobol Involvement
Medical Aitention
Suspect Demeanor

Mon-English

Age 25
Build

Weight Hair Color

Enterad Bullding Known to Be Occupled
Forcod Victim to Ground or Floor
Suespect Armed
Suspect Wore Gloves
Vandalized Premises
Wore Mask

Chrome/Nickel/Stainloss

Voluntary Statement
DV info provided

Language

SSN

Handedness
Eye Color

Occupalion/Grade

Hair Style
Facial hair
Injury/Conditlon
Speech Characleristics
OL Siate
Tourist Oeparture

MQ Faclors

Handgun Weapon Features

QOccupation/Grade

Drug/Alcohaol Involvement
Medical Attention
Suspecl Demeanor

Eyes
Teeth

OL Country

Place of Birth

Attacked Cash Registar

Attacked Safe

Enterad Building Known to Be Occupied

Forced Victim to Ground or Floor

Sugpect Armed

Suspect Wore Gloves

Wore Mask .
ChromefNickel/Stainless

Voluntary Statemenm
DV Info provided

Witnesses

AMmimAs e sa, 88 man

St tisessmommnnmm
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Witness Name: Abreno, Angellca

Wiitten Statement  Yes Can [D Suspect No
SSN  550-08-7202 DOB  02/19/199T7 Age 17
Sex Famele Height & 4" Weight Hair Calor
Addresses

Business 6121 Vogas DrLVN, 89108 clark USA

Residence 6701 Burgundy Way LVN, 89107 clark USA

Phones

Notes:

Witness Name: Oypque, Gabriela

Wrilten Statemeni  Yes Can ID Suspect

SSN DOB 05171987 Age 17
Sex Female Height 5'1" Weight 135 Hair Cofor
Addresses

Resldence 8300 Bristol Way LVN, 85107 clark USA

Businesas 6121 Vepas Dr LVN, 89108 clark USA

Phones

Collular ({702) 822-1618

Notes:

Witness Name: Vgl a fae)

Written Statemeni  Yes Can 1D Suspect

SSN  680-01-3837 00B  05/2Th997 Age 7
Sex Male Height 5107 Weight 155 Hair Colar
Addresses

Business 6121 Vegas Dr LVYN, 89108 clark USA

Residence 6313 Mint Frost Way LVN, 89108 clark USA

Phones

Collular (702) B4T-2341

Business/Work (702) 831-1875

Notes:

Witness Namo: Egpinoza, Josa

Writtea Staiemeni  Yes Can 'D Suspect

SSN DOB  04/21/1996 Age 18
Sex Male Height Weighi 178 Hair Color
Addresses

Business 6121 Vegas DrLVYN, 89108 clark USA

Residence 6727 Vagas DrLVN, 89108 tfark USA

Phones

Celtutar {702) 272-5458

Notes:

Witness Name: Semez, Alma

Written Statemens Yes Can ID Suspect

SShN 08  0Ti2eM982 Age 22

Sex Femalo Height  §'1° Weight 142 Hair Color
Addresses

Business 6121 Vegas DrLVN, 85108 clark USA

7

Race
Brown

Race
Brown

Race
Brown

Race
Black

Race
Brown

White

White

White

White

White

Testify

Eyae Cafor

Teslity

Eye Color

Testify

Eye Color

Testify

Eye Cotor

Testily

Eye Color

Brown

Brown

Black



Resldence 3308 N Pacos Rd #d LVN, 89115 clark USA

Phones
Callutar {702) 408-1581

Notes:

Other Entities

Properties

Type:  Misc. {Cell Phones, Ammo, Werthless Doc, items not listed)

Slatus Stolen Quantily
Description Smart Phone

Manulacturer Model Galaxy

Venhicle Year Body Type

Lic Piate # Lic Piate Stale

Insurance Company

Owner W - Gomez, Alma

Notes:

Detailed Property Information

Length Width

Horse Power Proputsion Satial #

Calibas Barrel Length ,
Fealures

Recovered Property information

Recovered Date Recovered Value
Recovered Location Recovered Reason
Recovered By Recovered Slock #
Qwnar Type Released To
Insurance Rep. Tow Company

Type:  Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash

Slalus Stolen Quanlity
Description  a total of $2088.59

Manulaclurer US Govt. Mode!

Vehicle Year Body Type

Lic Plate # Lic Plate State

Insurance Company
Owner V - Popeyes
Notes. $800 from the safe and §1288.59 from the reglsters.

Oetailed Property Information

Length Widih
Horse Power Propulsion Seria) #
Caliber Barrel Length
Fealures

Recoverad Property Information

Recovered Date Recovered Value
Recoverad Location Recovered Reason
Recovered By Recavered Stock #
Qwner Type Relessed To
Insurance Rep. Tow Company
Solvability

Valus 200.00 Color
Senal No.\WIN

Lic Plale Exp

Height

Value 2,088.59 <Coior
Senal No\VIN

Lic Piate Exp

Height

Gresn

Criminalistics Work Was Performed
Physlcal Evidence Is Presont

Significant MO 18 Prosent

Stolen Property is Traceable, (Identifiable)
Suspect Can Be Described

Witness Present - Other
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Modus Operandi

MO General
Occuped? Yes Surrounding Area  Comer
Ganeral Premise  Fost Food Restaurant Specific Premise
MO Against Property
Entry Paint  Door Exil Point  Daor Entry Locaion  Door
Front
South
Rear
West
Eniry/Atlempl Meihod  Bodlly Force Entry Tool Vehicle Entry
Climbed InfQvariThru
Othar
Safe Entry Suspect Actions  Covered Additionai Factors Simflar Crimes in
Hands(Gloves, etc) Neaighborhood
Knew Loc./Hidden
Vaiuables
Maliclous Damage
Rensacked
Sefective In Loot
Took Time/Methodical
Victim Location  Work/School ElectronicLtocks No Video Surveillance
Mala Inspeciress
MO Against People
Viclim-Suspect Relationship Pre-Incident Contact  Opening/Cloaing-Business
Vietim Condition Suspect Salcited/Offered
Suspect Pretended 10 Ba Suspecl Aclians Forcad Entry
Had Victim Lie Down
Had Vietlm Bag Property
Malicious Damage
Multiple Suspects
Suspect's Face Concealed
Sexual Acts Vehicle Involvement

Narrative

On 1112414 at 2300 hours, 1 black male adult broke the front sauth door to the Popeyes fast food restaurant on §127 Vegas Dr, LVN 89103,
The ma'o suspect had a silver handgun in his hand as he made his way into the business. § employees ware ingide closing the store and
cleaning. The Manapger Alma heard the glass braak on the door and ran back to the other amployeas. Alma told them somebody broke in and
sho was telling them to go out of the back emergency door. They tried to open the door but it waan't opening, They pushed harder and there
was snother black male walting for the door to cpen. The male suspoct grabbed one of the employees and pushed them all back in,

Fhey all started walking towards the front as the 2nd suspect had them alt at gun paint The 15t suspact made his way behind the counter
and had Alma show him where the safe was. He gave alma the blue bag and told her to open the bag and fill it with tha money from the sefa
and the cash reglsters. As Alma was getting the cash, one suspact was down with her and the other suspect was stending up. They had ths
other amployees get down on the ground. When the suspects pot the bag back, they took Alma’s cell phone and ran out of the emergency
door. The amployoes walted for them to leave then cafled 911.

Patro! Follow-Up
One of the employees stated in their statement that the suspact that antered from the front, was carrying an ax zlong with his handgun. ID

responded and tock photos of the acene. Dus to the suspects wearing gloves, no fingerfhand printa were retrieved. Thare was no survelllance
video. The suspects got $8C0 from the safe and $1288.59 from the reglster totaling $2088.59.
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department :istrlbution Date: fsplepfgber 9, 2015
H gency: M
Forensic Laboratory Location: Robbary/Homicide Bureau
Primary Case #: 141125-4029
Report of Examination Additional Cases:  141124-3628
Incident: Robbery. Robbery WDW
Biology/DNA Forensic Casework Requaster: Jeffary C Abell
Lab Case #: 15-01887.2
Tony Hobson (Suspect)
Subject(s): Brandon Starr (Suspact)
Donte Johns {Suspect)
The foliowing evidence was axamined and results are reportad balow.
Lab ltem # ln;,‘:‘:u: d In:t;::“u: d Description
Item 2 013572-8 ] Rad and black gloves
ftern 2.9 + Right glove
- Swabbing of the inside
ltem 2.2 = Left glove
—_Swabbing of the inside
item 3 10 Left gray & red glove
- Swabbing of the inside
Itemn 4 " Knit gloves
llem 4.1 « Qne glove
Iltern 4.4.1 — Swabbing ol the outside
ltem 4..2 ~_Swabbing of the inside
Item 4.2 « One glove
llam 4.2.1 —__Swabbing of the oulside
itam 4.2.2 - Swabbing of the inside
ltem 5 12 Yellow mask
— Swabbing of the entire item
ltem 9 013572-5 3 Axe
~_Swabbing of the handle
ltem 6 013572-10 15 Left “Snap-on” glove
- _Swabbing of the inside
ltam 7 16 Yallow mask
—_Swabbing of the entire item
tem 8 17 Right "Snap-on” glove
— Swabbing of the insida
ltem 10 013572-13 22 Revolver swab
ltem 11 23 Ruger swab
ltem 12 24 Magazing swab
em 13 25° Axe swab
Item 1° 008744 - 1 1 Reference standard from Brandon Stan
ltam 2°* 008744 -1 1 Reference standard from Dente Johns -
Item 3* 008744 - 1 1 Reference standard from Tony Hobson

_ Evidence booked under event 141124-3628

tem 2.1, Hem 2.2, ltem 3, ltem 4.1.1, Item 4.1.2, tem 4.2.1, lem 4.2.2, Item 5, itam 8, ltem 6, ltem 7, ltem 8, ltam 10, llam 11, ltam
12, ltem 13, item 1°, Item 2*, and Item 3* were subjected to PCR amplification at the following STR genaetic loci: D851179, D21511,
075820, CSF1PO, D3S1358, THO1, D135317, D165539, 0251338, D19S433, vWA, TPOX, D18551, D55818, and FGA. The sex-

DNA Results and Conclusions:

determining Amelogenin locus was also examined.

Page 1

LVMPD Forensic Laboratory | 5605 W Badura Ave Suile 120 B | Las Vegas, NV 89118
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Primary Event #: 141125-402%
Lab Case # 15-01887.2

Lab Item 2.1

The DNA profile obtained from the swabbing of the inside of the right red and black glove (Hem 2.1) Is consistenl with a
distinguishable mixture of at least four individuals with at least one being a male. The full major DNA profile obtained is consistent
with Brandon Starr (ltem 1°). The probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual from the general poputation having a DNA
profile that is consistent with the full major DNA prefile obtained from the evidence sample is approximately 1 in 87.4 quintillion.
Conte Johns (ltem 2*) and Tony Hobson (ltem 3°) ere excluded as possible conlribulors to the full major DNA profile obtained. Tha
full major DNA prafite will be searchad against the Local DNA Index System (CODIS) and then uploaded to the National DNA Index
System (CODIS) for comparison. You will be notified if there is a match. Due to the limited data available, no canclusions can be
made regarding the minor component.

Lab itom 2.2

The DNA, profile obtained from the swabbing of the inside of tha lefi red and black glove {ltem 2.2) is consistent with an
indistinguishable mixture of at least three individuals with al leest one being male. Due to the limited data available, no additional
conclusicns can be made regarding this mixture DNA profile.

The DNA profile oblained from tha swabbing of the inside of the left grey and red glove (ltem 3) is consistent with a distinguishable
mixture of at least four individuals with at least one being a male. The full major DNA profile obtained is consistent with Brandon
Starr {ltem 1*). The probability of rendemly selecting an unretated individual from the general papulation having a DNA profila that is
consistent with the full major DNA grofile obtained from the evidence sample is approximately 1 in 874 quintillion. Donte Johns
(Item 2*) and Tony Hobsen {ltem 3*} are excluded as possible contributors to the full major DNA prefile oblained. Due to the limiled
data svailable, no concluslons can ba made ragarding the minor companent.

Lab ltem 4.1.1

The DNA profile obtained from tha swabbing of the outside of one knit glove (item 4.1.1) is consistent with & distinguishable mixture
of at least three individuals with at least one being a mala. The ful major DNA profila obtained is consistent with Donte Johns (ltem
24). The probability of randomly selecting an unrelatad Individual from the gensral population having a DNA profile that is consistent
with the ful! major DNA profila obtained from the evidencae sample is approximalely 1 in 369 sextillion. Brandon Starr (Item 1"} and
Tony Hobson (item 3*) are excludad as possible contributors to the full major DNA profile obtained. The full major DNA profile will
be searched against the Local DNA Index System {CODIS) and then uploaded to the National DNA index System (CODIS) for
comparison. You will be notified if thera is 8 match. Due fo the limited data avaitable, no conclusions can be made regarding the
minor component.

Labitem 4.1.2
A ONA profila was not obtained from the swabbing of the inside of ane knit glove (Item 4.1.2).

Lab ltem 4.2.1

The DNA profila obtained from the swabbing of the outside of one kit glove (ltem 4.2.1} is consistent with a distinguishable mixiure
of al keast three individuals with at least one being & male. The partial major DNA profile obtained is consistent with Donte Johns
(tem 2*). The probability of randomly salecting an unrelated individual from the general population having a DNA profile that is
consisteni with tha partlal major DNA profile obtained from the evidence sample is approximately 1in 454 million. Brandon Stan
{item 1*) and Tony Hobson {ifem 3*) are axcluded as possible contributers to the padial major DNA profile obtained. Due to the
limited data available, no conclusions can be made regarding the minor component.

Lab ltem 4.2.2
A DNA profile was not oblained from the swabbing of tha inside of one knit glova (ltem 4.2.2).

Labltem 5 '

The DNA profile obtained from the swabbing of ihe yellow mask (ltem 5} is consistent with a distinguishable mixture of at least faur
indiviguals with at least one being a male. The full major DNA profila obtained is consistent with Brandon Starr (Item 1°). The
probability of randomly selacting an unrelated individual from the ganeral population having a DNA profile that is consistant with the
full major DNA profile obtained from the evidence sample is approximatety 1 in 87 4 guintillion. Donte Johns (ltem 2°) and Tony
Hobson (ltem 3°) are excluded as possible contributors to the full major DNA profile obtained. Due to the limited data available, no
conclusions can be made regarding the minor component.

Lab tom 9

The ONA profile obtained from the swabbing of the axe handle (itam 8) is consistent with an indistingulshable mixture of at leasl
thrae individuals with el least ona baing male. Due to the limited dala evaitable, no additional conclusions can be mada regarding
this mixture DNA profile.
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Primary Event #: 141125-4029
Lab Case # 15-01387.2

Lab ltem 8

The DNA profile obiained from the swabbing of the inside of the left “Snap-on” glove (Item ) is consistent with a distinguishable
mixture of al leas! four individuals with a! least ane baing a male, The partial majer DNA profile obiained is consistent with Tony
Hobson (Item 3*). The probability of randomly selacling an unrelated individual from the general population having a DNA profile
that is consistent with the partia) major DNA profile ablained from the evigence sample is epproximately 1 in 38.5 billion. Brandon
Slarr (llem 1°) and Dente Johns {Jtem 2*) are excludad as possible contributors to the partial major DNA profile obtained. Due to the
{imitad data available. no conclusions can be made regarding the mincr component.

Labitem 7

The DNA profile obtained from the swabbing of the yellow mask {ltam 7) is consistent with an indistinguishable mixture of at leasl
four Individuals with at least ona being male. Due to the complaxity of the data available, no additional conclusions can be made
ragarding this mixture DNA profile.

Labltem3

Tha DNA profile obtained from the swabbing of the inside of tha right "Snap-on” glove (Item B} is consistant with a distinguishable
mixture of at least three individuals with at leas! one being & male. The partial major DNA profila obtained is consistent with Tony
Hobson {ltem 3*), The probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual from the general poputation having a DNA profile
that is consistent with the partial major DNA profile obtained from the evidence sample is approximately 1 in 400 quintilion. Brandon
Starr {llem 1*) and Donte Johns (item 2*) are excluded as possible contributars to tha partial major DNA profile obtained. The partial
major DNA profils will be searched against the Loca! DNA Index System (CODIS) and then uploaded to the National DNA Index
System (CODIS) for comparison. You will be notilied if there is a match. Due ta the limiled data available, no conclusions can be
made regarding the minor component.

Lab Item 10

The partial DNA profile obtained from the revolver swab (Item 10) is consistent with Brandon Starr (Item 1°). The probability of
randomly selecting an unrelated individual from the general population having a DNA profile that is consisteni with the partial DNA
profile obtained from the evidence sample is approximataly 1 in 153 million. Donle Johns {ltem 2°) and Tony Hobson (ltem 3*) are
excluded as possible contributors ta the partial DNA profile obtained.

Lab Item 11
Tha partial DNA profilo obtained from the Rugar swab (itam 11) is consistent with originating from a single contributor. Due to the
limited data avaitable, no additiona! conclusions can ba made regarding this partial DNA prefile.

Tha partial DNA profile obtained from the magazine swab (lem 12} is consistent with originating from a single contributar. Dus to
the limited data available, no additional conclusions can be mada regarding this partlal ONA profile.

Lab Item 13
The partial DNA profile obtained from the axe swab (ltem 13) is consistant with originating from a single contributor. Due to the
limiled data availatle, no additional conclusions can be made regarding thiz partial DNA profile.

Slatistical probabillties were calculated using the recommandations of tha National Research Council (NRC I} utitizing the FBI
database (J Forensic Sci 44 (6) (1999): 1277-1286 and J Forensic Sci doi: 10.1111/1556-4029.12806; J Forensic Sci 46 (3} {2001)
453-489 and Forensic Science Communications 3 (3) [2001)). The probability that has been raported is the most conservative value
obtained from the US Caucasian {CAU), African American (BLK), and Southwest Hispanic (SWH) population databases. These
numbars are an estimation for which a deviation of appreximataly +/- 10-fold may exist. All random match probabifities, cembined
probabitity of inclusionslexclusiens, and likelihood ratios calculated by the LVMPD are truncated to three significant figures.

The evidence is retumed to secure siorage.

—This report does not conslitute the entire case file. The case flle may be comprised of worksheets. images. analytical data and
ather documents.—

prhtfw'a,v—-

Crysial May, #9288 09/07/2015
Forensic Scientist )
- END OF REPORT -
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department giﬁtfibu'b" Data; wzl gb2015
: gency:
Forensic Laboratory Locatlon: Robbary/Homicide Bureau

Primary Case #: 1411254029

Report of Examination Additional Cases: 141124-3628
Incident: Robbery, Robbary WDW

Biology/DNA Forensic Casework Requester. Jeflery C Abell

Lab Case #:; 15-01887.4

_ Supplamantal 1

Tony Hobson (Suspect)

Subject(s): Brandon Starr (Suspect)
Donte Johns {(Suspect)

This report does not suparceds nor replace the original report dated September T, 2015, This report is being issued in -
compliance with a Court Order issued for Court Case No. C-14-303022-1 and signed by District Judge William Kephart on
May 2™, 2016.

All profiles associated with CODIS entrias wiil stand as they were originally interpreted.

The reinterpreted resulls are raported below.,

Refer 10 tha original raport issued by FS$ Il Crystal May P# 9288 dated 8/7/2015 for related information.
“Evidence booked under event 141124-3628

DNA Results and Conclusions:
Lab ltem 2.1
The DNA profite obtained from the swabbing of the inside of the righl red and black glove {ltem 2.1} is consistent with a mixture of
four individuals with at least one being & male. Due 10 the complexity of the data available, no additional conclusions can be made
regarding this mixture DNA profile.

,2
The DNA profile obtained from the swabbing of the inside of the left red and black glove (ltem 2.2) is consistent with a mixture of al
least three individuals with at least one being mals. Due to the limited data available, no additiona! conclusions can be made
regarding this mixture DNA prefile.

Lab jtem 3

The DNA profile obtained from the swabbing of the inside of the left grey and red glove (ltem 3} is consisient with a mixiure of four
individuals with at least ona being a mate. The full major DNA profila oblained is consistent with Brandon Starr (Item 1°). The
probability of randomly salecling an unrelatad individual from the general population having a DNA profile that is consislant with the
full major DNA profile obtained from the evidence sample is epproximately 1 in 87.4 quintillion. Donta Johns (ltem 2°) and Tony
Hobson (item 3*) are excluded as possible contributors to the full major DNA profile obtained. Due to the limiled data available, no
conclusions can be made regarding tha minor component.

Lab item 4.1.1
The DNA profile oblgined from the swabbing of the outside of one knit glove (lem 4.1.1) is consistent with 8 mixture of three

individuals with at least one being a male. The full major DNA profile obtained is consistent with Donte Johns (ltem 27). The
probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual from the general population having a DNA profile that is consisten! with the
full major DNA profile obtained from the evidence sample is approximately 1 in 369 sextillion. Brandon Stam (ltem 1°) and Tony
Hobson (item 3*) are excluded as possible contributors to the full major DNA prafile obtained. Due to the limitad data available, no
conclusions can be made regarding the trace component. N

Lab ltem 4.1.2
A DNA profile was not obtained from the swabbing of the inside of one knit glove (ltem 4.1.2).

Lab item 4.2.1
The DNA profile obtained from the swabbing of the outside of one knit glove (Item 4.2.1) is consistent with a mixture of thrae

individuals with at least cne being a male. Due {o tha complexily of the data available, no additional conclusions can be made
regarding this mixture DNA profile.

Leb ltem 4.2.2
A DNA profile was nol obtained from the swabbing of the inside of one knit glove (tem 4.2.2).

Page 1
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Supplemental 1 Primary Event #; 1411254029
Lab Case #: 15-01887.4

Labitem S

The ONA profile obtainad from tha swabbing of the yellow mask (ltem 5) is consistent with a mixture of four individuals with at least
one being a male. Due to the complaxity of the data avaitable, no additional conclusicns can be made regarding this mixture DNA
profile,

Lab Item 8
The ONA profile obtained from the swabbing of the axa handle (ltem 9) is consistent with a mixiure of at least three individuals with
at laast ona being male. Dua to the limited data available, no additional conclusions can be made regarding this mixture DNA profile.

Lab ltem 6

The ONA profile obtained from the swabbing of the inside of the laft "Snap-on” glave (ltem B) is consistent with a mixture of three
individugls wilh at least one being a male. Due to the complexity of the data available, no additional condusions can be made
regarding this mixture DNA profile,

The DNA profile obtained fram the swabbing of the yellow mask (ltem 7) is consistant with a mixture of at least four individuals with
al teast one being male. Due to the complexity of the data available, no additional conclusions can be made regarding this mixiure
DNA profile.

Lab tem 8

The DNA profile obtained from the swabbing of the inside of the right *Snap-on” glove (Item B} is consistent with a mixture of three
individuals with st laast ona being a male. The partial major DNA profile obtzined is consistent with Tony Hobson (ltem 3°). The
probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual from the general population having a CNA profile that is consislent with the
partial major DNA prafile abtzined from the evidence sample is approximately 1 in 1,54 quadrillion. Brandon Starr {ltem 1*) and
Donte Johns {Item 2°) are excludad as possible contributors to the partial major DNA profile ablained. Due to the limited data
available, no contlusions can be made ragarding the minor componant.

Lab ltem 10

The partial DNA profile obtained from the revolver swab (item 10) is consistent with Brandon Star (ltern 1*). The probability of
randomty selecting an unrelated individual from the general population having a DNA profile thai is consistent wilh tha parlial DNA
profile obtained fram the evidence sample is approximately 1 in 193 million. Donte Johns (Item 2*} and Tony Hobson (ltem 3°) are
axcluded as possible contribulars to the partial DNA profile obtained.

Lab itom 11
The parlial DNA profile oblained from the Ruger swab (Item 11} is consistent wilh originating from a single contributor, Due to the
limited data available, no additional conclusions can ba made ragarding this partial DNA. profile.

Lab Item 12

The partial DNA profile obtained frem the magazine swab {ltermn 12) is consistent with originating from a single male contributor. Dua
to the limited data available, no additional conclusions can bs made regarding this partial DNA profile.

Lab ltem 13
. The partial DNA profile obtained from the axe swab (Itam 13) is consistent with originating fram a single contributer. Dua ta the
limited data available, no additional conclusions can be made regarding this partial DNA, profite.

Statistical probabifities were calculetad using the recommendations of the National Research Council (NRC 11) utilizing the FBI
database (J Forensic Sci 44 (6) (1999): 1277-1286 and J Forensic Sci doi: 10.1111/1556-4029.128086; J Forensic Sci 46 (3) (2001)
453-489 and Forensic Science Communications 3 (3) (2001)). The probability that has been reported is the most conservative value
oblainad frem the US Caucaslan (CAU), African Amarican (BLK). and Southwast Hispanic (SWH) population databases. These
aumbers are an eslimation for which a daviation of approximately +/- 10-fold may exist. All rancom match probabilities, combined
probability of inclusions/exclusions, and liketihood ratios calculated by the LVMPD are truncated to three significant figures.

—-This report doas not conslitute the entire case fils. The case fils may be comprised of worksheets, images. analytical data and
other documents.—
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Supplemental 1 Primary Event #: 141125-4029

Lab Case #: 15-01867.4

Crystal May, #9283
Forensic Scientist 1l

- END OF REPORT -
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MS. MERCER: No, Your Honor.

MR. TANASI: I don't think so, Your Honor.

MR. MANINGO: Well --

(Pause in the proceedings)

MR. TANASI: Judge, could we the Court's indulg
for one second? We might be able to streamline things.

THE COURT: Okay.

(Pause in the proceedings)

MR. TANASI: Okay. So Judge, I think there is
issue with.one witness. I guess, we can put it on the re
now and --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. TANASI: -- and maybe the defense can figur
out a way. But Detective Turner in this case is the
detective whe impounds the items from the apartment that'
ultimately searched, which we haven't gotten to yet, but
we're getting there, I think, tomorrow Détective Abell.

Detective Turner, in her reports, gives
conflicting, contradicting versions of where the Popeye’s
receipts were found. And so that's a very critical piece
evidence in this case. And so what we have just learned
trying to serve Detective Turner, is that she's out of to
she's in Hawaii until Monday, and I think she's got -- an
could be available here on Tuesday of next week,

We ran this by the State, and in an effort to 3
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if we could admit those two reports from Detective Turner,
which reference statements made by Detective Abell, but allso
a contradiction made by Detective Flynn as to where --
actually, I take that back. Detective Turner notes the
receipts are found in two different places, and she says she
gets both of them from Detective Abell.

THE COURT: Okay, so Detective Abell tells her [i
found -- or something was found in one place, something was
found in another.place?

MR. TANASI: Same thing was found in two différent
places.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. TANASI: . And so0 the issue, obviously, is no

E

with her not being available to testify, we kind of went into
this assuming that Detective Turner would be a critical
witness the State would call. We didn't anticipate the
travel issue; other#ise, she wouldn't necessarily have been
noticed, we at least believe in the State's notice of
witnesses. We did notice her on our own as an endorsement,
you know, to all of our witnesses as well, but then like I
said, we've just now learned that she won't be here until
Tuesday. S0 our request is --

THE CQURT: Did you subpcena her?

MR. TANASI; We did. We served her,

THE COURT: Okay. When did you tell her to be

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC + 303-798-08390
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here?
MR. TANASI: Well, I'd have to defer to --
MR. MANINGO: Your Honor, we --
MR. TANASI: -- co-counsel on that.
MR. MANINGO: -- gerved her last week. We aske

her to be here on the -- be available as of the 16th, tod

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. MANINGO: She then responded to my office w
that she had travel plans from the 16th thzrough the 23rd
24th and she faxed over to my office, and I apologize, X
don't have it with me right now, just a confirmation of h
unavailability.

THE COURT: When did you serve her?

MR. MANINGO: We're thinking it was Tuesday of
week, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So what are you proposing?

228

d

ay.

ith

or

last

MR. TANASI: I'd like to admit Detective Turner's

reports through Detective Abell as --

THE COURT: Okay.

" MR. TANASI: -- substantive evidence and notice
THE COURT: Well, do you think Detectiwve Abell
not -- I mean, will be saying something different than wh

you would already have from --
MR, TANASI: I don't know that. I mean, it's s

two different ways in two different reports so I don't kn
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what Detective Abell's -

THE COURT: Okay. Well --

MR: TANASI: ' -- what his position is.

THE COURT: Okay. Okay, clear me up again.

MR. TANASI: Sure.’

THE COURT: Deteptive Abell did one report?

MS. MERCER: No. Detective Turner authored two
reporés. She did one property impound report, in which she

inverted items 4 and 5. She did an officer's report

documenting the search warrant whco was present during thq

|
execution of the search warrant, what items of evidence were
found where, which is correct. The evidence was photographed

Detective Abell, I can make representations to rhe

in place by a crime scene analyst.

Court, noticed the typo in her property impound report and
told her to correct it. So he's aware of the typo.
THE COURT: So Detective Abell's --
MS. MERCER: And they can question --
THE COURT: -~ the one that actually did the --
M$. MERCER: Neg, he caught the typo in her -~
THE COURT: ©Oh, and he told --—
MS. MERCER: -- report.
THE COURT: -- her to cerrect it?
MS. MERCER: So he can testify to the error --

THE COURT: Okay.

Verbatim Digltal Reporiing, LLC 4 303-798-0890
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MS. MERCER: -- but, I mean, the reports themse
are hearsay. That's the State's position.

MR. MANINGO: And that's what's going to -- tha
what we're going to deal with when we try to get into tha
discrepancy with Detective Abell, because Detective Flynn
per Turner's report, says that these receipts were found
one place. Detective Abell says they were found in anoth
Detective Abell, per the State, is the one who says te
Detective Turner, you made a mistake, but yet, we haven't
heard from Detective Flynn either.

THE COURT: Okay. Did DPetective Turner find -th
receipts?

MR. MANINGO: Detective Turner, I pelieve, took
picture of them at the same location, correct me if I'm
wrong, that --

MS. MERCER: That was a crime scene analyst..

MR. TANASI: -- Detective Abell said that they
locatea at.

THE COURT: Okay. So she takes a picture of --

MS. MERCER: Your Honor, she does not photograp
The crime scene analyst Vandering (phonetic) --

MR. MANINGO: ©h, pardon me, I didn't mean to
misspeak. '

THE COURT: Ckay. Okay, so Detective Turner di

find anything? §She didn't --

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC ¢ 303-798-0880
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MR, MANINGO:

THE COURT:

MS. MERCER:
MR. TANASI:
_THE COURT:
was one place --
MR. TANASI:
THE COURT:
another place.
MR. TANASI:
THE COQURT:
correct it?
MR. TANASI:
MR. MANINGO:
MR. TANASI:
THE COURT:
MR. TANASI:
THE COURT:
MR, TANAST:
THE COURT:
MR. TANASI:

THE COURT:

Detective Turner where the items are, even if Detective

Turner was testifying,

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC ¢ 303-798-0890

No. But she --

She’'s reporting what someone told her?

Correct.
Two different ways.

Okay, so Detective Flynn told her i

Correct.

-- Detective Abell told her it was

‘Correct.

Detective Abell then tells her to

We don't know that, Your Honor.

That's what we just-learned today.

That's what we just learned --
Okay.

-- but -~
But you have Detective Flynn coming
We don't. Again --
Did you subpoena Detective Flynn?
We did not. We did not.

Because if he's the one telling

it would be hearsay.
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MR. TANASI: But it's Detective Turner's report

indicating where she learned and what she discovered.

fair game

Detective

Detective Flynn if he's the one that actually found it in

THE COURT: That someone tcld her.

MR. TANASI: Again, it's her report. It would be

in her report.

THE COURT: Yeah, but would -- does the report say

Flynn is the one that found it that told --
MR. MANINGOD: Yes.

THE COURT: -- Detective Turner --

MR. MANINGO: Yes.

MS. MERCER: I --

THE COURT: Then why wouldn't you subpoena

another area that's not -~

MR. TANASI: Because we don't have Detective

Flynn's report, we have Detective Turner's report.

Detective Flynn toeld me it was here and that'’s what I wrote?

receipts, was located by Detective Flynn from a nightstand

drawer in

THE COURT: But doesn't it say in the report that

MR. TANAST: All it says is item 4, which is the

the master bedroom.

~ THE CQURT: Ckay.

And again,

we could have admitted both and had her explain how she got

MR. TANASI: It doesn't get into the conversation.

substantively, as a report from Detective Turner,

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC + 303-798-0890
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this information.

THE COURT: Have you done anything at all to tr
contact Detective Flynn?

MR. MANINGO: Not yet.

MR. TANASI: We have not, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Is Detective Flynn available, do yo
know?

MS. MERCER: I don't know. We didn't subpoena
to my knowledge. And if we did, we didn't pretrial him
becauvse we didn't plan on-calling him.

THE COURT: Reach out to him tonight, if you ca
I'm going to ask the State to try to help you with that.
see if you can get Detective Flynn in here becauvuse, I ﬁea
if Detective Flynn's the one that actually saying he foun

it --

233

Y to

him,

And
n,

d

MR. TANASI: And I understand the Court's posit

ion.

I guess, I would just point out, though, if Detective Flynn

s

turns around and says no, that's not trve, that's not what I
said, I can't -- .

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. TANASI: -- impeach Detective Flynn with.
Detective Turper's --

THE COURT: Well, I think you can -- I will --
under these circumstances --

MR. TANASI: Unless Your Henor allows it.

Verbaﬂn; Digital Reporting, LL.C + 303-798-0890
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THE COURI: ~-- let's see whether or nect you hav
Detective Flynn, fir of all, ockay?

MR. TANASI: Okay.

THE COURT: Let's go from there.

MR. TANASI: Okay.

234

THE COURT: I think 1 -- my position would be that

I think you'd be able to ask him if it would surprise him
know that -- you know, okay, I'll give you how I would do
" MR. TANASI: Okay. .
THE COURT: Detective Flynn, we heard your

testimony, DA, DA, DA, DA, DA. You said you found someth

to

it.

ing

in a nightstand. Did you tell anybody that? No, I didn't

fingd it in the nightstand. No, I didn't tell anyhody that,

Well, who is Detective Turner?

MR. TANASI: Turner.

MR. MANINGO: Turner.

THE COURT: Well, were you aware that she made
rebart in this -- did you make a report, Detective Flyan?
No, I didn't. So Detective Turner would have been making
report. Were you aware that she said that you told her t
she found it in a nightstand? You know, that's --

MR. TANASI: If Your Honor --

THE COURT: -- the way you get it.

MR. TANASI: If Your Honor's okay with that lin

questioning with Detective Flynn —-

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC ¢ 303-798-0890
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THE COURT: I --

MR. TANASI: -- but I think --

THE COURT: But see if you can get him.
MR. TANASI: Sure, sure.

THE COURT: I think that would be the most

235

appropriate person, though, to talk to anyhow because he'd be

the one to be saying whether or not he found it there or he
didn't or and he told her something to that effect. I den’
kncw what -- I mean, that's the -- I think that's the best
let's see if you.can get him first.

MR. TANASI: Qkay.

THE COURT: All right? And --

MS. MERCER: For the record, I -- Detective Abell
the one that found the receipts, which is the one that --

THE COURT: WNo, no, no, no, I understand that, bu
if somebody's saving another detective found it, I think yo
have a right to ask him, did you find -- no, I didn't -- yo
know, I -- that's what I anticipate is probably going to sa
ne, I didn't find it. Were you aware that Detective Turner
did & report saying you found it?

MR. TANASI: Right., If Your Honor's okay with th
line of questioning, that soives the problem. 7 .

THE COURT: Well, I think since you were already
talking about who's doing reports and not doing reports and

they rely on other individuals doing the reports, I think

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC ¢ 303-798-0890
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that's fair.
MR. TANASI: Okay.
THE COURT: So I -~ let's --
MR. MANINGO: We'll start there.
THE 'COURT: -- go from -- let's step over that
hurdle first. Let's see if he's even here.
MR. TANASI: Ckay.
THE COURT: I mean, and if not, then we may be
waiting until next week.
MR. TANASI: OQkay.
MR. MANINGO: Thank you, sir.
MR. TANASI: Thank you, Judge.
THE COURT: We're offer the record.
(Court recessed at 4:52 P.M., until Tuesday,
May 17, 2016, at 11:32 A.M.)
* * * *
CERTIFICATE
ATTEST: I hereby certify that I have truly and correctly
transcribed the audio/visual proceedings in the above-

entitled case to the best of my ability.

%um Londd
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JULIE LORD, INDEPENDENT TRANSCRI
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A. He was.

Q. Did he acknowledge that he understocd those
rights?

A. Yes.

Q. During the course of that interview did he

indicate to you that he had in fact been the get-away
driver in the Popeye's robbery?

A. Yes.

Q. And he was able to provide you with details
that were consistent with what had occurred in the
course of that robbery; correct?

A Yes.

Q. Did he indicate to you that he in fact
received a hundred dollars for the role that he played
in that robbery?

A well, he said he received some money, a

hundred dollars for a phone bill.

Q. And gas?
A. And gas.
Q. One second please,.

The photographs that were shown on the
second page of that exhibit of the suspects, those were
photographs taken on November 25, 2014, correct? The
seconds page of Grand Jury Exhibit 21. Top row right

photograph and bottom.

0

800

U

6073







10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

(Pause in the proceedings)
MR, MANNINGO: I'll make a record, briefly, Your
Honor.
THE COURT: Okay.
MR. MANNINGO: I believe there was question and
answer while Ms. Lobo was questioning Detective Weirauch

going into the Donte Johns' interview. Ms. Mercer for the

State objected, I believe. I believe her only objection jat

the time was to hearsay. The guestion and answer with the

210

witness on the stand proceeded. I asked and interrupted Ms.

Lobo to approach the bench where I suggested to the Court
that the sustained cbjections should have been overruled
because per hearsay, it was not hearsay because it was not
necessarily being cffered for the truth of the matter
asserted; but was going towards the effect on the listener
and how the conversation was progressing during the

interview.

I also threw in there that it shouldn't have been
precluded testimony because Donte Johns at one point was [an

alleged co-conspirator in his testimony. I mean, reference

as to what he said during that interview would have been
appropriate. And you then overruled my statements.

MS. MERCER: And Your Honor, it was State's

pesition that it wasn't being offered for the effect it had

on the listener because Detective Weirauch wasn't even the
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lead investigating detective on this case, (A).

(B}, as to co-ceonspirator statements, we -- at |[this
point, they were all in custody because the cqnspirécy ended.
So those statements were no longer statements of a
co-conspirator in furtherance of that conspiracy, which ils

the hearsay exception that we were referring to.

THE COURT: Okay. Yeah, I sustained the objection;
however, we had a discussion at the bench with regards to the
specific questioning that Mr. Tanasi had. Questions thaq he
had requested about statements made by Mr. Johns that we%t to
the fact that he was in the military. And then later thére
was -- he was going to be asking questions about having a
discussion with the JAG officer. '

S50 I sustained that pbjection in light of the fact
that it would have been hearsay for Mri Johns. It's somqwhat
different than the hearsay that was being elicited by Ms.
Lobo. However, I think that because we had a bench
conference, Mr. Manningo actually was addressing the issuye
involving the statement made about the JAG cofficer as well.

So are you =--

MR. MANNINGO: 1 think I addressed both things,
Your Honor. And I'll let --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MANNINGO: -- I'll let Mr, Tanasi follow up --

THE COURT: Okay.

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC ¢ 303-798-0890
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- communications with a JAG officer or that Mr. Johns never

MR. MANNINGO: =-- but I believe we had that

discussion, and my recollection is, Your Honor, that we &

at liberty to call back Detective Weirauch in the event that

Donte Johns takes the stand and testifies that he had no

denied the events of this case.

in that event, I -- if that were to happen, I think

Your Honor gave us leave to éall Detective Weirauch back.

~THE COURT: Yeah, mny understanding was, is that
statement was.made to him and that Detective Weirauch
actually contacted the JAG officer or the JAG ocfficer
contacted Weirauch?

MR. TANASI: Yeah, the JAG officer relayed what
told to him by Donte Johns, which was denying --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. TANASI: -- his involvement in the case.

MS. MERCER: For the --

MR. TANASI: And I'd -- we'll just put --

MS. MERCER: 1I'm sorry.

MR. TANASI: -- for the record, sorry, that it

s

212

Ire

the

was

the same basis, legal basis, in that it's the effect of the

listener and not offered for the truth of the matter
asserted. So it's ncot hearsay.
THE COURT: Well --

MS. MERCER: And I would just object because I
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don't believe that it is effect on the listener. It does

explain why he did anything, A.

213

B, it's still hearsay. If he wants to get intocl the

prior inconsistent statement, I provided him the name and
contact information of the JAG officer who Donte Johns

actuvally spoke to, and he should have subpoenaed him.

TEE COURT: Yeah. Well, I'm going to allow you

because 1 do believe it will be a prior inconsistent
statement. The difference in between that statement and
was -- what Ms. Lebo was eliciting had te do with the act
statement involving his involvement in the crime sc that'
why I'sus;ained.ic as a hearsay.

But I'm going to alloy you to -- if in the even
Mr. Johns testifieé and you ask him those questidns and h
denies it, I'1l1l allow you for impeachment purposes to eli
the statement that was made. Although, I know the State’
objection ig it's hearsay from the JAG officer, but under
circumstances, I beliéve under a general exception, I bel
that the JAG officer making that statement to the deéecti
I believe, would be -- there's sufficient grounds that it
would be truthful, So that's why I do believe it is hear
but 1 do.believe there's a exception to it as well.

So J will allow you to question -- either of yo
question Mr., Jonns in that regard.

MR. TANASI: Okay.

Verbatim Digilal Reporting, LLC ¢ 303-798-0890
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN

POLICE DEPARTMENT Dats of LVMPD Possession | Time of LVMPD Possession | Pagats)

PROPERTY REPORT 112614 2330 10F 1

tncident Evntt { | | ] ° .

Search Warrant 1(411]1]2|6] — |3{0]91

B3 evibence [ no EViDENTIARY VALUE [] saFexeEPING FIREARM IMPOUNDED DUE TO

O Felony [ Groas Misd 0 Misd 01 No Ownar Identified Must Provide Owner Info In

List Other Related Event #s (Fany) | L] Destroy Persons Section and denty | = 1 ¢ POrely Pretective Order rreo)
O Retwm to DMV Owner # For Each ltem Listed. | (3 Extendsd Order of Protection

{mpounding Officer (Print Name) Unlt P# / Inttials Task Force Officers from Other Jurisdictions

5 - P# { Initials

PERSONS: (S)suspect | (Vyvictiar { (O)owneR | (FYFINDER

Bes Oo° X Phone # - | Chargefs)
v 0OF .
Hobson Tony 7-7-89 Unknown RWDW, Burglary Wi, Firearm,
#1 Conspl racy_Robben} Kidnap
Street Address City St Zip Gode | Arres! Daie T
3955 E. Charleston #250 LV NV 89104 11-25-14 5892420
% ) E O | Last Name First Name, Mi DOB Phone # Charge(s) |
v F
8 Starr Brandon 5-20-88 Unknown RWDW, Burglary W/, Fiream,
Conspsra Robbery Ridnap
Street Addross Gty Slate  Zip Gode | Amresi Date D8 ]
269 Pictorial St Palmdale CA 93550 11-25-14 7014732
% [ B O | Lasi Name First Name, MI [35]:] Phone # Charga(s) |
v F
" Johns Donte 3-22-94 Unknown RWDW, Burglary W/ Firearm,
Conspiracy Robbery, Kidnap
Street Address City State  Zip Code | AmestDate ID# ]
5563 Qarvhin Faus CT Lv NV 89148 11-25-14 7014733
Released item(s) By Officer P# & Initials Date Released Relsased to Owner | Owner's Signature
(Above Person) #
#
Remarks (Relaling to impotind)

All ltems recovered from inside 3955 E. Charleston #250 Las Vegas, NV. 88104 during the exectution of a lawful search
warrant. [tem #1 was Iocated in living room by Detective Abell. ftems #2 & #3 were located by Detective Scllmenu froma
hallway cabinet. ltem #4 was located by Detective Flynn from a nightstand drawer in the master bedroom. ltem #5 was

located by Detective Abell in the kitchen garbage can.

AR s R e

_g-n"&l’ﬂﬂl’ERTY DE§CR!
J

Hooded jacket
Pittsburgh Pirates Baseball cap
Cincinnatti Reds Baseball cap
Popeye's reciepts

Paperwork in name Tony Hobson

- )| | - | eh

LVMPD 67 a (Rav. 114) WORD 2010
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INST

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

~VY§-

TONY LEE HOBSON,
BRANDON STAR, and

DONTE JOHNS.

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Plaintiff,

"Defendants.
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a co-conspirator that follows as one of the probable and natural consequences|of the objcct
of the conspiracy even if it was not intended as part of the original plan and .e';fen if he was

not present at the time of the commission of such act.

Aiding and Abetting
- Anyone who knowingly & with criminal intent aids and abets in the commission of
the crime with the intent that the crime be committed is regarded as a principal iP the crime.
- A person aids and abets the commission of a crime if he knowingly & with criminal
intent aids, promotes, encourages or instigates by act and/or advice, the commission of such

ctime with the intention that the crime be committed.
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Deadly Weapon

"Deadly weapon" means any instrument which, if used in the o manner
contemplated by its design and construction, will or is likely to cause substantial bodily harm
or death; any weapon, device, instrument, materidl or substance which, under the

tircumstances in which it is used, aftempted to be used or threaiened to beused, 35 readily |

capable of causing substantial bodily harm or death.

Deadly Weapon

You are instructed that a firearm is a deadly weapon.

Firearm
You are instructed that “firearm” includes any firearm that is loaded or Iun]ua{kan:i and

operable or inoperable. “Firearm” includes:

1. Any device designed to be used as a weapon from which 2 pl_'ojgcﬂle may be
expelled through the barfel by the force of any explosion or other form of oomb{lstion.

2. Any device used to mark the clothing of a person with paint [or any other
substance; and

3. Any device from which a metallic projectile, including any ball bearing or pellet,

may be expelled by means of spring, gas, air or other force.
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Robbery
Robbery is the unlawful taking of personal property from the person of another, or in

his presence, against his will, by means of force or violence or fear of injury, immediate or
future, to his person or property, or the person or property of a member of his family, or of
- anyone-in‘his company at the time of the robbery. Such Torce or fear miist be 'ii!s'éd to obtain |
or retain possession of the property, to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking, or to

facilitate escape, in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial if used to compel
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acquiescence to the taking of or escaping with the property.
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Burglary

Every person who, by dey or night, enters any automobile, with the inteat to commit
robbery therein is guilty of Burglary.

‘Eviéry person who commits the crime of burglary, who has in his possession or gains
possession of any deadly weapon at any time during the commission of the crime, at any
time before leaving the structure, or upon leaving the structure, is guilty of burglary while in

I possession of a deadly weapon.
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Attempt
The elements of an attempt to commit a crime are:
(1) The intent to commit the crime;
(2) Performance of some act towards its commission; and

(3) Failure to consummate its commission.
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evidence.

Conspiracy

Conspiracy is an agreement or mutual understanding between two or more persons to
commit a crime. To be guilty of conspiracy, a defendant must intend to commit, or to aid in
the commission of, the specific crime agreed to, The crime is the agreement to do something
unlawful; it does not matter whether it was successful or not.

| Conspiracy is an agreement or mutual understanding between two or mare persons to
commit a crime. To be guilty of conspiracy, a defendant must intend to commit, or to aid in

the commission of, the specific crime agreed to. The crime is the agreement to do something

unlawful; it does not matter whether it was successful or not.

It is not necessary in proving a conspiracy to show a meeting of the alleged
consbiralurs or the making of an express or formal agreement. The formation and existence
of a conspiracy may be inferred from all circumstances tending to show the common intent
and may be.proved in the same way as any other fact may be proved, either by 4d’n~ect
tcstimogy of the fact or by circumstantial evidence, or by both direct and circumstantial

Evidence of the commission of an act which furthered the purpose of an alleged
conspkaéy is not, in itself, sufficient to prove that the person committing Ithe act was a
member of such a conspiracy. ‘

If a aumber of persons enter into an agreement to commit an illegaf act then that
agreement is known in law as a conspiracy. If a conspiracy is established, and the purpose |
thereof is to commit a dangerous felony, then each member of the conspiracy|is responsible
and liable for the acts of the other member or members. '

Each member of a criminal conspiracy is liable for each act and bound by each
declaration of every other member of the conspiracy if the act or the declaration is in
furtherance of the object of the conspiracy.

The act of one conspirator pursuant to or in furtherance of the common design of the

conspiracy is the act of all conspirators. Every conspirator is legally responsib'le for an act of
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LAS VEGAS METROPOUTAN PDLICE DEPARTMENT
VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 14

EVENT #: LLV141124003628

STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

| have no idea what they're doing.

>

TW:  You know they’re doing a robbery. | know you're not stupid. He got outta tha%t
car with a mask tonight. Wearin' the same stuff he does every night. Nothin’
would've been different. The only thing woulda been different - why it didn't
happen is ‘cause the cops were there. You're not showing any remorse, Donte. .
You're also not owning up for your responsibility, for your actions. It's childlike.
What's the last one you guys did?

Buffalo, | believe, it was, um, what the hell was that - Popeye's.
Pcpeye's?

Was it Popeye's?

How much money did you guys get?

| have no idea. | don't tatk about it.

Where did you park at?

On the street,

g?g?g?g?

Do you remember what stree! it was? Was it a house, like a residential street or

a business street?

It was business.

g?

How far away from the store? Like a football field? Two football fields? Super

close?
A Mm-hm.

TW: Do you remember what time that happened? You said Buffalo, do you know

Voluntary Statement (Rev. 08/10)
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 15

EVENT #: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

what the cross street was on Buffalo?

A | do not.

TW: All right. What happened before that?

A:  That goes biank.

Q:  No, itdoesn't. People don't suffer from am- amnesia at your age.

TW: Tell him about that one then, how iong were they outta the car?

A: 20 seconds.

TW: Can you actually see ‘em the entire time?

A No.

TW: How did they break the window?

A | have no idea.

TW: What were they carrying with them when they get outta the car?

A | don't know. They - it's not in my car, or, well at least | thought, right?

TW. It's your car.

A Yeah, supposed to know what's in it.

TW: Exactly. They - okay. So, when they're comin' out of the place, they wakin’

casually or are they runnin'?

A Mm, | just have my doors unlocked, and | den't - I'm faced the other way.
- TW: Always the same people, right?

A i'm sorry?

TW. Always the same pecple, right?

Voluntary Statement (Rev. 06/10)
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 18

EVENT #: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

A No more, no less.

TW: Ckay. How many you think you've done?

A It's probably been the second, or third. Third.

TW: Third that night?

A No. Third.

TW: Totai? You're lying. You lie again, | walk cutta that door. You're wasting my
time if you're lying. You think we're good enough to catch you on the second
one? No. Do you think we're good encugh to figure out, hey, that's the call fet's
wait for them to do one on the second one? No. We're not that good. Weknow
how many you've done. We can show you pictures, we're not gonna play that
route because we're not gonna pull remorse out of you. 'm not gonna try to help
you look like you're sorry. If none of that comes freely, you're not sorry. You're
calculated and ptanning. So far, you haven't shown any remorse. You'veishown
respect, but not remorse. Does that make sense? .

A:  Yes, sir.

TW: Okay. People that feel sorry for what they did, they're like, it flows. It justicomes

out. They tell the truth, like, they’re just pukin’ the truth out. They tell hov; many
they've done. They explain why and they just, and they tet it flow ‘cause t'hey're
honestly sorry. That - you've been in custody now for a while, that should start
sinkin’ in if you're ever gonna be sorry. Nobody's coming back fomorrow;to get

this from you. | can't tell if you're slightly sorry because you got caught or sorry

Valuntary Statement (Rev. 06/10)
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LAS VEGAS METROPOUTAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 17

EVENT #: LLV1411 24063628
STAYEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

because of whatcha did. How many have you done?
Um, it has to be three or four, that's all | can remember.
I'm a man of my word, man. I'm walkin’ out. You wanna talk to me before
tomorrow’s (unintelligible).

This is your opportunity to tell the truth, man.

I'm counting backwards. I'm trying to figure that out,

Because this is the only '(unintelligible). We're not doing this, you know. Um

he's right, y- y- this is your opportunity to be honest.
All right. | am, sir.
Totally, straight up honest.

I'm being honest.

Easier to get it all out of the way at once, uh, then for us to come back and|start

just poundin’ you later with the charges for other stuff. Just put it all together,
that way we can tell the DAs and the judges he was honest, straightforward,
sorry for what he did. Are you sormry?

Yes, sir. Completely.

Well, then. Help me paint that picture, because right now, | can't - | can't see that

picture of you being sorry. Um, this is your opportunity to give us your sidle of the

story and what - what occurred, why, uh, was it your brother? Was it his plan?

Did he drag you into this? ‘Cause | don't think you planned it, ‘cause youre in

the military, right?

820
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 18

EVENT #: LLV141 124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

Yes, sir,

Who's your first sergeant? You got a gunny sergeant?
First Sgt. Gunner Burney

Bumey? Okay. ‘Cause | was in the military for 23 years. | know bein’ in the
military you gotta have some moral compass, right?

Yes, sir,

You gotta be an upstanding individual for them to even take you in the military.
You know, you show respect loyalty, and | know it's your brother, but somehow
you got dragged into this. Um, so, right now I'm giving you that opportunity to be
remorseful, tell me the truth, what occurred. We - we know what occurred, but
it's - it's better coming from you, it really is. Because we can paint the picture
from our picture, ‘cause our picture is very bad. So, | need your side of the story
because if | just write my side of the story, as my partner said, it's awful. Okay?
‘Cause what they did inside was horrible. So, | need to know what, totally honest
from you, what occurred and what happened so t can paint your picture amii not
just what | know and what I've read, and what l'\)e talked to. 'Cause | talked to all
the victims. You know, i talked to all the people that were in the store. I've heard
what their side of the story, the terror that they went through. You know, thleir
tears when they're trying to re-live what just happened to ‘em. You know, it’s not
good gettin' a gun pointed straight for your head and you think your life’s over.

You know, you're not gonna see your kids again. So what happens if he

821



LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 19

EVENT #: LLV1411240036828
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

accidentally discharged that firearm and puts a bullet in her head? Then you're
goin’ down for murder. Luckily, that didn't happen in this case. So that's why |
need your side of the story so | can - | can write what you tell me, because if|l - |
don't want to write just what | know of all the things, because then it makes you
look really, really, really bad. So | need your side of the story so at least | ca‘n
write your side of the story. ‘Cause there's two sides 1o every story, you know
that, right?

A Yes, sir.

Qo

Okay. So, | need you to dig down déep in that military, when you went in the
mititary, you know, you made pledges, right?
Yes, sir.

To be honest, trustworthy, loyal, right?

Yes, sir.

Respectiul, fight for your country, right?

Yes, sir.

o » R ® 0 X

Well, | need you to be that person now and tell me the truth, all right? And we'll
go through ‘em, one at a time. And then, if you would like, I'll - I'll even letiyou

write your apology letter to the victims, which looks really good, especially|if
you're really sorry. If you're not sorry, then don't do it. You know, that's up to

you. Um, so, let's start with the one last night at Buffalo. That was at which one?

Popeye's?

Voluntary Statement {Rev. 06/10}
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT
VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 20
EVENT #: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS
A: 1believe it was Popeye's. |
Q:  Okay. What time of day was that?
A After 10.
Q:  After 107 Okay - pm or am?
A. pm.
Q:  And you said Buffalo?
A: Yes.
Q:  You know - you know what side of Buffalo?
A:  ldonot
Q:  Eastside of town? Middle town? West side of town? How did you get there?
A 95 North.
Q: You taok 95 North?
A Yes, sir.
Q:  Where is your house at?
A: Um, | actually go to my brother's, ‘cause he just had his baby. So i'm usually
over there a lot.
Q:  Overat - and that was Tony?
A Yes.
Q: s that his real name, Tony Hopkins?
A Yes.
Q: Okay. And whete does Tony live? Which part of town.
Voluntaty Statement (Rev. 06H0)
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_ Is it an apartment complex or a house?

P >» O > B »

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 21

EVENT #: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

Um, off Charlesion.

Charleston? You know where at off Charleston?
Mm, 95,

Charleston and 957

Mm-hm.

Apartment.

Okay. So you were at his house? Does he got kids?
Yes.

How many kids he got?

Three.

Three? Has he been in trouble before?

Yes.

Okay. So you were over at his house and you all left his house and went stra
to Popeye’s?

Yes.

Okay. And what happened - what occurre& at Popeye's?
Just, they went in, they came out, and | drove them home.
Okay, who went in?

Um, two individuals. Him and another - another guy.

Tony and the other guy - what's his name?

ight
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VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
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‘ EVENT #: LLV1411240013828

STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

{ have no idea. Bo.

Huh?

Bo.

Bo?

| think Frebow.

Frebow?

Be.

B-O-W?

B-O, | believe.

Is that a street name?

{ think so.

Who's friends with Bo? Tony?

Mm-hm. | don't know him, but | only know him by Bo.
Okay. So, how long have you known Bo?

Six years.

Six years? And Tony, you all have the same mothet?

Yes.

O » £ ®» O ®P P B R E O 2O F L X O 2

last night?
Black,
Q. Black?

Voluniary Statement (Rev. 06/10)
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VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 23

EVENT #: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

Black (unintelligible)

Black what? ‘
Mm.

What's Tony wearing?

Black hoodie, black pants. Same thing as always.
Same thing he’s wearing tonight?

Yes.

Exactly?

| don't really (unintelligible) to be honest, 1 really don'’t pay attention to that.
not 1o - 1 don't want to be involved, | just don't wanna do it.
Okay. How about Bo, what was he wearing? Same thing as he's wearing
tonight?

Yes,

Okay. What, uh, what weapons did each one have? Tony had what?

| don't know. They, um, | just got a knife in my pocket that | always carry.

You got a knife in your pocket?

Try

Yes. It's a small, in my palm. As far as they, uh -~ | ain't - | don't see weapons at

all.

Well, the weapons come from the car. They're in your car, so where do - where

do they keep the weapons at?

Perhaps in the trunk.
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EVENT #: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS
Okay. So, when you leave the house, do they put the weapons in the trunk?
Uh, they usually take, uh, yeah, probably.
You know.

Yes.

e *» O 2 0O

Okay. So, does Tony keep the weapans at his house or does Bo keep the
weapons at his house?

I'm not sure.

Or does each one keep their weapons.

| have no idea where they keep those things.

o » © »

Okay, but you go straight from Tony’s house to Popeye's, right? Do you pick up
Bo, or is Bo at Tony's house?

He's at Tony's house.

Does Bo live there.lor does he just...
| believe he lives somewhere else.
He lives somewhere else?

| believe so.

o » o 2 £ X

Is Bo always at Tony's house when you pick him up, or do you have to gojpick up

Bo?

»

He's always there.
Q:  He's always there? Okay. Sc the weapons come out of Tony's house.

Obviously, they have to, right? ‘Cause you don't keep ‘em in your car, right?

Voluntary Stalemesnt (Rev. 06/10)
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EVENT &: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

A No.

Q:  Aliright, so they transport the weapons out of his house, his apartment, right?

A: Mm-hm.

Q:  And they put 'em in your trunk?

A Yes.

Q:  ‘'Cause { know you've seen ‘em right?

A Yes.

Q:  Seen 'em actually put ‘em in the trunk.

A: I've seen 'em go through the trunk and then they ask me to pop the trunk.

Q:  Okay, so every time you all leave to go do one of these licks, they pop the trunk?

A Yes.

Q:  Okay. Allright. And, on all the events, did you ali switch up cars a lot, or did you
always use your car, or did you use somebody else’s car?

A Always from my, when | drove, which | can only remember four - four or five.

Q:  Well, there's more. Four or five.

A It would only be my car for the four.

Q:  Orfive.

A:  Four or five.

Q: Okay. Well, there's actually more than that. So...

A is there?

Q. Yes,

Voluntary Statement (R_a:,.OBI‘ID)
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VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
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EVENT #: LLV141124003628

STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS

I have no idea of those.
Okay, sc we'll get through the ones you do know, and then, uh, so they went into

Pop- Tony and Bo went into Popeye's. How long were they in the store?

30 seconds.

30 seconds?

30 to 60.

Al right.

| don't know when they actually go in.

All right, so where did you drop them off at at Popeye's?
Side street. | don't know the side street - Magoo's?
Magoo's? Is that the street?

No, it's a bar.

o » 0 » 0 2 R P QX

It's a bar? Okay. Okay, so you dropped them off at the bar and they walk over

I
to Popeye's? So the bar close to Popeye's? Pretty close.

It's a side street to the bar, and then Popeye's is across the street.
Q:  Okay, the bar's across the street from Popeye's. So they went across the street?
i parked on the Popeye's, | was just saying Magoo's ‘cause | don't know the
street name. | just remember Magoo's being right there.

Okay. So you parked on the street? And then they walked over to Popeye's?

Mm-hm.

Q: Okay. And then when they came back, what did they have? How much?

Vcluntary Statement (Rev, 06110}
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VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 27
EVENT #: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS
A:  ldon't know about the amount of money.
Q:  Youdon't know?
A That's for gas and to pay the phone bill.
Q:  You asked for gas money? So'how much did they give you total?
A 100 dolfars.
Q: Fhat's it?
A | don't - | don't wanna be a part of this.
Q:  Okay, so they give you 100 dollars for gas and a phone bill?
A Mm-hm.
Q:  Okay.
A | don't tell ‘em it's for that.
Q:  Huh?
A: 1 don't tell them that.
Q: Right, but that's what it's for, right?
A: Mm-hm.
Q:  Okay. | mean, you gotia have gas to get around, right? I{'s all the way over on
Buffalo, is it? 95 and Buffalo, right?
A Mm-hm. Somewhere around there.

Q:  Somewhere around there. You get off of 95 though, right, somewhere right?
You remember the street you got off on?

A: Mm, | don't.

Voluniary Statemenl (Re‘v. 08/10)
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VOLUNTARY STATEMENT
PAGE 28
EVENT #: LLV141124003628
STATEMENT OF: DONTE JOHNS
Okay.
Could be Cheyenne.
Cheyenne? That's way over on the west end side of town, right.
Close to Summerlin?
To Cimarron?
| have no i- { don't know my way around Vegas.
1412 E. Hacienda. Where is - where is exactly is Ha- where's that at?
Mm, UNLV.
Oh, downtown? Down off the strip?
Mm-hm.
Okay. All right, | know what you're talkin’ about now. Is that an apartment?
Yes, unit C.
Were they carrying anything else besides, uh, weapons?
No. |
Did they, uh, what kind - what kind of gloves were they wearing?
Black.
Black? Any other colors?
Not that 1 could tell. Maybe black and gray.
All right, after the Popeye’s, what did you all do?

Went home.

o » 0o » 0> 0 ® O PR 2R EO RO RO 2R

Okay. Well, then how about before the Popeye’s?

Veoluntary Sialement {Rev. 08/10)
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Electronically Filed
3/21/2019 9:45 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU,
ror Rl b i
STEVEN B. WOLFSON £

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

CAL THOMAN

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #12649

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
-Vs- CASE NO: A-18-784448-W
TONY LEE HOBSON, .
SO DEPT NO: XIX
Defendant.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW AND ORDER

DATE OF HEARING: February 25, 2018
TIME OF HEARING: 8:30 AM

THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable WILLIAM D.
KEPHART, District Judge, on the 25" da}_f of February, 2018, the Petitioner being present, the
Respondent being represented by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney,
by and through FRANK LOGRIPPO, Dcpuly District Attorney, and the Court having
considered the matter, including briefs, transcripts, arguments of counsel, and documents on
file herein, now therefore, the Court makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of
law:

I
1/
i
H

Case Number: A-18-784448-W
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FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
On December 12, 2014, Tony Lee Hobson (“Defendant™), Brandon Starr (“Defendant

Starr”), and Donte Johns (“Defendant Johns™) (collectively, “Defendants”) were charged by
way of Indictment as follows: Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Category B Felony - NRS
200.380, 199.480); Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm (Category B Felony - NRS
205.060); First Degree Kidnapping (Category A Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320); and
Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.165), for a
single armed robbery incident that occurred on November 24, 2014. Bail was set at
$1,000,000.00 for each of the Defendants. ,

On February 20, 2015, the State-filed an eighty-two (82) count Superseding
Indictment. On April 24; 2015, the State filed a Second Superseding Indictment charging
Defendant with the following: Counts 1, 8, 11, ‘16, 22, 26, 33, 37, 44, 48, 60, and 68, —
Burglary While In Possession Of A Deadly Weapon; Counts 2,9,12,17, 23, 27, 34, 38, 45,
49, 52, 54, 61, 69, and 81 — Conspiracy to Commit Robbery; Counts 3-7, 10, 13-15, 18-21,
24-25, 28-32, 39-43, 46-47, 50-51, 56-59, 64, 66, 72, 74, 76, 78, and 80 — Robbery With Use
of a Deadly Weapon; Counts 35-36, and 82 — Attempt Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon
(Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.330, 193.165); Counts 53, 62, and 70 — Conspiracy
to Commit Kidnapping (Category B Felony - NRS 200.310, ‘200.320, 199.480); Counts 55.,
63, 65, 71, 73, 75, 77, and 79 — First Degree Kidnapping With Use rof a Deadly Weapon
(Category A Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320, 193.165); and Count 67 — Attempt First Degree
Kidnapping With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320,
193.330, i93.165). The Superseding Indictments covered a series of fourteen (14) armed
robberies that occurred on or between October 28, 2014, and November 25, 2014.

On March 18, 2015, Defendant filed a Pre-trial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The
State filed a return on April 17, 2015. Defendant’s Petition was denied on May 18, 2015,
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After several continuances due to discovery issues, trial commenced on May 5, 2016,
before the Honorable William Kephart. On May 25, 2016, the jury returned a guilty verdict on
69 felony and 2 gross misdemeanor counts.'

Defendant was sentenced on September 8, 2016 and a Judgment of Conviction was
entered on September 20, 2016, in which Defendant was adjudicated guilty as follows:
COUNTS 1, 8, 11, 16, 22, 33, 37, 44, 48, 52, 60, and 68 BURGLARY WHILE IN
POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony); COUNTS 2, 9, 12, 17, 23,
34, 38, 45, 49, 54, 61, 69 and 81 CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY (Category B
Felony); COUNTS 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 13, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 25, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 46,
47, 50, 51, 56, 57, 58, 59, 64, 66, 72, 74, 76, 78 and 80 ROBBERY WITH USE OF A
DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony); COUNTS 35, 36, and 82 ATTEMPT ROBBERY
WITH USE OF A DEADLY (Category B Felony); COUNT 55 FALSE IMPRISONMENT
WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony); COUNTS 63 and 65 SECOND
DEGREE KIDNAPPING WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony);
COUNTS 71, 73, 75, 77 and 79 FALSE IMPRISONMENT (Gross Misdemeanor).

Defendant was sentenced as follows: as to COUNT 1 - 12-84 months; as to COUNT 2
— 12-36 months; as to COUNT 3 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60
months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 4 -24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE
12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 5 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 6 — 24-84 months;
plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 7 —
24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon;
COUNTS 1- 7 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER; COUNT 8 — 12-84 months; as to
COUNT 9 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 10 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 8-10 CONCURRENT with EACH
OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 7; as to COUNT 11 — 12-84 months; as to COUNT
12 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 13 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a 12-

I Defendant was found not guilty of the following counts: 26-32, 53, 62, 67, and 70.
3
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60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 14 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 15 —24-84
months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12 to 60 months for use of a deadly weapon;
COUNTS 11-15 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 10;
as to COUNT 16 — 12-84 months; as to COUNT 17 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 18 — 24-
84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to
COUNT 19 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly
weapon; as to COUNT 20 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term 12-60 months for use
ofa deadly weapon; as to COUNT 21 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60
months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 16-21 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER
and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 15; as to COUNT 22 — 12-84 months; as to COUNT 23 —
12-36 months; as to COUNT 24 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term 12-60 months
for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 25 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 22-25 CONCURRENT with EACH
OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 21; as to COUNT 33 — 12-84 fnonths; asto COUNT
34 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 35 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a
MINIMUM 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 36 —24-84 months; plus
a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 33-36
CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 25; as to COUNT 37
— 12-84 months; as to COUNT 38 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 39 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 40 — 24-84
months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as fo
COUNT 41 -24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 month for use of a deadly
weapon; as to COUNT 42 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a 12-60 months
for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 43 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 37-43 CONCURRENT with EACH
OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 36; as to COUNT 44 — 12-84 months; as to COUNT
45 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 46 — 24-84 months; plus a CQNSECUTIVE term of 12-60
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months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 47 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE
term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 44-47 CONCURRENT with
EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 43, as to COUNT 48 — 12-84 months; as to
COUNT 49 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 50 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 51 - 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 month for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 48-51
CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 47; as to COUNT 52
— 12-84 months; as to COUNT 54 -12-36 months; as to COUNT 55 - 12-36 months; as to
COUNT 356 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term 12-60 months for use of a deadly
weapon; as to COUNT 57 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for
use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 58 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of
12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 59 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 52-59
CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 51; as to COUNT 60
— 12-84 months; as to COUNT 61 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 63 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of a 12-60 month for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 64 — 24-
84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to
COUNT 65 — 24-84 moﬁths; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a MINIMUM of 12-60 months
for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 66 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a déadly weapon; COUNTS 60-66 CONCURRENT with EACH
OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 59; as to COUNT 68 - 12-84 months; as to COUNT
69 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 71 - 364 days in the Clark County Detention Center; as to
COUNT 72 - to 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a
deadly weapon; as to COUNT 73 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a 12-60
months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 74 - 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE
term of 12-60 month for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 75 - 364 days in the Clark
County Detention Center; as to COUNT 76 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of
12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 77 — 364 days in the Clark County
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Detention Center; as to COUNT 78 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60
months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 79 — 364 day in the Clark Coimty Detention
Center; as to COUNT 80 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for
use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 68-80 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and
CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 66; as to COUNT 81 - 12-36 months; as to COUNT 82 — 24-84
months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS
81 and 82 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 80; with
six hundred fifty four (654) days of credit for time served. Defendant was sentenced to the
Nevada Department of Corrections to an aggregate term of 1,824 months with a minimum
parole eligibility of 444 months. A Judgment of Conviction (“JOC”) was filed on September
20, 2016.?

On October 3, 2016, Defendant filed a2 Notice of Appeal. On April 26, 2017, Defendant
filed his opening brief. On August 24, 2017, the State filed its answering brief. On June 1,
2018, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed in part and reversed in part Defendant’s Judgment
of Conviction. The Nevada Supreme Court reversed three of Defendant’s robbery counts (25,
39, and 66). Remittitur was issued on June 26, 2018,

On November 13, 2018, Defendant filed the instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
(“Petition™). The State responded on February 14, 2019. The district court heard this matter
and denied Defendant’s Petition on February 25, 2019.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Beginning in October of 2014, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (“Metro”)
detectives began investigating a series of armed robbery incidents with similar M.O. and

suspect descriptions. See Defendant’s Presentence Investigation Report (“PSI”), filed August

2 A clerical error was later noted, and an Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed January
9, 2017 reflecting that he was sentenced as to Count 36- sixty (60) months with a minimum
parole eligibility of twelve (12) months, plus a consecutive sentence of sixty (60) months with
a minimum parole eligibility of twelve (12) months. The error did not affect his aggregate
sentence.
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23, 2016, at 5-6. On October 28, 2014, two suspects entered an El Pollo Loco restaurant
through an open rear door and ordered all the employees to the ground. Id. The suspects took
approximately $1,000 in cash from a safc. Id. They also pistol whipped an employee, punched
a pregnant female in the side of the stomach, and punched another employee in the back of the
neck. Id.

On October 29, 2014, two suspects entered a 7-11 and took $100 in cash out of the
registers. Id. On November 1, 2014, two male suspects entered a Pizza Hut and ordered the
employees to the ground. Id. One of the suspects took the entire register off the counter and
both suspects then fled from the business. Id. The employees estimated there was a total of
$160 in the register. Id. A review of surveillance footage later revealed a third suspect entered
the business and acted as a lookout. Jd. On November 3, 2014, two male suspects entered a
Pizza Hut, jumped over the counter and forced all the employees to the ground. Id. They then
took approximately $200 in cash from the register, along with an employee’s cell phone, cash
and pocket knife. Id. One of the suspects pistol whipped the manager before they both fled out

the rear door of the business. Id. Surveillance video from a nearby business showed a gray

‘Dodge Charger pull into the complex and park just east of the Pizza Hut. Id. On November 4,

2014, two male suspects entered a Little Caesar’s and demanded the safe to be opened. Id. The
employee advised the suspects he did not have access to the safe. Id. One of the suspects then
took the employee’s cell phone. Id. A gray Charger was once again scen near the business and
was no longer present after the robbery. Id.

On November 15, 2014, a male suspect entered a Popeyes by kicking in a glass door,
armed with a handgun. Id. An employee attempted to flee out a back door and was confronted
by a second male suspect. Id. The first suspect ordered the manager to open the safe at
gunpoint. Id. The suspect then took approximately $2,000 in cash before fleeing. Id. On
November 17, 2014, a male suspect entered a Burger King by breaking the window to the front
door. Id. The employees ran out the back door where one of the employees was hit in the face
and knocked to the ground by a second male suspect. 1d. The second suspect then produced a

revolver, held an employee down on the ground and stated, “Where is the money at? I’'m gonna
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kill him if I don’t get the money.” Id. The manager ran out of the business and contacted police.
Id. The first suspect, along with a third suspect, then grabbed one of the employees and
demanded the money from the safe and registers. Id. Ultimately, the suspects left by running
out the back door without any money. Id. That same day, three suspects entered a Wendy’s by
breaking the side glass door of the business. 1d. One of the suspects approached a female sitting
in the lobby, grabbed her by sweatshirt and forced her to the back area. Id. The store manager
was struck in the head with a handgun and forced to open the safe. Id. The manager then
removed the cash and placed it in the bag the suspects had brought with them. Id. All three
suspects then ran out the side emergency exit. Id.

On November 21, 2014, two male suspects entered a Wendy’s by breaking the glass
door to the business. Id. Both suspects gathered the employees aﬁd moved them to the office.
Id. One of the suspects approached the manager placed the revolver to her head and had her
empty approxnmately $200 in cash from the safe. Id. On November 23, 2014, two male
suspects entered an El Pollo Loco by breaking the glass door. Id. One of the employees fled
out the back door and was met by the second male suspect who then forced the employee back
inside the business. Id. The suspects forced the manager to open the safe and took
approximately $2,050 in cash. Id. Later that day, two male suspects entered a Taco Bell by
breaking the glass door. Id. The employees fled to the rear exit door whére they were stopped
by one of the suspects. Id. However, one of the employees was able to escape while two other
employees were forced into the office at gunpoint. Id. The first suspect told the employee to
“open the fucking safé,” while pointing his handgun at her head. Id. Both employees told the
suspects they did not have access. Id. The two suspects then fled the area in a Dodge Charger.
Id. Lastly, on November 24, 2014, a male suspect broke the front door of a Popeyes location
and entered with a handgun. Id. The employees immediately ran to the back exit and were met
by a second suspect who forced them back into the business at gunpoint. Id. The first suspect
gave the manager a bag and demanded she fill it with the money from the safe and cash
registers. Id. The suspects then took the bag along with the manager’s cell phone as they ran

out the emergency door. &
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On November 25, 2014, a detective familiar with the investigation observed a gray
Dodge Charger matching the suspect vehicle pull into a Taco Bell parking lot. Id. A short time
later a male, later identified as the Defendant Starr, exited the rear passenger side of the vehicle
wearing a mask covering his face. Id. Defendant Starr then opened the trunk and was standing
next to it when patrol units arrived. Id. Defendant Starr was taken into custody, along with the
Defendant and Defendant Johns, Id. In the open trunk of the Charger the detective observed a
two-foot long ax and a semi-automatic firearm. Id. Several other items were later located in
the vehicle including a Smith and Wesson revolver, gloves, surgical masks, folding pocket
knives and clothing which matched the suspects’ clothing in the robberies. Id.

Upon questioning, Defendant Johns confessed to being the getaway driver for several
robberies. Id. He also admitted that Defendant Starr and Defendant would enter the businesses
and conduct the robberies. Id. Defendant Johns told authorities that he stayed in the vehicle at
all times and never entered any of the businesses during the robberies. Id. Defendant Johns
had detailed knowledge of the robberies and stated that Defendant and Defendant Starr showed
him the firearms used in the robberies. Id. Defendant and Defendant Starr were uncooperative
and refused to speak with detectives. Id. Defendant and Defendant Starr were both wearing
clothing which matched the suspects’ clothing seen on surveillance videos from multiple
robbery events. Id, Based on the above facts, Defendant was arrested, transported to the Clark
County Detention Center, and booked accordingly.

ANALYSIS

In his Petition Defendant claims that counsel was ineffective for (1) not objecting and
not seeking a mistrial regarding incriminating receipts found at Defendant’s residence; (2)
failing to raise the issue that accomplice testimony was not corroborated under NRS
175.291(1) in a pre-trial Petition; (3) not arguing that there were inconsistencies between
Defendant Johns’ statements to police and Detective Abell’s testimony at the first grand jury
proceeding; (4) not objecting to two DNA reports that were offered into evidence; (5) failing
to object to the admission of photographs; (6) not independently testing DNA or hiring a DNA
expert; (7) failing to subpoena all the alleged victims; (8) not subpoenaing a JAG officer; (9)
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not raising a violation of the Confrontation -Clause issue on direct appeal; (10) failing to
subpoena Detective Flynn; (11) not subpoenaing Officer Mohler; (12) failing to investigate;
(13) failing to impeach the DNA expert with an email she sent Detective Abell; and (14) failing
to challenge jury instruction 43 regarding the corroboration of accomplice testimony.

L. STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF
COUNSEL

The Sixth Amendment to the‘United States Constitution provides that, “[i]n all criminal
prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his
defense.” The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that “the right to counsel is
the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686,
104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); sce also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323
(1993). | ‘

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove
he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of counsel by satisfying the two-pronged
Strickland test. 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S, Ct. at 2063-64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138,
865 P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's

_representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for

counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have
been different. 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden. Nevada State
Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-

part test). “[T]here is no reason for a court decjding an ineffective assistance claim to approach
the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant
makes an insufficient showing on one.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine
whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was
ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). “Effective counsel
does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[wlithin the range of

competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.’” Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430,432,

10
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537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

“There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the
best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.”
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. “Strategic choices made by counsel after
thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable.” Dawson v. State,

108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784

P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must “judge the reasonableness of counsel's
challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's
conduct.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. Counsel cannot be ineffective for
failing to make futile objections or arguments. See Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d
1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the “immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if
and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop.” Rhyne v.
State, 118 Nev, 1, &, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective
assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine
whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render

reasonably effective assistance.” Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711

(1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should “second guess reasoned choices
between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against
allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the
possibilities are of success.” Id. To be effective, the constitution “does not require that counsel
do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel
cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade.”

United States v. Cronic, 466 U:S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel’s representation fell below an
objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a
reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been

different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing

11
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Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). “A reasonable probability is a probability
sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89,
694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064-65, 2068). “The defendant carries the affirmative burden of
establishing prejudice.” Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 646, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994). A

habeas corpus petitioner must prove the factual allegations underlying his ineffective-

assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012,
103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004).

Further, there is a strong presumption that appellate counsel's performance was
reasonable and fell within “the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” See United

States v. Aguirre, 912 F.2d 555, 560 (2nd Cir. 1990); citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104

S. Ct. at 2065. A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel must also satisfy the two-

prong test set forth by Strickland. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114

(1996). In order to satisfy Strickland’s second prong, the defendant must show that the omitted
issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Id.

The professional diligence and competence required on appeal involves “winnowing
out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a

few key issues.” Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In

particular, a “brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments .
.. in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions.” Id. at 753, 103 S. Ct. at 3313.
For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed
counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very
goal of vigorous and effective advocacy.” 1d. at 754, 103 S. Ct. at 3314.

Lastly, the Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove
the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance
of the evidence.” Id. Furthermore, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a

petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if

true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222,

225 (1984).“Bare™ and “naked” allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled

12
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by the record. Id. NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant part, “[Petitioner] must allege specific facts
supporting the claims in the petition[.] . . . Failure to allege specific facts rather than just
conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed.” (emphasis added).

A defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately
investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable

outcome probable. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004).

II. DEFENDANT DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF
COUNSEL ‘

Defendant raises 14 claims regarding ineffective assistance of counsel in his Petition.
Therefore, the Court addresses each argument in turn.

1. Counsel was not ineffective for not objecting or seeking a mistrial.

Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective because he failed to call Detective Flynn
as a witness. Petition at 1. Defendant avers that calling Detective Flynn as a witness was
necessary because an alleged discrepancy existed between the detectives. Id. Specifically,
Defendant claims that Detective Abell said the receipts were found in the “trash can” while,
according to Defendant, Detective Turner and Flynn would have testified that the receipts were
found elsewhere in the home. Id. at 2-3. Defendant’s arguments are unpersuasive.

Here, Defendant’s argument assumes rather than demonstrates that calling the other
detectives would have rendered favorable testimony for his case. Under Hargrove, Defendant’s
claim is thus a bare and nakéd assertion that is suitable for summary denial. 100 Nev. at 502,
686 P.2d at 225. Further, objecting or moving for mistrial would have been futile. Assuming
counsel would have been successful at impeaching each of the detectives, the impeachment
value would have been extremely minimal. This is particularly true because, ultimately, the
receipts were found where Defendant was staying. Therefore, the exact location where they
were found would have been immaterial. Moreover, the location of where the receipts were
found in the home would not have made the evidence inadmissible and would not have
changed the fact that numerous pieces of evidence were also found in the home linking

Defendant to the crimes.

13
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As such, Defendant’s bare and naked assertions regardiﬁg trial counsel’s performance
fail to show that counsel, by a preponderance of evidence, was deficient in his performance
and Defendant was prejudiced by such performance. Indeed, any objection by trial counsel
would have been futile, and counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise futile issues or
motions. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Therefore, Defendant’s bare and naked
assertions fail under Hargrove. 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Accordingly, because
Defendant fails to meet either Strickland prong, his claims are denied.

2. Counsel was not ineffective for not raising NRS 175.291 in a pre-trial petition.

Next, Defendant argues counsel was ineffective because he failed to raise NRS 175.291
in a pre-trial Petition. Petition at 4-7. Defendant argues that if counsel had raised this issue the
Court would have found that Defendant Johns testimony was not corroborated. Id. Defendant’s
argument lacks merit.

Here, Defendant ignores that aside from accomplice testimony, which is alleged to be
uncorroborated by a defendant, the State can satisfy the statutory requirement by showing that
a substantial amount of evideﬁce tends to connect the defeﬁdant to the crime. See Cutler v.
State, 566 P.2d 809, 93 Nev. 329 (1977); Evans v. State, 944 P.2d 253, 113 Nev. 885 (1997).
In this case, there were numerous pieces of evidence connecting Defendant to the crime. These
included evidence gathered from the Dodge Charger, Defendant’s home, and the still images
from the surveillance videos. Further, counsel filed a 32-page pre-trial petition with numerous
exhibits. See Pretrial Petition, filed March 18, 2015. This lengthy petition raised several claims
that were more meritorious than the issue Defendant, in hindsight, wanted raised. Ih fact, in
Defendant’s Petition, he concedes that counsel raised “numerous issues” and challenged the
following: the kidnapping charge, lack of probable cause, hearsay testimony, best evidence,
and “many other issues.” Petition at 4. Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in
a petition for post-conviction relief fnust be supported with specific factual allegations, which
if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225.
Defendant’s claims that NRS 175.291 would‘have been successful if it was raised in a pre-trial

petition are simply bare and naked allegations that are insufficient to warrant relief. Id.

14

849




—

BN R N N NN NN N e e e e e b e e e
00 =1 N R W = O Y e NN R W N~ O

O o0 ~1 O i Rk W N

fe,

Therefore, because counsel’s strategy was a reasonably objective one and Defendant fails to
demonstrate that he was prejudiced by counsel’s strategy, his claim is denied in its entirety.

3. Cbunsel was not ineffective for failing to raise perjury of Detective Abell during
his testimony at the first grand jury proceeding.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective for not challenging, in the pre-trial
petition, the fact that Detective Abell presented the grand jury with “perjured false testimony.”
Petition at 9. Defendant claims that there were inconsistencies between Defendant Johns®
statements to police and Detective Abell’s testimony at trial. Id. at 9-12.

Here, Defendant boldly asserts that Detective Abell provided the grand jury with
perjured testimony. However, Defendant provides no evidence to support his assertion.
Therefore, this is a bare and naked claim that is suitable for denial under Hargrove. Moreover,
raising this argument would have been futile because Detective Abell’s testimony was not
false. See Ennis (reasoning that counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile
arguments). 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Rather, this was general testimony regarding
the extensive robbery series that focused on the similarities in suspect description, clothing,
vehicles, and Modus Oprendi. Therefore, Defendant’s bare and naked assertions that Detective
Abell presented false testimony are insufficient to warrant relief. Additionally, Defendant fails
to show, by a preponderance of evidence, that trial counsel was deficient in his decision not to
raise a futile argument. Accordingly, Defendant fails to meet either Strickland prong and his
claims is denied.

4. Counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the introduction of the DNA

reports.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective because he failed to object to two
DNA reports that were admitted at trial. Petition at 15. Defendant claims that prior to trial
counsel was successful in filing a motion asking for a retest of the DNA that had come back
as a “poesitive partial” match. Id. Once retested, the DNA came back as “inconclusive.” Id,

Here, counsel made a strategic decision to allow two cbnﬂicting DNA reports into

evidence in an effort to establish reasonable doubt. Counsel’s strategy was reasonable because

15
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by admitting the two reports the jury could have concluded that the State’s own DNA evidence
was conflicted. See Doyle v. State, 116 Nev. 148, 160, 995 P.2d 465, 473 (2000) (reasoning
that “[cJounsel’s strategy decisions are not subject to challenge absent extraordinary
circumstances.”). Additionally, Defendant’s assertion is bare and naked because he fails to
allege on what basis counsel should have objected and that such objection had a reasonable
likelihood of success. This is particularly significant because both reports were admissible and,
ultimately, admitted. Since Defendant has failed to show that counsel’s performance was
deficient, and does not demonstrate how the result of the trial would have been more favorable
had counsel objected, his claim fails under either Strickland prong. Accordingly, this claim is
denied.

5. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the admission of a
photograph

Next, Defendant appears to argue that counsel was ineffective because he should have
objected to the admission of series of photographs depicting various cellphones and several
hundreds of dollars. Petition, 17-21; Petition, Exhibit 7. Defendant maintains that the
cellphones belonged to his girlfriend and other family members. Id. With respect to the money
depicted in Exhibit 7, Defendant appears to claim that it was his and that he gave it to his
girlfriend to take care of his children. Id. Defendant concludes that counsel was ineffective for
not subpoenaing records from cellphone companies that would have demonstrated that the
cellphones were not stolen. Further, Defendant also avers counsel was ineffective for not filing
a motion to suppress the photographs of the cellphones and money. Defendant’s arguments
are unpersuasive.

Preliminarily, a defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not
adequately investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more
favorable outcome probable. Molina, 120 Nev. at 192, 87 P.3d at 538. Here, it is unclear what
further investigation would have yielded with respect to the photographs depicting the

cellphones and money. Again, Defendant’s arguments assume rather than demonstrate that if
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counsel had reached out to T-Mobile or Sprint, he would have confirmed Defendant’s theory
that the cellphones found at his home belonged to his “girlfriend and family members™ and
thus, a more favorable outcome would have been probable. Petition at 17. However,
Defendant, in his Petition, did not include any cellphone records from T-Mobile or Sprint
indicating that the phones belonged to his girlfriend and family members. Therefore,
Defendant’s claim is a bare and naked assertion that should preclude review by this Court

under Hargrove and Molina. Lastly, Defendant fails to state a basis for an objection and the

likelihood of success had counsel objected. Accordingly, because Defendant has not shown
that further investigation regarding the photographs would have rendered a more favorable
outcome, Defendant’s claim is denied.

6. Counsel was not ineffective for not independently testing the DNA or hiring a
DNA expert to testify.

Next, Defendant appears to argue that counsel was ineffective because he should have
tested the DNA independently and hired a DNA expert to rebut the State’s DNA expert’s
testimony. Petition at 22-24. Defendant’s argument lacks merit.

Here, as discussed supra in Section 11, 4, counsel was successful in filing a motion to
retest the DNA. The retested DNA results concluded that the DNA evidence was conflicting.
In light of this fact, counsel likely made a reasonably strategic decision to not hire a DNA
expert or independently retest the evidence. Indeed, counsel likely concluded that doing so
would have yielded inculpatory results rather than conflicting reports based on the State’s
evidence. As Defendant mentioned in his Petition, counsel instead relied on cross-examination
to address the differences in the DNA test results, Petition at 22-24. Moreover, this is a bare
and naked assertion as Defendant fails to allege what retesting would have yielded, what an
expert would have testified to, and that having such expert testimony would have rendered a
more¢ favorable outcome at trial. As Defendant has not retested the DNA and provided such
results to the Court, this claim is precluded from review under Hargrove and Molina.
Accordingly, Defendant’s claim is denied.

/
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7. Counsel was not ineffective for not subpoenaing all the alleged victims.

Next, Defendant claims that counsel was ineffective because he failed to call every
alleged victim in this case. Petition at 25-26. Defendant claims that the victims only testified
about some, but not all of the evidence and that counsel should have subpoenaed victims that
were unavailable or were not called by the State. Id. Defendant’s arguments are unpersuasive.

Here, Defendant’s claim is bare and naked and is denied under Hargrove and Molina.

This is particularly true because Defendant does not present any evidence demonstrating that
if counsel called other witnesses their testimony would have been instrumental in rendering a
more favorable outcome at trial. In fact, Defendant fails to identify which witnesses he would
have called and what evidence each witness would have testified to. Bare claims, such as this
one, are insufficient to demonstrate that a petitioner is entitled to relief. See Molina, 120 Nev.
at 192, 87 P.3d at 538 (a defendant claiming counsel did not conduct an adequate investigation
must specify what a more thorough investigation would have uncovered); see
also Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502-03, 686 P.2d at 225 (explaining that bare and naked claims
are insufficient to demonstrate that a petitioner is entitled to relief). Lastly, counsel probably
chose not to call such witnesses as they were likely going to provide testimony that would
have negatively impacted Defendant’s interests. See Doyle, 116 Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473.
Therefore, without a showing of extraordinary circumstances, counsel’s strategic decisions are
not subject to challenge. 1d. As such Defendant fails to demonstrate his counsel’s performance
was deficient or resulting prejudice. Accordingly, this Court denies Defendant’s claim.

8. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to subpoena a JAG Officer.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective when he failed to subpoena a JAG
Officer. Petition at 28. Defendant argues that the JAG Officer should have been subpoenaed
at trial because Defendant overheard counsel say that Defendant Johns had a conversation with
an alleged JAG Officer that would have benefited Defendant. Id. Specifically, Defendant
claims that days after Defendant Johns gave the police his statement, Defendant Johns had a
conversation with a JAG Officer where he admitted that he “had nothing to do with the

robbery’s [sic] and that he didn’t in fact take the [Defendant] and [Defendant] Starr to any of

18

853



c WO e 1 N W R W N -

[ T N TR NG TR NG TR N TR NG NN N B (G R % B e e e e e e e
00 ~ AN L B WN = O DN R W N

the robbery’s [sic].” Id. Defendant’s argument lacks merit.

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement that is offered to prove “the truth of the matter
asserted” in the statemenf. NRS 51.035. Generally, hearsay is inadmissible at trial, unless an
exception to the hearsay rule is applicable. NRS 51.065. Here, it is unclear what Defendant
overheard. Defendant describes in his Petition the incident where he overheard his attorney,
allegedly, talking about a conversation between Defendant Johns and the JAG Officer as:
counsel “mentioned something about a JAG Officer.” Petition at 28. Defendant then goes on
to conclude that if the JAG Officer was subpoenaed he would have testified to the details of
the conversation first-hand. Petition at 29. Defendant is mistaken because the rules of evidence
would not allow this testimony. Indeed, the self-serving out-of-court statement of a co-
conspirator to a JAG officer is inadmissible hearsay. Defendant does not provide any exception
to the hearsay rules and one is not applicable. Asking counsel to subpoena the JAG Officer
would have been futile and, therefore, counsel cannot be ineffective. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706,
137 P.3d at 1103. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim is denied.

9. Appellate counsel was not ineffective for not raising an alleged violation of the
Confrontation Clause on appeal.

Next, Defendant claims trial counsel moved to dismiss all counts regarding victims that
did not appear to testify at trial. Petition at 30-31. Specifically, Defendant claims that appellate
counsel was ineffective because she failed to raise this issue that was preserved on appeal.® Id.

Under NRS 34.735, a petition for post-conviction relief must set forth specific
allegations. “Bare” and “naked” allegations are not sufficient to warrant post-conviction relief,
nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225.
Moreover, under Molina, a defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he
did not adequately investigate must show how a belter investigation would have rendered a

more favorable outcome probable. 120 Nev. at 192, 87 P.3d at 538.

3 To clarify, Defendant framed his claim as a violation of the Confrontation Clause. However,
this was not a Confrontation Clause issue. Rather, it appeared that Defendant, on direct appeal,
wanted counsel to raise the issue that the district court abused its discretion when it denied
Defendant’s motion for mistrial.
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Here, Defendant makes a bare and naked assertion and his claim is suitable for summary
denial under Hargrove. This is particularly true because Defendant fails to identify the
witnesses, testimony, and counts in question that should have been included in his direct
appeal. Further, Defendant’s claim also fails to meet the two-prong Strickland test. Defendant
has not shown that appellate counsel was deficient nor has Defendant demonstrated that the
omission of this issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Kirksey,
112 Nev. at 998, 923 P.2d at 1114. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim fails under either
Strickland prong and, his claim is denied.

10. Counsel was not ineffective for not calling Detective Flynn as a witness.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective because he should have
subpoenaed Detective Flynn as a witness. Petition at 32-34. Defendant avers that Detective
Flynn found incriminating receipts in Defendant’é home while executing a search warrant and
his testimony could have been used to discredit Detective Abell. Id. Specifically, Defendant
maintains that Detective Flynn would have testified that he found the receipts in the bedroom
instead of the trashcan located in the home. Id. Defendant’s arguments are unpersuasive.

Here, Defendant reasserts his ineffective assistance of counsel argument raised above
in Section II, 1. As discussed supra, Defendant assumes that Detective Flynn would have
testified that he found the receipts in a different location within the home. At most, this
testimony would have provided minimal impeachment value. Primarily, because the receipts
were ultimately found in the home within a trashcan located in the kitchen. See Trial
Transcript, Day 10, at 148-149. hTherefore, this claim is a bare and naked assertion that is
suitable for summary denial under Hargrove. 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Additionally,
it is likely that counsel made a strategic decision when he opted not to call Detective Flynn

because he knew there was minimal impeachment value in the fact that the receipts were found

' in a trashcan rather than inl-the bedroom. See Doyle, 116 Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473.

Defendant’s bare and naked assertions regarding trial counsel’s performance fail to show that
counsel, by a preponderance of evidence, was deficient in his performance and Defendant was

prejudiced by such performance. Indeed, any objection by trial counsel would have been futile
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because the location of where the receipts were found is immaterial to the question of whether
such evidence, along with other incriminating evidence found in the home, was admissible.
Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Therefore, Defendant’s bare and naked assertions
fail under Hargrove. 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Accordingly, because Defendant fails
to meet either Strickland prong, his claims are denied.

11, Counsel was not ineffective for not calling Officer Mohler as a witness.

Next, Defendant argues counsel was ineffective because he failed to subpoena Officer
Mohler. Petition at 35-36. Defendant claims that Officer Mohler was the one who searched
Defendant during his arrest and found a blue bag. Id. Defendant concludes by arguing that if
Officer Mohler testified he would have discredited Detective Matlock who testified that he
searched Defendant and found the blue bag. Id. Defendant’s arguments are meritless and are
belied by the record.

Here, similar to claims 1 and 10, Defendant attempts to show that counsel was
ineffective by arguing a minor detail. However, Defendant’s claim is a bare and naked one
that fails under Hargrove. At trial, Detective Matlock testified that after Defendant was
arrested and once he was being escorted away, Detective Matlock noticed that Defendant “had
a blue bag in his front waistband.” Trial Transcript, Day 8, at 38:17. Therefore, Defendant’s
c¢laim that Detective Matlock searched him is belied by the record.

Additionally, counsel made a strategic choice not to call Officer Mohler. This is
particularly true because on cross-examination counsel spent a considerable amount of time
attempting to undermine Detective Matlock’s testimony regarding the blue bag. 1d. at 54-59.
In fact, the first line of questioning on cross-examination involved the details of when the
Detective saw the blue bag. Id. Lastly, this minor detail does not alter the fact that Defendant
was arrested and found in possession of the blue bag. Consequently, counsel’s strategic
decision to thoroughly cross-examine Detective Matlock and not call the arresting officer does
not prove he was ineffective. Rather, it shows counsel made a reasonable strategic decision
that, absent extraordinary circumstances, is not challengeable by Defendant. See Doyle, 116
Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim is denied.
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12. Counsel was not ineffective for allegedly failing to investigate as a whole.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective because he failed to adequately
investigate certain issues that Defendant allegedly raised with counsel prior to trial. Petition at
37-42. First, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and solely
relied on the State’s version of events. Id. Second, Defendant reﬁsserts his earlier claim that
counsel was ineffective for failing to acquire phone bills that proved that the cellphones located
in his home belonged to his girlfriend and other family members. Id. Third, Defendant claims
he was prejudiced when counsel failed to get a copy of an alleged email that was sent to
detectives describing the gray Dodge Charger. Id. Fourth, Defendant claims counsel was
ineffective for not talking to a witness who allegedly saw Detective Abell “snooping around”
Defendant’s apartment prior to Defendant’s arrest. Id. Fifth, Defendant, for a third time, claims
counsel as ineffective for not retesting the State’s DNA evidence. Id. Sixth counsel was
ineffective for failing to pre-trial any of the alleged victims. Id. Seventh, counsel was
ineffective for not hiring a foot impression expert to rebut the State’s expert. Id. Eighth,
counsel was ineffective for not “putting on a proper defense.” Id. All of Defendant’s claims
are meritless as he fails to demonstrate his counsel’s performance was deficient and resulted
in prejudice.

A defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately

‘investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable

outcome probable. Molina, 120 Nev. at 192, 87 P.3d at 538. Here, Defendant’s first and eighth
claims are dismissed under Hargrove because they are belied by the record. Defendant
overlooks the fact that counsel delivered a thorough opening statement where he methodically
attacked the State’s theory of the case and evidence. See Trial Transcript, Day 4, at 25-31.
Indeed, during his opening counsel emphasized that there were no eyewitnesses that could
identify Defendant as the perpetrator. Id. at 26. Moreover, the record reveals that during
closing argument counsel attempted to stir reasonable doubt in the minds of the jury and
continued to reject the State’s theory of the case. Trial Transcript, Day 12, at 108-128. As

demonstrated by the record, to argue that counsel simply accepted the State’s theory of the

22

857



O 0 N1 N L BN

LN S S N N L I S e N R S L e o e e R e R e S e S e e B S
= T L e ¥ S =T~ T - -HE S B R U R " o L )

case or that he failed to present a “proper defense” is disingenuous. Therefore, Defendant’s
claims are denied.

With respect to his second claim, under Molina Defendant bears the burden of showing
how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable outcome. As discussed supra,
it is unclear what further investigation regarding the cellphones would have revealed. Again,
Defendant assumes that if counsel had contacted the cellphone companies they would have
provided counsel with ownership information regarding the various cellphones. Defendant
does not even provide this Court with documentation that counsel could have deduced
ownership over the cellphones by simply subpoenaing “phone bills.” Therefore, he fails to
show that a more favorable outcome would have been probable and his argument is a bare and

naked assertion that is denied under Hargrove and Molina.

Regarding the third claim, Defendant fails to satisfy his burden as he has not provided
this Court with a copy of what Defendant describes in his Petition as an “alleged email.”
Petition at 37. Defendant does not show that this “alleged email” would have been admissible

as evidence nor does he demonstrate that had the email been admitted it would have assisted

in rendering a more favorable outcome for Defendant at trial. Molina, 120 Nev. at 192, 87 P.3d
at 538, Therefore, his claim is denied.

Defendant’s fourth claim also fails. Defendant asserts, without presenting any evidence,
that Detective Abell was “snooping around” his apartment and that had counsel investigated
there would have been a witness to testify as such. Petition at 40. Defendant further avers that
such witness would have discredited the detective’s testimony and shown to the jury that the
detectives were “fabricating evidence.” Id. Again, Defendant bears the burden of showing how
this witness would have led to a more favorable outcome at trial. However, this is a bare and
naked assertion. For example, Defendant does not provide a sworn affidavit from such witness
or any supporting evidence to prove that the detectives fabricated evidence. As such, this claim

denied under Hargrove and Molina.

Defendant’s fifth and seventh claims also lack merit. This is particularly true because,

as addressed supra, counsel filed a motion to retest the DNA and it was retested. Due to
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counsel’s efforts the DNA results came back as inconclusive rather than a “positive partial”
match. Therefore, it is unclear that retesting the DNA for a third time could have yielded a
more favorable result for Defendant. Similarly, Defendant argues that counsel should have
hired a foot impression expert, however, Defendant provides no analysis as to what exactly a
private expert would have testified to.* Therefore, Defendant’s claims are denied as he fails to
satisfy his burden under Molina.

Regarding, Defendant’s sixth claim, Defendant provides no evidence to support his
claim that counsel never pre-trialed any witnesses. Defendant appears to argue that counsel
simply “sat down” during Jamie Schoebel’s (“Jaime™) testimony and did not cross-examine
her in an effort to impeach her credibility, Petition at 41-42. However, this is belied by the
record. The record demonstrates that counsel did cross-examine her about her prior grand jury
testimony. Contrary to Defendant’s bare and naked assertion counsel was able to get Jaime to
admit that she had inconsistently testified between the grand jury and trial. Trial Transcript,
Day 4, at 85-86. Therefore, because Defendant’s claim is predicated on bare and naked
assertions that are repelled by the record, his claim fails under Hargrove. Overall, Defendant
fails to demonstrate his counsel’s performance was deficient or resulting prejudice. Moreover,
Defendant fails to satisfy burden under Molina. Accordingly, this Court denies all of
Defendant’s claims in their entirety.

13. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to impeach the DNA expert with an email
she sent to Detective Abell.

Next, Defendant argues counsel was ineffective because he should have impeached the

- DNA expert with an email in which she stated that she could not find “anything linking the

car to a Robbery or the items recovered from the car to the robbery.” Petition at 69-70; Petition

41t is likely that counsel made a strategic decision not to hire a foot impression expert. This is
supported by the fact that the record demonstrates that counsel spent a considerable amount of
time cross-examining the State’s forensic examiner of footwear and tire evidence, Mr.
Gilkerson. Trial Transcript, Day 8, at 136-156; See Doyle, 116 Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473
(reasoning that “[clounsel’s strategy decisions are not subject to challenge absent
extraordinary circumstances.”).
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Exhibit 8. Defendant concludes by arguing that if the jury had seen this email they would have
concluded that Detective Abell influenced the DNA expert’s report. Id.

Here, Defendant reasserts the issue regarding DNA and their corresponding reports. As
discussed supra, counsel was not ineffective regarding the DNA reports. Counsel’s strategy
was a reasonably objective one as he filed a motion to retest the DNA. The retested DNA
rendered a favorable result for Defendant as it came back inconclusive, Therefore, counsel
strategically decided that admitting the two conflicting DNA reports would have value because
the jury could determine if the State’s DNA evidence was reliable. As such, absent an
extraordinary circumstance, counsel’s strategic decisions are not subject to challenge. Doyle,
116 Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473. Assuming, arguendo, that counsel was deficient because he
failed to impeach the detective with this email, Defendant fails to show that “but for” counsel’s
error there is a reasonable probability that the result of trial would have been different.
McNelton, 15 Nev. at 403, 990 P.2d at 1268. Defendant cannot bear his burden of
demonstrating prejudice under Strickland. Riley, 110 Nev. at 646, 878 P.2d at 278 (reasoning

that defendants carry the “affirmative burden of establishing prejudice.”). Defendant provides
no evidence that had the jury considered this email the outcome at trial would have been
different. This is particularly true considering that there was a significant amount of evidence
tying Defendant to the robberies. In fact, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed all, but three, of
Defendant’s convictions on a sufficiency of the evidence claim on direct appeal. See Hobson
v. State, Docket No. 71419 (Order of Affirmance, June 1, 2018). Therefore, Defendant’s claim
is denied.

14. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object jury instruction 43.

Lastly, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to jury
instruction 43 which addressed the corroboration of accomplice testimony. Petition at 71-73.
Defendant’s argument lacks merit.

Here, Defendant fails to present a cogent argument as to how counsel should have
challenged the jury instruction. Additionally, jury instruction 43 is a standard instruction.

Therefore, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to lodge a futile objection to such
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instruction. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. As such, Defendant’s claim is denied.

III. THE COURT FINDS THAT DEFENDANT’S REMAINING CLAIMS ARE
IMPROPERLY RAISED IN A POST-CONVICTION PETITION FOR WRIT
OF HABEAS CORPUS AND/OR BARRED BY THE LAW OF THE CASE

In addition to the ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised above, Defendant
improperly raises the following claims in his Petition: (1) the district court abused its discretion
by allowing hearsay; (2) the district court abused its discretion when it allowed trial to
commence without Detective Flynn and Detective Turner available to testify; (3) that the
district court erred in denying Defendant’s pre-trial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus; (5)
that the district couﬁ abused its discretion in denying Defendant’s proposed jury instructions;
(6) that the district court abused its discretion in denying Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss
during trial; (7) that there was prosecutorial misconduct; (8) that there was a Brady violation
with respect to cash seized from Defendant’s home; (9) that there was prosecutorial
misconduct in not giving the Grand Jury a kidnappiﬁg instruction; and (10) that the State used
all of the DNA evidence during testing and fabricated a DNA report.

The Court finds that Defendant’s remaining claims, one-ten, are waived because

Defendant failed to raise them on direct appeal. NRS 34.810(1) reads:

The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that:

(a) The petitioner’s conviction was upon a plea of guilty or guilty
but mentally ill and the petition is not based upon an allegation
that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly or that the plea was
entered without effective assistance of counsel.

(b) The petitioner’s conviction was the result of a trial and the
grounds for the petition could have been:

(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas
corpus or postconviction relief,

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that “challenges to the validity of a guilty piea and claims
of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must first be pursued in post-conviction
proceedings.... [A]ll other claims that are appropriate for a direct appeal must be pursued on
direct appeal, or they will be considered waived in subsequent proceedings.” Franklin v. State,

110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (emphasis added) (disapproved on other
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grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). “A court must dismiss a

habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier
proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for
raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner.” Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-
47,29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001). Defendant cannot establish good cause because the facts and law
were available for his direct appeal. Additionally, he cannot establish prejudice to ignore his
procedural default because the underlying claims are meritless. Defendant’s claims are nothing
more than naked assertions under Hargrove. He has done nothing to demonstrate that he could
not pursue any particular claim on direct appeal because of a deficient record.

IV. DEFENDANT REQUEST FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING IS

DENIED

NRS 34.770 determines when a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. It reads:

1. The judge or justice, upon review of the return, answer and all
supporting documents which are filed, shall determine whether an
evidentiary hearing is required. A petitioner must not be
discharged or committed to the custody of a person other than the
respondent unless an evidentiary hearing is held.

2. If the judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not
entitled to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required, he shall
dismiss the petition without a hearing. »

3. Ifthe judge or justice determines that an evidentiary hearing is
required, he shall grant the writ and shall set a date for the hearing.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that if a petition can be resolved without
expanding the record, then no evidentiary hearing is necessary. Marshall v, State, 110 Nev.
1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994); Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 1231 (2002). A

defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his petition is supported by specific factual

allegations, which, if true, would entitle him to relief unless the factual allegations are repelled

by the record. Marshall, 110 Nev. at 1331, 885 P.2d at 605; see also Hargrove, 100 Nev. at

503, 686 P.2d at 225 (holding that “[a] defendant seeking post-conviction relief is not entitled
to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or repelled by the record™). “A claim is

‘belied’ when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it existed at the time the
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claim was made.” Mann, 118 Nev. at 354, 46 P.3d at 1230 (2002). It is improper to hold an
cvidentiary hearing simply to make a complete record. See State v. Eighth Judicial Dist.

Court, 121 Nev. 2235, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005) (“The district court considered itself

the ‘equivalent of . . . the trial judge’ and consequently wanted ‘to make as complete a record
as possible.’ This. is an incorrect basis for an evidentiary hearing.”).

Further, the United States Supreme Court has held that an evidentiary hearing is not
required simply because counsel’s actions are challenged as being unreasonable strategic

decisions. Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788 (2011). Although courts may not indulge

post hoc rationalization for counsel’s decision making that contradicts the available evidence
of counsel’s actions, neither may they insist counsel confirm every aspect of the strategic basis
for his or her actions. Id. There is a “strong presumption” that counsel’s attention to certain
issues to the exclusion of others reflects trial tactics rather than “sheer

neglect.” Id. (citing Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 124 S. Ct. 1 (2003)). Strickland calls

for an inquiry in the objective reasonableness of counsel’s performance, not counsel’s

subjective state of mind. 466 U.S. at 688, 104 5. Ct. at 2065.

Here, trial counsel was not ineffective. Moreover, Defendant’s ineffective assistance of
counsel claimé are not complex. Regarding Defendant’s other claims, most of them are
improperly raised in his Petition because such claims were either previously considered on
direct appeal or were waived. Therefore, there is no need to expand the record and Defendant’s
request for an evidentiary is hereby denied.
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ORDER
THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant’s Petition for Post-

Convcition Relief shall be, and it is, hereby denied.

DATED this day of March, 2019.
e
DISTRICT JUDGE ¢
STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney 7
Nevada Bar #001565
BY L ‘

CAL THOMAN _.J

Chief Deputr-Disirict Attorney

Nevada Bar #12649

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this ez "%ay of
Z) }M , 2019, by depositing a copy in the U.S. Mail, postage pre-paid, addressed to:

TONY HOBSON, 1165963
S.D.C.C,

PO BOX 208

INDIAN SPRINGS, NV 89070

BY é&diﬂ&/ﬂﬂ—*

E. DEL PADRE
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office

ed/GCU
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Electronically Filed
3/25/2019 2:22 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU,

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
TONY HOBSON,
Case No: A-18-784448-W
Petitioner,
Dept No: XIX
vSs.
STATE OF NEVADA: ET AL,
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF FINDINGS OF FACT,
Respondent, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on March 21, 2019, the court entered a decision or order in this matter, a
true and correct copy of which is attached to this notice.

You may appeal to the Supreme Court from the decision or order of this court. IT you wish to appeal, you
must file a notice of appeal with the clerk of this court within thirty-three (33) days after the date this notice is

mailed to you. This notice was mailed on March 25, 2019.

STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CLERK OF THE COURT

/s/ Debra Donaldson
Debra Donaldson, Deputy Clerk

CERTIFICATE OF E-SERVICE / MAILING

I hereby certify that on this 25 day of March 2019, I served a copy of this Notice of Entry on the
following:

M By e-mail:
Clark County District Attorney’s Office
Attorney General’s Office — Appellate Division-

1 The United States mail addressed as follows:

Tony Hobson # 1165963
P.O. Box 208
Indian Springs, NV 89070-0208

/s/ Debra Donaldson
Debra Donaldson, Deputy Clerk

Case Number: A-18-784448-W
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Electronically Filed
3/21/2019 9:45 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU,
ror Rl b i
STEVEN B. WOLFSON £

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

CAL THOMAN

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #12649

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
-Vs- CASE NO: A-18-784448-W
TONY LEE HOBSON, .
SO DEPT NO: XIX
Defendant.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW AND ORDER

DATE OF HEARING: February 25, 2018
TIME OF HEARING: 8:30 AM

THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable WILLIAM D.
KEPHART, District Judge, on the 25" da}_f of February, 2018, the Petitioner being present, the
Respondent being represented by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney,
by and through FRANK LOGRIPPO, Dcpuly District Attorney, and the Court having
considered the matter, including briefs, transcripts, arguments of counsel, and documents on
file herein, now therefore, the Court makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of
law:

I
1/
i
H

Case Number: A-18-784448-W
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FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
On December 12, 2014, Tony Lee Hobson (“Defendant™), Brandon Starr (“Defendant

Starr”), and Donte Johns (“Defendant Johns™) (collectively, “Defendants”) were charged by
way of Indictment as follows: Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Category B Felony - NRS
200.380, 199.480); Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm (Category B Felony - NRS
205.060); First Degree Kidnapping (Category A Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320); and
Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.165), for a
single armed robbery incident that occurred on November 24, 2014. Bail was set at
$1,000,000.00 for each of the Defendants. ,

On February 20, 2015, the State-filed an eighty-two (82) count Superseding
Indictment. On April 24; 2015, the State filed a Second Superseding Indictment charging
Defendant with the following: Counts 1, 8, 11, ‘16, 22, 26, 33, 37, 44, 48, 60, and 68, —
Burglary While In Possession Of A Deadly Weapon; Counts 2,9,12,17, 23, 27, 34, 38, 45,
49, 52, 54, 61, 69, and 81 — Conspiracy to Commit Robbery; Counts 3-7, 10, 13-15, 18-21,
24-25, 28-32, 39-43, 46-47, 50-51, 56-59, 64, 66, 72, 74, 76, 78, and 80 — Robbery With Use
of a Deadly Weapon; Counts 35-36, and 82 — Attempt Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon
(Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.330, 193.165); Counts 53, 62, and 70 — Conspiracy
to Commit Kidnapping (Category B Felony - NRS 200.310, ‘200.320, 199.480); Counts 55.,
63, 65, 71, 73, 75, 77, and 79 — First Degree Kidnapping With Use rof a Deadly Weapon
(Category A Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320, 193.165); and Count 67 — Attempt First Degree
Kidnapping With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320,
193.330, i93.165). The Superseding Indictments covered a series of fourteen (14) armed
robberies that occurred on or between October 28, 2014, and November 25, 2014.

On March 18, 2015, Defendant filed a Pre-trial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The
State filed a return on April 17, 2015. Defendant’s Petition was denied on May 18, 2015,
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After several continuances due to discovery issues, trial commenced on May 5, 2016,
before the Honorable William Kephart. On May 25, 2016, the jury returned a guilty verdict on
69 felony and 2 gross misdemeanor counts.'

Defendant was sentenced on September 8, 2016 and a Judgment of Conviction was
entered on September 20, 2016, in which Defendant was adjudicated guilty as follows:
COUNTS 1, 8, 11, 16, 22, 33, 37, 44, 48, 52, 60, and 68 BURGLARY WHILE IN
POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony); COUNTS 2, 9, 12, 17, 23,
34, 38, 45, 49, 54, 61, 69 and 81 CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY (Category B
Felony); COUNTS 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 13, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 25, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 46,
47, 50, 51, 56, 57, 58, 59, 64, 66, 72, 74, 76, 78 and 80 ROBBERY WITH USE OF A
DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony); COUNTS 35, 36, and 82 ATTEMPT ROBBERY
WITH USE OF A DEADLY (Category B Felony); COUNT 55 FALSE IMPRISONMENT
WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony); COUNTS 63 and 65 SECOND
DEGREE KIDNAPPING WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony);
COUNTS 71, 73, 75, 77 and 79 FALSE IMPRISONMENT (Gross Misdemeanor).

Defendant was sentenced as follows: as to COUNT 1 - 12-84 months; as to COUNT 2
— 12-36 months; as to COUNT 3 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60
months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 4 -24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE
12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 5 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 6 — 24-84 months;
plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 7 —
24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon;
COUNTS 1- 7 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER; COUNT 8 — 12-84 months; as to
COUNT 9 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 10 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 8-10 CONCURRENT with EACH
OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 7; as to COUNT 11 — 12-84 months; as to COUNT
12 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 13 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a 12-

I Defendant was found not guilty of the following counts: 26-32, 53, 62, 67, and 70.
3
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60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 14 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 15 —24-84
months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12 to 60 months for use of a deadly weapon;
COUNTS 11-15 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 10;
as to COUNT 16 — 12-84 months; as to COUNT 17 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 18 — 24-
84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to
COUNT 19 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly
weapon; as to COUNT 20 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term 12-60 months for use
ofa deadly weapon; as to COUNT 21 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60
months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 16-21 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER
and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 15; as to COUNT 22 — 12-84 months; as to COUNT 23 —
12-36 months; as to COUNT 24 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term 12-60 months
for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 25 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 22-25 CONCURRENT with EACH
OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 21; as to COUNT 33 — 12-84 fnonths; asto COUNT
34 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 35 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a
MINIMUM 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 36 —24-84 months; plus
a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 33-36
CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 25; as to COUNT 37
— 12-84 months; as to COUNT 38 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 39 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 40 — 24-84
months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as fo
COUNT 41 -24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 month for use of a deadly
weapon; as to COUNT 42 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a 12-60 months
for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 43 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 37-43 CONCURRENT with EACH
OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 36; as to COUNT 44 — 12-84 months; as to COUNT
45 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 46 — 24-84 months; plus a CQNSECUTIVE term of 12-60
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months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 47 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE
term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 44-47 CONCURRENT with
EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 43, as to COUNT 48 — 12-84 months; as to
COUNT 49 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 50 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 51 - 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 month for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 48-51
CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 47; as to COUNT 52
— 12-84 months; as to COUNT 54 -12-36 months; as to COUNT 55 - 12-36 months; as to
COUNT 356 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term 12-60 months for use of a deadly
weapon; as to COUNT 57 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for
use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 58 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of
12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 59 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 52-59
CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 51; as to COUNT 60
— 12-84 months; as to COUNT 61 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 63 — 24-84 months; plus a
CONSECUTIVE term of a 12-60 month for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 64 — 24-
84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to
COUNT 65 — 24-84 moﬁths; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a MINIMUM of 12-60 months
for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 66 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term
of 12-60 months for use of a déadly weapon; COUNTS 60-66 CONCURRENT with EACH
OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 59; as to COUNT 68 - 12-84 months; as to COUNT
69 — 12-36 months; as to COUNT 71 - 364 days in the Clark County Detention Center; as to
COUNT 72 - to 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a
deadly weapon; as to COUNT 73 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of a 12-60
months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 74 - 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE
term of 12-60 month for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 75 - 364 days in the Clark
County Detention Center; as to COUNT 76 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of
12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 77 — 364 days in the Clark County
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Detention Center; as to COUNT 78 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60
months for use of a deadly weapon; as to COUNT 79 — 364 day in the Clark Coimty Detention
Center; as to COUNT 80 — 24-84 months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for
use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS 68-80 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and
CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 66; as to COUNT 81 - 12-36 months; as to COUNT 82 — 24-84
months; plus a CONSECUTIVE term of 12-60 months for use of a deadly weapon; COUNTS
81 and 82 CONCURRENT with EACH OTHER and CONSECUTIVE to COUNT 80; with
six hundred fifty four (654) days of credit for time served. Defendant was sentenced to the
Nevada Department of Corrections to an aggregate term of 1,824 months with a minimum
parole eligibility of 444 months. A Judgment of Conviction (“JOC”) was filed on September
20, 2016.?

On October 3, 2016, Defendant filed a2 Notice of Appeal. On April 26, 2017, Defendant
filed his opening brief. On August 24, 2017, the State filed its answering brief. On June 1,
2018, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed in part and reversed in part Defendant’s Judgment
of Conviction. The Nevada Supreme Court reversed three of Defendant’s robbery counts (25,
39, and 66). Remittitur was issued on June 26, 2018,

On November 13, 2018, Defendant filed the instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
(“Petition™). The State responded on February 14, 2019. The district court heard this matter
and denied Defendant’s Petition on February 25, 2019.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Beginning in October of 2014, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (“Metro”)
detectives began investigating a series of armed robbery incidents with similar M.O. and

suspect descriptions. See Defendant’s Presentence Investigation Report (“PSI”), filed August

2 A clerical error was later noted, and an Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed January
9, 2017 reflecting that he was sentenced as to Count 36- sixty (60) months with a minimum
parole eligibility of twelve (12) months, plus a consecutive sentence of sixty (60) months with
a minimum parole eligibility of twelve (12) months. The error did not affect his aggregate
sentence.
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23, 2016, at 5-6. On October 28, 2014, two suspects entered an El Pollo Loco restaurant
through an open rear door and ordered all the employees to the ground. Id. The suspects took
approximately $1,000 in cash from a safc. Id. They also pistol whipped an employee, punched
a pregnant female in the side of the stomach, and punched another employee in the back of the
neck. Id.

On October 29, 2014, two suspects entered a 7-11 and took $100 in cash out of the
registers. Id. On November 1, 2014, two male suspects entered a Pizza Hut and ordered the
employees to the ground. Id. One of the suspects took the entire register off the counter and
both suspects then fled from the business. Id. The employees estimated there was a total of
$160 in the register. Id. A review of surveillance footage later revealed a third suspect entered
the business and acted as a lookout. Jd. On November 3, 2014, two male suspects entered a
Pizza Hut, jumped over the counter and forced all the employees to the ground. Id. They then
took approximately $200 in cash from the register, along with an employee’s cell phone, cash
and pocket knife. Id. One of the suspects pistol whipped the manager before they both fled out

the rear door of the business. Id. Surveillance video from a nearby business showed a gray

‘Dodge Charger pull into the complex and park just east of the Pizza Hut. Id. On November 4,

2014, two male suspects entered a Little Caesar’s and demanded the safe to be opened. Id. The
employee advised the suspects he did not have access to the safe. Id. One of the suspects then
took the employee’s cell phone. Id. A gray Charger was once again scen near the business and
was no longer present after the robbery. Id.

On November 15, 2014, a male suspect entered a Popeyes by kicking in a glass door,
armed with a handgun. Id. An employee attempted to flee out a back door and was confronted
by a second male suspect. Id. The first suspect ordered the manager to open the safe at
gunpoint. Id. The suspect then took approximately $2,000 in cash before fleeing. Id. On
November 17, 2014, a male suspect entered a Burger King by breaking the window to the front
door. Id. The employees ran out the back door where one of the employees was hit in the face
and knocked to the ground by a second male suspect. 1d. The second suspect then produced a

revolver, held an employee down on the ground and stated, “Where is the money at? I’'m gonna
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kill him if I don’t get the money.” Id. The manager ran out of the business and contacted police.
Id. The first suspect, along with a third suspect, then grabbed one of the employees and
demanded the money from the safe and registers. Id. Ultimately, the suspects left by running
out the back door without any money. Id. That same day, three suspects entered a Wendy’s by
breaking the side glass door of the business. 1d. One of the suspects approached a female sitting
in the lobby, grabbed her by sweatshirt and forced her to the back area. Id. The store manager
was struck in the head with a handgun and forced to open the safe. Id. The manager then
removed the cash and placed it in the bag the suspects had brought with them. Id. All three
suspects then ran out the side emergency exit. Id.

On November 21, 2014, two male suspects entered a Wendy’s by breaking the glass
door to the business. Id. Both suspects gathered the employees aﬁd moved them to the office.
Id. One of the suspects approached the manager placed the revolver to her head and had her
empty approxnmately $200 in cash from the safe. Id. On November 23, 2014, two male
suspects entered an El Pollo Loco by breaking the glass door. Id. One of the employees fled
out the back door and was met by the second male suspect who then forced the employee back
inside the business. Id. The suspects forced the manager to open the safe and took
approximately $2,050 in cash. Id. Later that day, two male suspects entered a Taco Bell by
breaking the glass door. Id. The employees fled to the rear exit door whére they were stopped
by one of the suspects. Id. However, one of the employees was able to escape while two other
employees were forced into the office at gunpoint. Id. The first suspect told the employee to
“open the fucking safé,” while pointing his handgun at her head. Id. Both employees told the
suspects they did not have access. Id. The two suspects then fled the area in a Dodge Charger.
Id. Lastly, on November 24, 2014, a male suspect broke the front door of a Popeyes location
and entered with a handgun. Id. The employees immediately ran to the back exit and were met
by a second suspect who forced them back into the business at gunpoint. Id. The first suspect
gave the manager a bag and demanded she fill it with the money from the safe and cash
registers. Id. The suspects then took the bag along with the manager’s cell phone as they ran

out the emergency door. &
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On November 25, 2014, a detective familiar with the investigation observed a gray
Dodge Charger matching the suspect vehicle pull into a Taco Bell parking lot. Id. A short time
later a male, later identified as the Defendant Starr, exited the rear passenger side of the vehicle
wearing a mask covering his face. Id. Defendant Starr then opened the trunk and was standing
next to it when patrol units arrived. Id. Defendant Starr was taken into custody, along with the
Defendant and Defendant Johns, Id. In the open trunk of the Charger the detective observed a
two-foot long ax and a semi-automatic firearm. Id. Several other items were later located in
the vehicle including a Smith and Wesson revolver, gloves, surgical masks, folding pocket
knives and clothing which matched the suspects’ clothing in the robberies. Id.

Upon questioning, Defendant Johns confessed to being the getaway driver for several
robberies. Id. He also admitted that Defendant Starr and Defendant would enter the businesses
and conduct the robberies. Id. Defendant Johns told authorities that he stayed in the vehicle at
all times and never entered any of the businesses during the robberies. Id. Defendant Johns
had detailed knowledge of the robberies and stated that Defendant and Defendant Starr showed
him the firearms used in the robberies. Id. Defendant and Defendant Starr were uncooperative
and refused to speak with detectives. Id. Defendant and Defendant Starr were both wearing
clothing which matched the suspects’ clothing seen on surveillance videos from multiple
robbery events. Id, Based on the above facts, Defendant was arrested, transported to the Clark
County Detention Center, and booked accordingly.

ANALYSIS

In his Petition Defendant claims that counsel was ineffective for (1) not objecting and
not seeking a mistrial regarding incriminating receipts found at Defendant’s residence; (2)
failing to raise the issue that accomplice testimony was not corroborated under NRS
175.291(1) in a pre-trial Petition; (3) not arguing that there were inconsistencies between
Defendant Johns’ statements to police and Detective Abell’s testimony at the first grand jury
proceeding; (4) not objecting to two DNA reports that were offered into evidence; (5) failing
to object to the admission of photographs; (6) not independently testing DNA or hiring a DNA
expert; (7) failing to subpoena all the alleged victims; (8) not subpoenaing a JAG officer; (9)
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not raising a violation of the Confrontation -Clause issue on direct appeal; (10) failing to
subpoena Detective Flynn; (11) not subpoenaing Officer Mohler; (12) failing to investigate;
(13) failing to impeach the DNA expert with an email she sent Detective Abell; and (14) failing
to challenge jury instruction 43 regarding the corroboration of accomplice testimony.

L. STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF
COUNSEL

The Sixth Amendment to the‘United States Constitution provides that, “[i]n all criminal
prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his
defense.” The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that “the right to counsel is
the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686,
104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); sce also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323
(1993). | ‘

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove
he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of counsel by satisfying the two-pronged
Strickland test. 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S, Ct. at 2063-64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138,
865 P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's

_representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for

counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have
been different. 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden. Nevada State
Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-

part test). “[T]here is no reason for a court decjding an ineffective assistance claim to approach
the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant
makes an insufficient showing on one.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine
whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was
ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). “Effective counsel
does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[wlithin the range of

competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.’” Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430,432,

10
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537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

“There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the
best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.”
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. “Strategic choices made by counsel after
thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable.” Dawson v. State,

108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784

P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must “judge the reasonableness of counsel's
challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's
conduct.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. Counsel cannot be ineffective for
failing to make futile objections or arguments. See Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d
1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the “immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if
and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop.” Rhyne v.
State, 118 Nev, 1, &, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective
assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine
whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render

reasonably effective assistance.” Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711

(1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should “second guess reasoned choices
between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against
allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the
possibilities are of success.” Id. To be effective, the constitution “does not require that counsel
do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel
cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade.”

United States v. Cronic, 466 U:S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel’s representation fell below an
objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a
reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been

different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing

11
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Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). “A reasonable probability is a probability
sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89,
694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064-65, 2068). “The defendant carries the affirmative burden of
establishing prejudice.” Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 646, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994). A

habeas corpus petitioner must prove the factual allegations underlying his ineffective-

assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012,
103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004).

Further, there is a strong presumption that appellate counsel's performance was
reasonable and fell within “the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” See United

States v. Aguirre, 912 F.2d 555, 560 (2nd Cir. 1990); citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104

S. Ct. at 2065. A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel must also satisfy the two-

prong test set forth by Strickland. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114

(1996). In order to satisfy Strickland’s second prong, the defendant must show that the omitted
issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Id.

The professional diligence and competence required on appeal involves “winnowing
out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a

few key issues.” Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In

particular, a “brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments .
.. in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions.” Id. at 753, 103 S. Ct. at 3313.
For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed
counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very
goal of vigorous and effective advocacy.” 1d. at 754, 103 S. Ct. at 3314.

Lastly, the Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove
the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance
of the evidence.” Id. Furthermore, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a

petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if

true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222,

225 (1984).“Bare™ and “naked” allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled

12
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by the record. Id. NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant part, “[Petitioner] must allege specific facts
supporting the claims in the petition[.] . . . Failure to allege specific facts rather than just
conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed.” (emphasis added).

A defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately
investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable

outcome probable. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004).

II. DEFENDANT DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF
COUNSEL ‘

Defendant raises 14 claims regarding ineffective assistance of counsel in his Petition.
Therefore, the Court addresses each argument in turn.

1. Counsel was not ineffective for not objecting or seeking a mistrial.

Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective because he failed to call Detective Flynn
as a witness. Petition at 1. Defendant avers that calling Detective Flynn as a witness was
necessary because an alleged discrepancy existed between the detectives. Id. Specifically,
Defendant claims that Detective Abell said the receipts were found in the “trash can” while,
according to Defendant, Detective Turner and Flynn would have testified that the receipts were
found elsewhere in the home. Id. at 2-3. Defendant’s arguments are unpersuasive.

Here, Defendant’s argument assumes rather than demonstrates that calling the other
detectives would have rendered favorable testimony for his case. Under Hargrove, Defendant’s
claim is thus a bare and nakéd assertion that is suitable for summary denial. 100 Nev. at 502,
686 P.2d at 225. Further, objecting or moving for mistrial would have been futile. Assuming
counsel would have been successful at impeaching each of the detectives, the impeachment
value would have been extremely minimal. This is particularly true because, ultimately, the
receipts were found where Defendant was staying. Therefore, the exact location where they
were found would have been immaterial. Moreover, the location of where the receipts were
found in the home would not have made the evidence inadmissible and would not have
changed the fact that numerous pieces of evidence were also found in the home linking

Defendant to the crimes.

13
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As such, Defendant’s bare and naked assertions regardiﬁg trial counsel’s performance
fail to show that counsel, by a preponderance of evidence, was deficient in his performance
and Defendant was prejudiced by such performance. Indeed, any objection by trial counsel
would have been futile, and counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise futile issues or
motions. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Therefore, Defendant’s bare and naked
assertions fail under Hargrove. 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Accordingly, because
Defendant fails to meet either Strickland prong, his claims are denied.

2. Counsel was not ineffective for not raising NRS 175.291 in a pre-trial petition.

Next, Defendant argues counsel was ineffective because he failed to raise NRS 175.291
in a pre-trial Petition. Petition at 4-7. Defendant argues that if counsel had raised this issue the
Court would have found that Defendant Johns testimony was not corroborated. Id. Defendant’s
argument lacks merit.

Here, Defendant ignores that aside from accomplice testimony, which is alleged to be
uncorroborated by a defendant, the State can satisfy the statutory requirement by showing that
a substantial amount of evideﬁce tends to connect the defeﬁdant to the crime. See Cutler v.
State, 566 P.2d 809, 93 Nev. 329 (1977); Evans v. State, 944 P.2d 253, 113 Nev. 885 (1997).
In this case, there were numerous pieces of evidence connecting Defendant to the crime. These
included evidence gathered from the Dodge Charger, Defendant’s home, and the still images
from the surveillance videos. Further, counsel filed a 32-page pre-trial petition with numerous
exhibits. See Pretrial Petition, filed March 18, 2015. This lengthy petition raised several claims
that were more meritorious than the issue Defendant, in hindsight, wanted raised. Ih fact, in
Defendant’s Petition, he concedes that counsel raised “numerous issues” and challenged the
following: the kidnapping charge, lack of probable cause, hearsay testimony, best evidence,
and “many other issues.” Petition at 4. Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in
a petition for post-conviction relief fnust be supported with specific factual allegations, which
if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225.
Defendant’s claims that NRS 175.291 would‘have been successful if it was raised in a pre-trial

petition are simply bare and naked allegations that are insufficient to warrant relief. Id.

14
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Therefore, because counsel’s strategy was a reasonably objective one and Defendant fails to
demonstrate that he was prejudiced by counsel’s strategy, his claim is denied in its entirety.

3. Cbunsel was not ineffective for failing to raise perjury of Detective Abell during
his testimony at the first grand jury proceeding.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective for not challenging, in the pre-trial
petition, the fact that Detective Abell presented the grand jury with “perjured false testimony.”
Petition at 9. Defendant claims that there were inconsistencies between Defendant Johns®
statements to police and Detective Abell’s testimony at trial. Id. at 9-12.

Here, Defendant boldly asserts that Detective Abell provided the grand jury with
perjured testimony. However, Defendant provides no evidence to support his assertion.
Therefore, this is a bare and naked claim that is suitable for denial under Hargrove. Moreover,
raising this argument would have been futile because Detective Abell’s testimony was not
false. See Ennis (reasoning that counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile
arguments). 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Rather, this was general testimony regarding
the extensive robbery series that focused on the similarities in suspect description, clothing,
vehicles, and Modus Oprendi. Therefore, Defendant’s bare and naked assertions that Detective
Abell presented false testimony are insufficient to warrant relief. Additionally, Defendant fails
to show, by a preponderance of evidence, that trial counsel was deficient in his decision not to
raise a futile argument. Accordingly, Defendant fails to meet either Strickland prong and his
claims is denied.

4. Counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the introduction of the DNA

reports.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective because he failed to object to two
DNA reports that were admitted at trial. Petition at 15. Defendant claims that prior to trial
counsel was successful in filing a motion asking for a retest of the DNA that had come back
as a “poesitive partial” match. Id. Once retested, the DNA came back as “inconclusive.” Id,

Here, counsel made a strategic decision to allow two cbnﬂicting DNA reports into

evidence in an effort to establish reasonable doubt. Counsel’s strategy was reasonable because

15

Craumy

880




O 0 N1 N e AW =

[N T N TR N T N TRRNY N N o B N RN N0 TR N R S P T T S
oo 1 O n BRWN =D YW N YN W N = O

by admitting the two reports the jury could have concluded that the State’s own DNA evidence
was conflicted. See Doyle v. State, 116 Nev. 148, 160, 995 P.2d 465, 473 (2000) (reasoning
that “[cJounsel’s strategy decisions are not subject to challenge absent extraordinary
circumstances.”). Additionally, Defendant’s assertion is bare and naked because he fails to
allege on what basis counsel should have objected and that such objection had a reasonable
likelihood of success. This is particularly significant because both reports were admissible and,
ultimately, admitted. Since Defendant has failed to show that counsel’s performance was
deficient, and does not demonstrate how the result of the trial would have been more favorable
had counsel objected, his claim fails under either Strickland prong. Accordingly, this claim is
denied.

5. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the admission of a
photograph

Next, Defendant appears to argue that counsel was ineffective because he should have
objected to the admission of series of photographs depicting various cellphones and several
hundreds of dollars. Petition, 17-21; Petition, Exhibit 7. Defendant maintains that the
cellphones belonged to his girlfriend and other family members. Id. With respect to the money
depicted in Exhibit 7, Defendant appears to claim that it was his and that he gave it to his
girlfriend to take care of his children. Id. Defendant concludes that counsel was ineffective for
not subpoenaing records from cellphone companies that would have demonstrated that the
cellphones were not stolen. Further, Defendant also avers counsel was ineffective for not filing
a motion to suppress the photographs of the cellphones and money. Defendant’s arguments
are unpersuasive.

Preliminarily, a defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not
adequately investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more
favorable outcome probable. Molina, 120 Nev. at 192, 87 P.3d at 538. Here, it is unclear what
further investigation would have yielded with respect to the photographs depicting the

cellphones and money. Again, Defendant’s arguments assume rather than demonstrate that if

16
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counsel had reached out to T-Mobile or Sprint, he would have confirmed Defendant’s theory
that the cellphones found at his home belonged to his “girlfriend and family members™ and
thus, a more favorable outcome would have been probable. Petition at 17. However,
Defendant, in his Petition, did not include any cellphone records from T-Mobile or Sprint
indicating that the phones belonged to his girlfriend and family members. Therefore,
Defendant’s claim is a bare and naked assertion that should preclude review by this Court

under Hargrove and Molina. Lastly, Defendant fails to state a basis for an objection and the

likelihood of success had counsel objected. Accordingly, because Defendant has not shown
that further investigation regarding the photographs would have rendered a more favorable
outcome, Defendant’s claim is denied.

6. Counsel was not ineffective for not independently testing the DNA or hiring a
DNA expert to testify.

Next, Defendant appears to argue that counsel was ineffective because he should have
tested the DNA independently and hired a DNA expert to rebut the State’s DNA expert’s
testimony. Petition at 22-24. Defendant’s argument lacks merit.

Here, as discussed supra in Section 11, 4, counsel was successful in filing a motion to
retest the DNA. The retested DNA results concluded that the DNA evidence was conflicting.
In light of this fact, counsel likely made a reasonably strategic decision to not hire a DNA
expert or independently retest the evidence. Indeed, counsel likely concluded that doing so
would have yielded inculpatory results rather than conflicting reports based on the State’s
evidence. As Defendant mentioned in his Petition, counsel instead relied on cross-examination
to address the differences in the DNA test results, Petition at 22-24. Moreover, this is a bare
and naked assertion as Defendant fails to allege what retesting would have yielded, what an
expert would have testified to, and that having such expert testimony would have rendered a
more¢ favorable outcome at trial. As Defendant has not retested the DNA and provided such
results to the Court, this claim is precluded from review under Hargrove and Molina.
Accordingly, Defendant’s claim is denied.
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7. Counsel was not ineffective for not subpoenaing all the alleged victims.

Next, Defendant claims that counsel was ineffective because he failed to call every
alleged victim in this case. Petition at 25-26. Defendant claims that the victims only testified
about some, but not all of the evidence and that counsel should have subpoenaed victims that
were unavailable or were not called by the State. Id. Defendant’s arguments are unpersuasive.

Here, Defendant’s claim is bare and naked and is denied under Hargrove and Molina.

This is particularly true because Defendant does not present any evidence demonstrating that
if counsel called other witnesses their testimony would have been instrumental in rendering a
more favorable outcome at trial. In fact, Defendant fails to identify which witnesses he would
have called and what evidence each witness would have testified to. Bare claims, such as this
one, are insufficient to demonstrate that a petitioner is entitled to relief. See Molina, 120 Nev.
at 192, 87 P.3d at 538 (a defendant claiming counsel did not conduct an adequate investigation
must specify what a more thorough investigation would have uncovered); see
also Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502-03, 686 P.2d at 225 (explaining that bare and naked claims
are insufficient to demonstrate that a petitioner is entitled to relief). Lastly, counsel probably
chose not to call such witnesses as they were likely going to provide testimony that would
have negatively impacted Defendant’s interests. See Doyle, 116 Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473.
Therefore, without a showing of extraordinary circumstances, counsel’s strategic decisions are
not subject to challenge. 1d. As such Defendant fails to demonstrate his counsel’s performance
was deficient or resulting prejudice. Accordingly, this Court denies Defendant’s claim.

8. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to subpoena a JAG Officer.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective when he failed to subpoena a JAG
Officer. Petition at 28. Defendant argues that the JAG Officer should have been subpoenaed
at trial because Defendant overheard counsel say that Defendant Johns had a conversation with
an alleged JAG Officer that would have benefited Defendant. Id. Specifically, Defendant
claims that days after Defendant Johns gave the police his statement, Defendant Johns had a
conversation with a JAG Officer where he admitted that he “had nothing to do with the

robbery’s [sic] and that he didn’t in fact take the [Defendant] and [Defendant] Starr to any of
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the robbery’s [sic].” Id. Defendant’s argument lacks merit.

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement that is offered to prove “the truth of the matter
asserted” in the statemenf. NRS 51.035. Generally, hearsay is inadmissible at trial, unless an
exception to the hearsay rule is applicable. NRS 51.065. Here, it is unclear what Defendant
overheard. Defendant describes in his Petition the incident where he overheard his attorney,
allegedly, talking about a conversation between Defendant Johns and the JAG Officer as:
counsel “mentioned something about a JAG Officer.” Petition at 28. Defendant then goes on
to conclude that if the JAG Officer was subpoenaed he would have testified to the details of
the conversation first-hand. Petition at 29. Defendant is mistaken because the rules of evidence
would not allow this testimony. Indeed, the self-serving out-of-court statement of a co-
conspirator to a JAG officer is inadmissible hearsay. Defendant does not provide any exception
to the hearsay rules and one is not applicable. Asking counsel to subpoena the JAG Officer
would have been futile and, therefore, counsel cannot be ineffective. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706,
137 P.3d at 1103. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim is denied.

9. Appellate counsel was not ineffective for not raising an alleged violation of the
Confrontation Clause on appeal.

Next, Defendant claims trial counsel moved to dismiss all counts regarding victims that
did not appear to testify at trial. Petition at 30-31. Specifically, Defendant claims that appellate
counsel was ineffective because she failed to raise this issue that was preserved on appeal.® Id.

Under NRS 34.735, a petition for post-conviction relief must set forth specific
allegations. “Bare” and “naked” allegations are not sufficient to warrant post-conviction relief,
nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225.
Moreover, under Molina, a defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he
did not adequately investigate must show how a belter investigation would have rendered a

more favorable outcome probable. 120 Nev. at 192, 87 P.3d at 538.

3 To clarify, Defendant framed his claim as a violation of the Confrontation Clause. However,
this was not a Confrontation Clause issue. Rather, it appeared that Defendant, on direct appeal,
wanted counsel to raise the issue that the district court abused its discretion when it denied
Defendant’s motion for mistrial.
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Here, Defendant makes a bare and naked assertion and his claim is suitable for summary
denial under Hargrove. This is particularly true because Defendant fails to identify the
witnesses, testimony, and counts in question that should have been included in his direct
appeal. Further, Defendant’s claim also fails to meet the two-prong Strickland test. Defendant
has not shown that appellate counsel was deficient nor has Defendant demonstrated that the
omission of this issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Kirksey,
112 Nev. at 998, 923 P.2d at 1114. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim fails under either
Strickland prong and, his claim is denied.

10. Counsel was not ineffective for not calling Detective Flynn as a witness.

Next, Defendant argues that counsel was ineffective because he should have
subpoenaed Detective Flynn as a witness. Petition at 32-34. Defendant avers that Detective
Flynn found incriminating receipts in Defendant’é home while executing a search warrant and
his testimony could have been used to discredit Detective Abell. Id. Specifically, Defendant
maintains that Detective Flynn would have testified that he found the receipts in the bedroom
instead of the trashcan located in the home. Id. Defendant’s arguments are unpersuasive.

Here, Defendant reasserts his ineffective assistance of counsel argument raised above
in Section II, 1. As discussed supra, Defendant assumes that Detective Flynn would have
testified that he found the receipts in a different location within the home. At most, this
testimony would have provided minimal impeachment value. Primarily, because the receipts
were ultimately found in the home within a trashcan located in the kitchen. See Trial
Transcript, Day 10, at 148-149. hTherefore, this claim is a bare and naked assertion that is
suitable for summary denial under Hargrove. 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Additionally,
it is likely that counsel made a strategic decision when he opted not to call Detective Flynn

because he knew there was minimal impeachment value in the fact that the receipts were found

' in a trashcan rather than inl-the bedroom. See Doyle, 116 Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473.

Defendant’s bare and naked assertions regarding trial counsel’s performance fail to show that
counsel, by a preponderance of evidence, was deficient in his performance and Defendant was

prejudiced by such performance. Indeed, any objection by trial counsel would have been futile
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because the location of where the receipts were found is immaterial to the question of whether
such evidence, along with other incriminating evidence found in the home, was admissible.
Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Therefore, Defendant’s bare and naked assertions
fail under Hargrove. 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Accordingly, because Defendant fails
to meet either Strickland prong, his claims are denied.

11, Counsel was not ineffective for not calling Officer Mohler as a witness.

Next, Defendant argues counsel was ineffective because he failed to subpoena Officer
Mohler. Petition at 35-36. Defendant claims that Officer Mohler was the one who searched
Defendant during his arrest and found a blue bag. Id. Defendant concludes by arguing that if
Officer Mohler testified he would have discredited Detective Matlock who testified that he
searched Defendant and found the blue bag. Id. Defendant’s arguments are meritless and are
belied by the record.

Here, similar to claims 1 and 10, Defendant attempts to show that counsel was
ineffective by arguing a minor detail. However, Defendant’s claim is a bare and naked one
that fails under Hargrove. At trial, Detective Matlock testified that after Defendant was
arrested and once he was being escorted away, Detective Matlock noticed that Defendant “had
a blue bag in his front waistband.” Trial Transcript, Day 8, at 38:17. Therefore, Defendant’s
c¢laim that Detective Matlock searched him is belied by the record.

Additionally, counsel made a strategic choice not to call Officer Mohler. This is
particularly true because on cross-examination counsel spent a considerable amount of time
attempting to undermine Detective Matlock’s testimony regarding the blue bag. 1d. at 54-59.
In fact, the first line of questioning on cross-examination involved the details of when the
Detective saw the blue bag. Id. Lastly, this minor detail does not alter the fact that Defendant
was arrested and found in possession of the blue bag. Consequently, counsel’s strategic
decision to thoroughly cross-examine Detective Matlock and not call the arresting officer does
not prove he was ineffective. Rather, it shows counsel made a reasonable strategic decision
that, absent extraordinary circumstances, is not challengeable by Defendant. See Doyle, 116
Nev. at 160, 995 P.2d at 473. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim is denied.
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